NEGOTIATED AGREEMENT

BETWEEN THE

ALBUQUERQUE MUNICIPAL SCHOOL DISTRICT NUMBER 12

AND THE

ALBUQUERQUE TEACHERS FEDERATION

2023-2025





Contents

| PREAMBLE | |
|---|----|
| AGREEMENT | 7 |
| Article 1, GENERAL PROVISIONS | 7 |
| A. Definitions | 7 |
| B. Agreement Control | 7 |
| C. Negotiating Procedures | |
| D. District/Federation Joint Committees | 8 |
| E. Nontraditional Schools | 8 |
| Article 2, FEDERATION RIGHTS | |
| A. Recognition Rights | 9 |
| B. Rights | |
| C. Dues Deduction | |
| Article 3, MANAGEMENT RIGHTS | |
| Article 4, NONDISCRIMINATION/CITIZENSHIP | |
| Article 5, CONDITIONS OF PROFESSIONAL SERVICE | 12 |
| A. Employment | 12 |
| B. School Year | |
| C. Duty Day | |
| D. Restrictions on Use of Students, Personnel, and Facilities | 16 |
| E. Preparation Time | 16 |
| F. Academic Issues | 18 |
| G. Collaboration Time | 20 |
| H. Advisories | 20 |
| I. Teacher Absences/Substitutes | |
| J. Room Changes | |
| K. Time to Teach | |
| L. Report to Parents or Guardians | |
| M. Equipment and Workstations | 23 |
| Article 6, REMUNERATION AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES | |
| A. Salaries and Reciprocity | |
| B. Payroll Deductions | 31 |
| C. Pay Differentials | 31 |
| D. Credential Differentials | |
| E. Teacher Leadership Position Descriptions | |
| F. Athletic Directors | 38 |
| G. Responsibility Differentials | 38 |
| Article 7, INSTRUCTIONAL COUNCILS (ICs) | |
| Article 8, EDUCATOR COMMITTEES | 45 |
| Article 9, THE MENTOR/PEER ASSISTANCE AND REVIEW PROGRAM: | |
| PARTNERSHIP PROGRAM | |
| A. Mentor/PAR Program Description | |
| B. Mentor Program | |
| C. Essential and Related Services Educators (E&RSE) Mentor Program Gene50 | |
| D. Peer Assistance and Review (PAR) | 51 |

| Article 10, ESSENTIAL AND RELATED SERVICE SUPPORT EDUCATORS (E&RSI | |
|--|----|
| Article 11, SPECIAL EDUCATION | 61 |
| A. Conditions of Professional Service | 61 |
| B. Remuneration and Professional Services | 62 |
| C. Leadership Councils | 65 |
| D. Evaluation Procedures | |
| E. Assignment and Transfers and Vacancies | 65 |
| F. Special Education Continuum of Service Delivery Options | |
| G. Definitions | |
| H. Special Considerations and Suggestions | |
| I. Summary | |
| Article 12, PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT | 69 |
| Article 13, EVALUATION PROCEDURES | |
| Article 14, PERSONNEL FILES. | |
| Article 15, SENIORITY PROVISIONS | |
| A. Seniority | |
| Principal's Signature Date Signed | |
| B. Reduction-in-Force (RIF) | |
| Article 16, STAFFING | |
| A. Student-Teacher Ratios | |
| B. Class Size | 74 |
| C. Daily Teaching Load | |
| D. Block Scheduling | |
| E. Online, Blended, and Adjunct Teachers | |
| Article 17, ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFERS | |
| A. Assignment | |
| B. Voluntary Transfer | |
| C. Involuntary Transfer (Must Hire) | |
| D. Vacancies in Non-Classroom Positions | |
| E. Transfer Rights | |
| F. Job-Sharing Positions | |
| Article 18, LEAVES | |
| A. General Provisions | 81 |
| B. Assault Leave | 81 |
| C. Bereavement Leave | |
| D. Court Leave | |
| E. Personal Emergency Leave | |
| F. Religious Leave | |
| G. Personal Leave | |
| H. Professional Development Leave. | |
| I. Political Leave | |
| J. Sabbatical Leave | |
| K. Sick Leave | |
| L. Sick Leave Bank | |
| M. Military Leave | |
| N. JROTC Use of Annual Leave Guidelines | |
| | |

| O. Paid Parental Leave | 86 |
|--|-----|
| P. Extended Leaves of Absence without Pay | 87 |
| Article 19, INSURANCE | 89 |
| A. Premium Payment | 89 |
| B. Enrollment | |
| C. Insurance Program Review | 90 |
| D. Insurance Programs | 90 |
| Article 20, INCIDENT REPORTS/PERSONAL SECURITY | 90 |
| Article 21, STUDENT DISCIPLINE | |
| Article 22, STUDENT TRANSPORTATION | 92 |
| Article 23, SUMMER SCHOOL / EXTENDED SCHOOL YEAR | 92 |
| Article 24, ALTERNATIVE SCHEDULES | 92 |
| Article 25, CONFLICT RESOLUTION | |
| Article 26, GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES | 93 |
| Article 27, DISCIPLINARY ACTION | 95 |
| Article 28, SEPARATION RIGHTS | 96 |
| Article 29, HEALTH AND SAFETY | 96 |
| Article 30, NO STRIKE PROVISION | |
| Article 31, DURATION OF AGREEMENT | 97 |
| AGREEMENT SIGNATURES | 98 |
| APPENDIX A – SALARY MATRICES | 99 |
| Appendix A.1 2023-2024 Salary Matrix A1 | 100 |
| Appendix A.2 2023-2024 Salary Matrix A2 | 101 |
| Appendix A.3 2023-2024 Salary Matrix A-3 | 102 |
| Appendix A.4 2023-2024 TAN Salary Matrix | |
| Appendix A.5 2023-2024 CSC Salary | 104 |
| Appendix A.6 2023-2024 BMS Salary | 104 |
| Appendix A.7 2023-2024 Parity Matrix | |
| APPENDIX B – CLASS SIZE REQUIREMENTS | 106 |
| APPENDIX C – SPECIAL EDUCATION CASELOADS | 107 |
| APPENDIX D – LEAVES OF ABSENCE | 108 |
| APPENDIX E – TIME CHART | 113 |
| APPENDIX F - CREDENTIAL DIFFERENTIALS | 114 |
| APPENDIX G – TEACHER LEADERSHIP DIFFERENTIALS | 116 |
| APPENDIX H – DEPARTMENT CHAIR ELECTION GUIDELINES | 118 |
| APPENDIX I – ATF/APS CONFLICT RESOLUTION PROCEDURE | 119 |
| APPENDIX J – MEMORANDA OF UNDERSTANDING | 120 |
| J.1 2023-2024 Professional Development and Educator Preparation Day | 120 |
| J.2 Elementary Special Education Head Teacher | |
| J.3 Administrative Transfers | 125 |
| J.4 Testing Coordinator Responsibilities and Compensation | 127 |
| J.5 Voluntary Transfer of a Full-Term Employee into a Short-Term Position | |
| J.6 Staff Feedback on Principal Performance | |
| J.7 Sick Leave Task Force | |
| J.8 Air Force JROTC Instructors: Reductions in Air Force Contributions for JROTC | |
| Instructors' Summer Work | 129 |

| J.9 Leave Task Force | 130 |
|---|------|
| J.10 Principal and Teacher Accountability and Assessment Advisory Councils | 130 |
| J.11 Special Education Teacher Preparation Time | 131 |
| J.12 High School Senior Schedules | 131 |
| J.13 Teacher Leader Facilitators | 132 |
| J.14 A Professional Workday Pilot 2020-2021 | |
| J.15 School Psychologist Role and Responsibility Task Force | 133 |
| J.16 Staffing Schools for the Needs of Students Task Force | 134 |
| J.17 Essential and Related Educator Staffing Levels and Use of Contract/Tele-practition | ners |
| Task Force | 134 |
| J.18 Review of the Role and Responsibilities of Testing Coordinators | 135 |
| J.19 Student Loan Repayment Assistance Program | 136 |
| J.20 Discharge and Termination | 137 |
| J.21 Mountain School Closure | 137 |
| J. 22 Restorative Practices | 138 |
| J.23 School Psychologists Pilot Program | 142 |
| J.24 Pre-K and Developmental Preschool Programs Task Force | |
| J.25 NVCI Training | |
| J.26 Standards Based Teaching. | |
| APPENDIX K – APS PRINCIPAL SURVEY | 145 |
| APPENDIX L – PROCESS FOR OBTAINING A WAIVER TO THE NEGOTIATED | |
| AGREEMENT | 147 |
| PENDIX M – ALBUQUERQUE TEACHERS FEDERATION MEMBERSHIP | |
| APPLICATION | 149 |

PREAMBLE

The District and the Federation share the belief that providing a high-quality education for the children of Albuquerque is the paramount objective of the District.

Both parties affirm that all educational programs must be sensitive to the needs and aspirations of students. We believe that all students can learn, and we have a responsibility to educate all of them well. Student success must not be predictable by a student's circumstances, background, race, or socioeconomic status.

We believe that a collaborative partnership between the District and the Federation embodies the notion that an educational system based on the involvement of educators in the decision-making process will lead to the highest quality of education, enhance the practice of teaching, and foster human dignity for all at the school site. Furthermore, the parties believe that by working together, an atmosphere which promotes professional growth will be established.

To meet the objective above and formally establish a collaborative partnership that redefines and improves upon its collective bargaining relationship, the Federation and the District agree to the Living Contract, a concept and a process that will allow the parties to collaborate in addressing the following issues:

- Policy matters that affect teaching and learning
- District-wide matters that affect educators, students, and the community
- Instructional and curriculum issues
- Teaching and learning issues
- Long-term planning

The Living Contract Agreement is essential to furthering the desired partnership between the District and the Federation. Working in partnership makes it possible to address challenges that individual entities could not effectively address through separate efforts. Quality partnerships can be recognized by the following characteristics:

- Partners make a formal, sustained commitment to accomplish a shared mission.
- Partners recognize and respect each partner's responsibilities and constraints.
- Partners work to know and acknowledge each other's strengths and interests.
- Partners recognize and respect each other as separate entities, with differing cultures, values, and communication styles.
- Partners enhance trust by sharing knowledge, disclosing self-interest, and attempting to satisfy the needs of each partner.
- Partners affirm the shared vision of the partnership by keeping others informed of related activities that affect the partners.
- Partners identify specific goals so all partners can work effectively.
- Partners make decisions collaboratively and support those decisions within the partner organizations.
- Partners specify what each entity is expected to contribute to the partnership.
- Partners commit the resources—human, financial, and physical—necessary to accomplish the shared mission.
- Partners alter organizational policies and procedures to the best of their ability to help effectuate recommendations made by the partnership.
- Partners make the collaborative effort visible, when appropriate, publicizing and promoting results.
- Partners periodically reassess the mission and progress toward accomplishing it.

Attaining the educational goals of the Albuquerque Public Schools (APS) requires mutual understanding and cooperation between the District and the Federation. To this end, good-faith negotiations between the District and the Federation with a free and open exchange of views are desirable.

Change requires intensive, carefully planned, and skillfully executed implementation. We acknowledge that strong, consistent leadership, trusting collaboration, system-wide communication, quality teaching, and high educator morale promote positive learning environments for students.

As part of its collective bargaining relationship and partnership, the Albuquerque Teachers Federation and Albuquerque Public Schools agree to the following:

- A. The purpose of the Living Contract is to enable the parties to respond more quickly to issues that demand immediate attention while working within the framework of collective bargaining. The Living Contract is not a document, but rather a process that may result in written agreements.
- B. Pursuant to this Preamble, the parties agree to establish a joint committee(s) to provide for regular, on-going discussions and decision-making on matters germane to improved union-management relations and more effective overall system operations.
- C. The District and the Federation are committed to supporting the Living Contract and have established the following joint goals:
 - Maintain open lines of communication between the District and the Federation;
 - Conduct ongoing negotiations as timely problem solving;
 - View collective bargaining as collaboration;
 - Provide flexibility in dealing with issues as they arise; and
 - Discuss future district initiatives that have a potential impact on educators' work and workload.
- D. Nothing herein shall be deemed to impair the authority of the Superintendent or preclude the Superintendent from consulting informally with members of the bargaining unit.

The parties agree to establish three (3) joint committees. The overall charge of each committee is summarized as follows:

• Living Contract Committee

Policy/District-wide issues, instructional issues, long-term planning

• Supporting Quality Teachers (SQT) Team

Teaching and learning issues

• Contract Administration Committee/Negotiations

Dispute resolution, contract implementation, working conditions, interim negotiations

In addition, the joint committee(s) may:

- 1. Set up temporary subcommittees, task forces, or design teams to address particular issues;
- 2. Recommend revisions to the Negotiated Agreement to clarify language and meaning, correct contradictions or inconsistencies, remove outdated language, and organize and streamline it;
- 3. Train District and Federation staff regarding the Agreement and best practices with respect thereto; and
- 4. Recommend joint communications to clarify particular issues.

AGREEMENT

This Agreement was made and entered into in Albuquerque, New Mexico between the Albuquerque Municipal School District Number 12, County of Bernalillo, State of New Mexico (hereinafter referred to as the Board) and the Albuquerque Teachers Federation, Local 1420 of the American Federation of Teachers, (hereinafter referred to as the Federation) this August 18, 2021.

Article 1, GENERAL PROVISIONS

A. Definitions

- 1. The term **educator** for the purpose of this Agreement shall mean all licensed employees whose salaries are based on salary matrices A1, A-2, A-3, TAN, Community School Coordinators, and Behavior Management Specialists unless specified otherwise herein. All employees whose salaries are based on other salary matrices are excluded from this unit.
- 2. The term **District** shall mean the Albuquerque Municipal School District Number 12, County of Bernalillo, State of New Mexico.
- 3. The term **school**, **site**, or **building** shall mean any work location or functional division within the District wherein educator responsibility may lie.
- 4. The term **Superintendent** as used in this Agreement shall mean the Superintendent of this District or designee.
- 5. The term **administration** shall mean the Superintendent and members of the administrative staff.
- 6. The term **principal** shall mean the principal of the school, assistant principal, or immediate supervisor when referring to a non-school assignment.
- 7. The term **President** shall mean the President of the Federation or designee.
- 8. The term **E&RSE** (Essential and Related Service Educators) includes Counselors, Nurses, Social Workers, Interpreters, Audiologists, Speech Language Pathologists, Occupational Therapists, Physical Therapists, Diagnosticians, School Psychologists, Transition Specialists/Rehabilitation Counselors, Athletic Trainers, and BCBAs

B. Agreement Control

- 1. This Agreement shall be governed and construed according to federal law and the Constitution and laws of the State of New Mexico. If any provision of this Agreement shall be found contrary to law, such provision shall have effect only to the extent permitted by law; but all other provisions of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect. In the event any provision of this Agreement is found contrary to law, said provision shall be void.
- 2. This Agreement is entered into pursuant to the terms of the Albuquerque Public Schools Labor Relations Policy HE (Labor Relations Policy); and should there be any conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of the Board's Policy, the Policy HE and state law shall control.
 - a. If any provision of this Agreement shall be found in conflict with Policy HE, such provision shall have effect only to the extent permitted by Policy HE.
 - b. In the event any provision of this Agreement is found to be in conflict with Policy HE., said provision shall be void.
- 3. In case of any conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and any Board or Federation policy, practice, procedure, custom, or writing, except as provided in paragraph B.2. above, the provisions of the Agreement shall control for the period of this Agreement.

4. This Agreement and amendments thereto at the time of adoption shall be distributed to all educators of the District. The terms and conditions of employment as indicated in this Agreement shall be the same for all educators and shall be applied equally without modifications or exception unless provided herein.

C. Negotiating Procedures

- 1. Negotiations shall be conducted in closed sessions. Each party shall have a negotiating team of not more than seven (7) members.
- 2. All agreements reached as a result of such negotiations shall be tentative until ratification by both parties is effected pursuant to the ratification procedures as set forth in Labor Relations Policy HE.
- 3. The parties agree to meet at reasonable times, to bargain in good faith, and execute a written contract incorporating any agreement reached.
- 4. Prior to the beginning of negotiations, the APS and ATF negotiating teams may jointly participate in training in interest-based bargaining.
- 5. In the event the parties fail to reach agreement prior to the expiration date of this Agreement, they may seek mediation assistance from the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service.

D. District/Federation Joint Committees

- 1. The President and the Superintendent, upon mutual agreement, may identify the need for and establish the work, composition, guidelines and goals of the joint committees and task forces. Such committees will address issues related to educator compensation, professional development, evaluation, and other topics mutually agreed upon by the President and the Superintendent. Reports and recommendations will be provided to the Superintendent and the President by the committee(s) and task force(s).
- 2. The President shall be notified, ten (10) days in advance, of the formation of a District/Joint Committee on which educators will serve which relates to the terms and conditions of educator employment and student discipline not covered within this Agreement. The President shall have the option of recommending to the Superintendent the formation of District/Joint Committees. The Federation shall have the opportunity to appoint an educator representative to the Committee. The President may suggest additional names of educators for possible appointment to District/Joint Committees. Reports and recommendations will be provided to the Superintendent and the President by the Committee.
- 3. Whenever the District is requested to appoint or initiate the appointment of any educator to committees outside the District, the President will be provided the opportunity to suggest names of educators who might be appointed.
- 4. If they deem it necessary, the Superintendent and the President may call a joint meeting of principals and Federation representatives.

E. Nontraditional Schools

- 1. The Federation and the Board agree to support schools of choice.
- 2. Community Schools
 - a. Community School Coordinators
 - 1) Community School Coordinators are essential to building successful community schools and creating, strengthening and maintaining partnerships between community schools and their communities.
 - 2) Community School Coordinators have a flexible eight (8)-hour schedule as agreed upon by their supervisor. This includes, but is not limited to, flexing time to work weekends, evenings, or off-contract days,

- 3) Community School Coordinators attend professional development meetings and other critical partnership meetings both on and off campus.
 - a. Due to the nature of the time demands inherent in the position, Community School Coordinators should not be assigned any regular school or classroom duties (i.e., lunch or bus duty) and should not be expected to volunteer time for work outside the scope of their duties.

b. Community School Councils

- 1.) Community School Councils utilize collaborative leadership and practices help to ensure that implementation is inclusive, creates shared ownership of the work, and is tailored to address local needs based on local assets,
- 2.) Collaboration among school staff, community partners, and families is crucial to create the conditions necessary for all students to learn.
- 3.) The decisions of the community school council should be connected to, and integrated with, the work of the Instructional Council.

Article 2, FEDERATION RIGHTS

A. Recognition Rights

1. The Board hereby recognizes and agrees that the Federation has the sole and exclusive right to represent all educators as their bargaining agent pursuant to the Board's Labor Relations Policy.

B. Rights

- 1. All rights granted to the Federation pursuant to the terms of this Agreement are for the sole and exclusive use of the Federation and may not be granted to any other organization except as noted in B.4. below.
- 2. The Federation has the right to make announcements at staff meetings/new teacher orientations.
- 3. The Federation has the right to use the interschool mail service, school bulletin boards, and APS e-mail sent through an outside server in accordance with APS policy. The Board and the Federation recognize that it is not permissible for the Federation and/or the employees represented by the Federation to access District communications systems (e.g. FAX, Internet, intranet) to distribute or use materials not considered appropriate by District policy.
- 4. The Federation may use the school mailboxes provided that:
 - a. an employee of the bargaining unit assigned to that school and recognized by the principal shall distribute all materials; and
 - b. no such materials shall be distributed to any employee who has registered with the building principal an objection to receiving organization materials.
- 5. The Federation has the right to schedule Federation meetings provided, however, that such meetings do not interfere with the instructional schedule or conflict with previously scheduled events as determined by the principal. There shall be no charge for the use of facilities or normal services described above.
- 6. The Federation Representatives are recognized as Federation leaders in their respective schools and may display on or near their classroom or office door a Federation provided plaque which identifies their position. This recognition as a school leader carries with it the right of the representatives to carry out their Federation responsibilities.
 - a. Union representatives may distribute Federation materials and conduct Federation business related to a grievance or representation provided such activities do not interfere with the instructional schedule or duties of the educator(s)affected.

- b. Neither the Federation nor any employee may solicit Federation membership on the Board's premises during the duty day of the employees involved in the solicitation. This shall not be construed to prohibit casual or personal conversations about the Federation and its activities.
- c. The union representative shall have the right to bring to the attention of the principal all matters pertaining to the organizational rights of the Federation or its members, other concerns of the faculty, and to discuss the administration of this Agreement.
- d. The above shall be recognized as concerted activity as recognized by the New Mexico Public Employee Bargaining Act (PEBA).
- 7. All employees within the bargaining unit shall have the right to engage in concerted activities for mutual aid or benefit without reprisal.
- 8. Federation officials and/or representatives who are not District employees shall have the right to visit schools for the purpose of conducting representational business provided the visit does not interfere with the duty schedule of the teacher(s) involved and provided that prior notice is given to the principal, or, if the principal is not available, the office of the principal. Failure to follow this provision may result in suspension of this privilege for the representative involved. In the event the representational business involves the principal, prior arrangement of such visits shall be made through the Office of Labor Relations.
- 9. The Board shall grant the elected Local President, one additional elected leader of the ATF Executive Council, and the elected State President (provided the elected State President is on leave from APS) leave with pay during their term of office. This leave may be terminated at the end of a semester. Upon return from such leave, the President and any additional officers of the union will be placed on the salary matrix at the level which would have been achieved had there not been an absence. The Federation shall pay to the District an amount equal to the level, step and lane on the educator's salary matrix and all employee-related expenditures such as insurances and retirement benefits for the locally elected President and the State President for the duration of the leave. The Board shall grant leave without pay for Federation employees during their term of service to the Federation. This leave may be terminated at the end of a semester. Upon return from such leave, the employee will be placed on the salary matrix at the level which would have been achieved had there not been an absence.
- 10. The Federation shall be furnished with monthly financial budget and cash reports following distributions as required from the Office of Labor Relations.
 - a. These reports shall be furnished to ATF by the last day of every month. If the last day of the month falls on a weekend, Holiday or scheduled break, reports shall be provided by the final work day of the month.
- 11. The Federation shall be furnished the following information:
 - a. at the end of the first twenty (20)-day reporting period and two weeks after the start of the second semester, employee data, in numerical order by employee number, indicating name, address, phone number, state teaching license number, employee number, work location, salary, degree status, gender, assignment and/or job title, membership status, total years in teaching, total years in APS, date of hire, and district email addresses;
 - b. new hires, resignations, retirements, and deaths at the time of occurrence;
 - c. group insurance data including enrollment figures, premium costs, program costs, and a copy of the insurance policies;
 - d. upon reasonable request, changes in items listed above and such other information as will assist the Federation in representing educators.
- 12. During each year of this Agreement, the Federation shall be granted for Federation training, workshops and conventions, forty (40) professional leave days at full pay by the District, ten (10) professional leave days for the purpose of participating in joint APS/ATF task force committees, and forty (40) leave days charged to the Federation at the degreed substitute rate.

- 13. Representatives of the Federation will meet with appropriate District budget personnel as requested in order that they may be kept abreast of current budget facts and figures.
- 14. The President of the Federation and the Superintendent, or their respective designees, shall participate in quarterly discussions regarding teacher education programs and professional development; partnership agreements, and/or collaborative efforts with institutions of higher education; joint efforts to communicate with elected officials; and such other mutually agreed-upon topics.

C. Dues Deduction

1. The District agrees to deduct from the wages of members of the Federation, periodic Federation dues on the basis of a properly executed authorization form of which a copy is attached to this Agreement.

Refer to Appendix M-ATF Membership Application Form.

- 2. The amount of the deduction to be made from each educator's wages will be certified in writing and given to the District by the Treasurer, President, or Executive Vice-President of the Federation. If the Federation dues are changed, the District agrees to effect such changes in deductions within thirty (30) days following the receipt of a written notice from the Treasurer of the Federation.
- 3. Dues deduction shall continue from year to year without further authorization and at current monthly dues amounts unless the authorization to deduct is revoked by the educator as provided herein. Dues authorized will be determined by the Federation and will be set at an amount for each payroll deduction.
- 4. Dues deduction shall resume for educators returning from an extended leave of absence unless authorization to deduct is revoked by the educator.
- 5. In the cases where rehiring an employee who has previously retired or resigned, dues shall only resume once the educator reauthorizes dues deduction by submitting a membership card.
- 6. Dues deduction authorizations shall be delivered to the District Payroll Department.

 Authorizations received nine (9) days prior to the pay date shall be deducted from the salary for that pay period.
- 7. If an educator is absent for any reason and as a result of that absence has no earning due for the pay period, no deduction will be made for that educator for the pay period.
- 8. The District agrees to transmit the amount collected to the Treasurer of the Federation within seven (7) calendar days after the close of the month.
- 9. The Federation agrees to render the District harmless for any actions resulting from compliance with this provision of the Agreement and assumes total responsibility for the disposition of the funds so deducted once the funds have been received by the Treasurer of the Federation.
- 10. As per the New Mexico Public Employee Bargaining Act (PEBA), dues deductions may be discontinued or revoked by a union member by filing such notice with the Federation.
 - a. Such revocation may be requested during the ten (10) ten days following the anniversary date of each employee's employment.
 - b. Within ten (10) days of the receipt of notice of revocation of authorization for the payroll deduction of dues, the Federation shall provide notice to the District.
 - c. The revocation for the payroll deduction of dues shall be effective on the thirtieth (30th) day after the notice provided to the District by the Federation.

Article 3, MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

A. The management of all schools, instructional programs, and facilities is the responsibility of District administrators as provided in Board policy. The District retains all rights not specifically restricted by this Agreement.

Article 4, NONDISCRIMINATION/CITIZENSHIP

- A. The District shall not discriminate against any employee in the bargaining unit on the basis of race, color, religion, gender, gender identification, age, national origin, marital status, sexual orientation, place of residence, disability, membership, or non-membership in any organization, except when the District determines there is a bona fide occupational qualification.
- B. The Federation recognizes its responsibility as the bargaining agent and shall represent equally all employees in the bargaining unit without discrimination, interference, restraint, or coercion.
- C. The District and the Federation agree that employees shall enjoy the rights of full citizenship.

Article 5, CONDITIONS OF PROFESSIONAL SERVICE

A. Employment

- 1. The District is an equal opportunity employer.
- 2. In order to qualify and be employed in a teaching position in the District, an applicant must have at least a bachelor's degree and must have a valid teaching license, an occupational license, or be enrolled in an approved alternative licensure program from the State of New Mexico. Qualifications of the individual are the guiding criteria in employment. The District shall notify the Federation when a teacher is to be hired who does not possess at least a bachelor's degree.
 - a. All existing and newly hired "I" licensed special education teachers will be obligated to participate in twelve (12) hours of APS-provided professional development.
 - b. Twelve (12) hours of professional development, provided outside of the regular duty day, is a condition of employment during both the first and second years for all "I" licensed special education teachers in APS.
- 3. All educators employed by the District shall be employed for the primary purpose of instructing children and/or rendering professional services for which they are licensed.
- 4. Teachers will be employed under contract for less than a full school year when a teaching vacancy will exceed sixty (60) duty days. This provision may be waived upon approval by the Public Education Department.
- 5. There shall be three (3) categories of employment:
 - b. full-time educator;
 - c. part-time educator; and
 - d. short-term educator;
 - Both part-time and short-term educators carry differing employment rights from full-time educators.
- 6. A full-time teacher shall be a teacher employed to teach a full teaching day for an entire school year.
- 7. A part-time teacher shall be a teacher employed to teach less than a full teaching day or a full teaching week for an entire school year.
- 8. A short-term teacher shall be defined as a teacher who accepts employment after 9 a.m. on the reporting day for students, a teacher replacing another teacher in their first year of leave, a teacher hired for a position which has a time limitation of one year because of a source of funding other than the APS operational budget, a change in District, state, or federal curriculum/program requirements which necessitate a one year teaching position, and a teacher who does not hold a valid New Mexico teaching license at the time of employment.
 - a. For the purpose of this provision, "accept" shall mean the date and time the teacher was offered and accepted either verbally or electronically, a District teaching position by an authorized Department of Human Resources representative.
 A teacher who is short-term due to not holding a valid New Mexico teaching license at the time of employment shall be reemployed by the District if they perform satisfactorily and presents a valid New Mexico teaching license to the Department of Human Resources by

- April 1. If the requirements are not met by May 1, the teacher will have to reapply for employment.
- b. A teacher who is short-term due to being in a position funded by a source other than the APS operational budget shall be reemployed by the District (with satisfactory performance) provided the funding is continued.
- c. Upon the successful completion of their first short-term contract (of at least five hundred seventy [570] hours), fully licensed employees for the position will be offered a regular contract for the following year if the position they hold is available, the employee applies, and the principal agrees to rehire the employee.
- 9. Birth certificates or other suitable proof of date of birth, New Mexico teaching licenses, and college or university transcripts must be filed in the Department of Human Resources as soon as possible after employment is accepted. In the case of teachers who are not new to the system, valid teaching licenses must be on file. The November paychecks and subsequent paychecks will not be issued to a teacher until such time as the required data is filed in the Department of Human Resources or evidence is given that the teacher is making a bona fide effort to secure the information.
- 10. All educators are reemployed for the next school year unless notified at least ten (10) workdays prior to the last day of the school year.
- 11. In order to qualify and be employed in an educational diagnostician position or a school psychologist position in the District, an applicant must have at least a graduate degree in special education or related field from an accredited university or college and be licensed by the State of New Mexico as an educational diagnostician or school psychologist.
- 12. All educational diagnosticians employed by the Board shall be employed for the primary purpose of evaluating and placing children in District programs and/or rendering professional services for which they are licensed.
- 13. Hybrid/Simultaneous Teaching: Pending public health orders that allow for full in-person schooling, during the 2021-2022 school year and in all subsequent years, educators will be required to teach either online or in person, but not both simultaneously, unless they have volunteered to do so.
 - a. The principal will consult with individual employees regarding a simultaneous assignment.
 - b. Educators who agree to a simultaneous assignment will sign the Agreement to a Simultaneous Assignment form.
 - c. The Agreement must be re-signed yearly.
 - d. APS Department of Human Services and ATF agree to address issues on a case-by-case basis starting at the lowest possible level.

| | agrees to a simultaneous assignment for the |
|---------------------|---|
| school year. | |
| Teacher's Signature | Principal's Signature |
| | Date |

B. School Year

- 1. For employees on the A-1, A-2, and A-3 salary matrices, the work year shall consist of one hundred eighty-eight (188) workdays.
 - a. Educational Diagnosticians, School Psychologist, Transitional Specialist/Rehabilitation Counselors, and BCBAs, and those who work in the Title I department, the work year shall consist of one hundred and ninety-eight (198) workdays.
 - 1.) Transitional Specialists/Rehabilitation Counselors, Audiologists, Occupational Therapists, Physical Therapists, and BCBAs, may opt out of the additional ten (10) paid days.
 - 2.) Those opting out must communicate their intention to work a one hundred eighty-eight (188) day school year no later than the end of the day Friday, July 21, 2023. The Federation will communicate to all current employees in these role groups the option and deadline.
 - b. Community School Coordinators (CSCs) not employed as certified teaching staff, the work year shall consist of two hundred six (206) days.
 - c. Behavior Management Specialists the work year shall consist of one hundred eighty-eight (188) workdays/8 hours a day.
- 2. Divergence from the District work calendar is permitted if mutually agreed upon by the educational diagnostician and the educational diagnostician's immediate supervisor or if mutually agreed upon by the school psychologist and the school psychologist's immediate supervisor. The school year is based upon the calendar with the understanding that the calendar is subject to emergency changes, but such changes made by the District shall not affect the total number of workdays required.
- 3. Any deviation from the approved master calendar shall be agreed upon by both parties.

C. Duty Day

1. For employees on the A-1, A-2, A-3 salary matrices, the duty day shall consist of six and one-half (6 1/2) hours excluding a lunch period. The duty day shall be a continuous period of time. In the

event an educator regularly works less than a five (5) day week, the duty week shall consist of no more than thirty-two and one-half (32 1/2) hours. For community school coordinators and behavior management specialists not employed as certified teachers, duty day shall consist of eight (8) hours excluding a lunch period.

- 2. A schedule will be developed yearly for student supervision assignments within the duty day.
 - a. Duties must be scheduled equitably.
 - 1.) Elementary school educators may be assigned before school, after school, or recess duty.
 - 2.) Middle school educators may be assigned duty before or after the student day.
 - 3.) Providing a welcoming culture and ensuring the safety of students during passing periods is a shared interest of educators, administrators, and staff. Middle and High school educators will make every effort to be visible and interactive with students during passing periods. If the need arises, the Instructional Council may establish a task force to work on a fair and equitable duty schedule.
 - 4.) Educators who are assigned .5 to full time at that site may be assigned duties, except for school nurses who are exempt from duty assignments.
- 3. Each educator shall have a thirty (30) minute, duty free, uninterrupted lunch period exclusive of passing time which may be taken on or off the school grounds at the educator's discretion. If necessary, adjustments within the length of duty day can be made by the principal, after consultation with the educator(s) involved, in order to account for differences in the length of the lunch period.
- 4. The principal shall have the authority to permit divergence by individual educators from the duty day by mutual agreement. This divergence can apply to time on registration days for educators to register their own children if such divergence will not hinder registration at the educator's worksite.
- 5. Lengthening the duty day by the site supervisor shall not exceed two (2) hours for any individual educator in any twenty (20) day reporting period. This lengthening shall normally occur after a minimum of forty-eight (48) hours prior notice excluding nonteaching days prior to the additional duty time. Use of this time shall be limited to purposes relating to school business.
- 6. Schools may utilize up to an additional thirteen (13) hours annually for professional development activities collaboratively planned through the Instructional Council. Any district-mandated training will be included in these hours in accordance with the procedures outlined in Appendix E.

Refer to Appendix E-Time Chart

7. The District may utilize an additional fourteen (14) hours annually for training or planning only if required by a federal, state, or judicial mandate.

Refer to Appendix E-Time Chart

- 8. The parties recognize that attendance at evening activities is normally the voluntary professional responsibility of educators. However, as part of that responsibility, educators may be required to attend up to two (2)) evening activities, such as but not limited to, open house, curriculum night, or graduation. Any attendance beyond two (2) night activities per year shall be considered voluntary. If the employee is required to be in attendance at more than two (2) evening events, they shall be paid time at the employee's hourly rate. Educators unable to attend shall give reasonable notice of their intended absence to their immediate supervisor and affected parents.
- 9. Educators shall not normally be regularly required to notify the principal of their arrival or departure from the school. Educators desiring to leave the school area during the duty day may do so with prior notification and approval of the principal or designee.
- 10. Travel time for educators who work in more than one (1) location in any one (1) duty day shall be counted as part of the duty day. When the educator travels from one (1) location to another at the midday, the educator shall receive travel time in addition to the lunch period.

- 11. The responsibility of the educator to be available for conferences with parents is recognized as an educator's professional responsibility. The educator is responsible for arranging the conferences.
- 12. Educators scheduled to begin their duty earlier or to continue to a later time will not be required to be on duty longer than the total hours of the duty day.
- 13. In the event an educator agrees to be assigned work approved by the principal beyond the maximum provided in B and C, the educator shall be entitled to flex their schedule if it is mutually agreed upon by the principal and the educator. Flex time has to be mutually agreed to each year by the principal and educator prior to implementation of the flex time.

D. Restrictions on Use of Students, Personnel, and Facilities

- 1. No member of the staff may engage in any sales promotion or selling on the school premises unless such promotion or sale has been approved in advance by the principal.
- 2. Commercial photographs of students may be made provided there is minimal disruption of class time and no demands are made upon educators for collecting monies and/or additional checking responsibilities in connection with picture taking.
- 3. Fund-raising activities, except as provided in 2 above, shall not interrupt or interfere with the instructional program unless agreed to by the principal and staff.
- 4. Information regarding proceeds from fund-raising activities, planned expenditures and/or the availability of funds for staff use shall be made available to staff members upon request as defined in the activities fund manual or by reaching this APS web address: http://www.aps.edu/internal-audit/activity-fund-manual.
- 5. Fund-raising activities, except as provided in 2 above, will not be assigned to educators unless they volunteer for the assignment.
- 6. No educator may charge a student a fee for any service rendered the student on the school premises during the duty day.

E. Preparation Time

- 1. All employees within the bargaining unit shall have within the duty week a minimum amount of time for preparation and planning.
 - a. Elementary
 - 1.) An educator shall have a minimum of two hundred twenty (220) minutes for preparation each week, free from specific duty assignments. Preparation time shall be in twenty (20)-minute block minimums.
 - 2.) If an educator receives fewer than two hundred twenty (220) minutes of preparation time in a five-day workweek, the educator shall be compensated at their hourly rate of pay (in fifteen (15)-minute increments) for the amount of preparation time under two hundred twenty (220) minutes.
 - 3.) Schools must identify all of the time, including specials that will be used for preparation time. A schedule indicating all designated preparation time shall be distributed to teachers within ten (10) workdays after the beginning of the school year.
 - a. If identified preparation time is less than two hundred twenty (220) minutes each week, schools will ensure that morning and/or afternoon recesses are 20 minutes.
 - b. 20-minute recesses will be designated as preparation time for all educators who are not assigned to recess duty.
 - 4.) Time an educator is required to perform non instructional duties is not considered preparation time.
 - 5.) Time spent in collaboration time is not considered preparation time.
 - 6.) Provided the two hundred twenty (220) minutes for preparation time has been met, the time above the two hundred twenty (220) may be designated for collaboration.

7.) Elementary school itinerant art and music teachers shall be allowed sufficient time (ten (10) to fifteen(15) minutes) to transition from one intraschool class teaching assignment to another. Such time shall not be considered preparation time.

b. Middle School Block Schedule

- 1.) In schools where block schedules are followed, teachers shall have available to them a minimum of four hundred fifty (450) minutes of preparation time in each consecutive two-week period.
- 2.) In the event a two-work week time period contains less than ten (10) work days, teachers shall not be required to attend collaboration meetings until and unless four hundred fifty (450) minute minimum is set.
- 3.) One entire class period per five-(5) day work week may be used for collaboration provided the four hundred fifty (450) minute minimum is met and prep time is provided the other four days per week.
- 4.) Time spent in collaboration time is not preparation time.

c. Middle School Non-Block Schedule

- 1.) Collaboration time scheduled outside of the duty day.
 - a.) Each educator shall be provided preparation time which shall be equal to one (1) full class period during the instructional day with such time being free from specific duty assignments.
 - b.) The decision about the preparation/collaboration time schedule for the school will be made annually by the school staff through their instructional council.
- 2.) Collaboration time scheduled within the duty day.
 - a.) Educators shall have a minimum of two hundred twenty-five (225) minutes per week for preparation, free from specific duty assignments.
 - b.) Each educator shall be provided preparation time which shall be equal to one (1) full class period, a minimum of four days per week each five-(5) day workweek, during the instructional day with such time being free from specific duty assignments. In the event there are fewer than five (5) days in a workweek, educators shall not be required to attend collaboration meetings until and unless the two hundred twenty-five (225)-minute minimum is met.
 - c.) One entire class period per five (5)-day workweek may be used for collaboration time provided the two hundred twenty-five (225)-minute minimum is met and preparation time is provided the other four (4) days per week.

d. High School Schedule

- 1.) Each educator shall be provided preparation time which shall be equal to one (1) full class period during the instructional day with such time being free from specific duty assignments.
- 2.) In schools where block schedules are followed, educators shall have available to them, a minimum of four hundred fifty (450) minutes of preparation time in each consecutive two-week period.
- 2. Additional preparation time free from specific duty assignments that is not part of this Agreement shall be mutually agreed upon by the educator(s) and the principal through a collaborative process as defined in Article 7.
- 3. Every effort shall be made to encourage coordination of preparation time for educators involved in teaming, integration, inclusion programs, and mentoring relationships.
- 4. Special events, such as school wide testing, which result in a deviation from the normal weekly schedule shall be scheduled in a manner which does not result in a disproportionate loss of preparation time for any individual or group of individuals. Care shall be taken when scheduling such events to ensure that any resulting loss of preparation time shall be minimized and be as equitable as possible for all employees.

F. Academic Issues

- 1. Without minimizing the importance of generally accepted issues, the District and the Federation agree to foster dispassionate, unprejudiced, scientific studies of academic issues in an atmosphere free from bias and prejudice.
- 2. The educator shall serve as an impartial moderator and shall not attempt either directly or indirectly to limit or control the opinion of one's students on academic issues. It is the intent of this policy that the educator shall foster the study of such issues rather than teach particular viewpoints in regard to them.
- 3. Educator's involvement shall be provided at the school and District level when complaints are received on issues that fall within Article 5, F. A copy of recommendations made at the District level shall be provided to the President.
- 4. In the event the principal believes that an educator's presentation (oral, written, or visual) of a controversial issue falls outside the Board's Controversial Issues and Outside Speakers Guidelines, the principal will so advise the educator, discuss the basis of their objections and recommend an alternative approach to the issue. The educator shall adopt the principal's recommendation pending mediation of the dispute by the Superintendent, or their designee. The mediation shall be conducted within two (2) working days of the date the controversy arose.
- 5. The Common Core State Standards (CCSS), Stem Ready, NM Adopted Standards and standards-based teaching practices, and the relation to APS programs and practices.
 - a. The District and the Federation agree that the CCSS will be the foundation of instruction for all APS students.
 - b. Both parties believe that educators must collectively and collaboratively use appropriate methods and materials to help students develop conceptual understanding that leads to proficiency in the CCSS.
 - c. Both parties affirm that all educational programs must be sensitive to the needs and aspirations of students and that all students in APS must have equal access to the CCSS.
 - d. The following clarifications are intended to support the above statements:
 - 1.) Educators have the responsibility to teach to the standards. All instructional programs can be used with the CCSS. Educators have the discretion to augment the District-approved curricular programs. Educators may also adjust the pacing and scope and sequence of District-approved curricular programs to align with the CCSS.
 - 2.) As educators use the CCSS to plan, they rely on district-provided texts and programs or they may develop curricula using a variety of texts, programs, and resources that they determine are appropriate based on their professional expertise, experience and knowledge of their students. All curricula used must be clearly tied to the standards for the particular subject and grade level.
 - 3.) Tier II and III intervention programs, while more prescriptive by nature, are one of the instructional tools used to teach to the CCSS. Additional tools and resources may be utilized to meet the CCSS.
 - 4.) Principals and staffs are encouraged to analyze school practices to ensure they are still relevant as APS moves toward adopting the CCSS at all grades. For example: Baldrige is no longer a district-supported program. Continuing with Baldrige, CCI, Continuous Improvement, PDSA, and Goal Teams is at the discretion of the Instructional Council.
 - e. Freedom to teach is essential to the accomplishment of the District's goals. Therefore, educators have the right and responsibility to exercise their professional judgement, within the limits of the above guidelines, in initiating and actively pursuing consideration of academic issues.
 - f. Fidelity refers to the intensity and accuracy with which core instruction and connected interventions are implemented. Using a program with fidelity means teaching all essential (research-based) components of a program and using professional judgment to differentiate in

order to meet the needs of individual students. This may mean that educators need to supplement with additional materials to reinforce skills and concepts.

6. Elementary Recess

- a. ATF and APS recognize that recess for elementary students provides children with opportunities to engage in physical activity that helps to develop healthy bodies and practice life skills such as conflict resolution, cooperation, respect for rules, taking turns, sharing using language to communicate and problem solving in real life situations.
- b. In addition, research shows:
 - 1.) An unmistakable link between movement and thinking because performing complex movements like dancing, throwing a ball, or playing tag engage the same area of the brain, the cerebellum, as those used for problem solving, planning, and sequencing.
 - 2.) A person's capacity to master new and remember old information is improved by biological and chemical changes in the brain caused by exercise.
 - 3.) Brain functioning, attention, memory, social and emotional development, and language development all reveal the unmistakable advantages of physical exercise.
 - 4.) All elementary schools will schedule a minimum of three (3) recess times for children in the morning, at lunch and in the afternoon.
 - 5.) APS and ATF recommend that each elementary school, through the Instructional Council, explore the benefits of scheduling the lunch recess time for student before, rather than after, they eat.
 - 6.) As the APS/ATF Task Force working on Article 21, Student Discipline, creates recommendations and supports for Conflict Mediation program in elementary schools, that information will be distributed with Elementary Schools with the intent of establishing the program during the 2021-2022 school year.
 - 7.) Note: According to NM Administrative Code, Chapter 6.29.1, "The student lunch period each day shall be at least thirty (30) minutes. Lunch recess shall not be counted as part of the instructional day." However, morning and afternoon recess is counted as a part instructional time during the five and one-half (5.5) hours per day or one thousand one hundred and forty (1140) hours per year.

7. Capstone Project

- a. All schools are invited to participate in this effort to engage students in a more student-centered elective choice that promotes relevance in their education. This new offering is the result of a negotiated joint task force.
- b. The intent of this course is to provide students the opportunity to practice:
 - 1.) Developing solutions
 - 2.) Formulating arguments
 - 3.) Communicating their findings and understandings using various media
- c. Students' efforts will culminate in a district-wide symposium
- d. Any licensed secondary teacher is eligible to teach the course, which will be called Guided Study: Capstone Project, however, no extra funding or district-delivered professional development will be provided. The teacher volunteers from each school site worked as a collaborative cohort during the spring 2021 semester to develop curricular supports and rubrics for this developing pilot program.
- e. Students should receive a recognition at graduation as determined by the teacher cohort. This course will not be mandated by the District.
- f. Capstone Project Course
 - 1.) General Description:
 - 2.) In semester one, students will explore meaningful issues through varying critical lenses to understand how and why research is conducted. Students will have the opportunity to practice developing solutions, arguments, and communicating their findings and

- understandings using various media, such as video, slide presentation, performance, written documents, legislation, physical construction and other demonstrable methods.
- 3.) In semester two, students will work independently to develop a passion project based on a topic or issue of interest that has relevance to the community. Students will conduct their own research to guide a deep dive into the subject matter and create their own project. Students will work with a mentor to use the skills they learned in semester one, culminating in a district-wide symposium to present their findings. Students will have the opportunity to share their passion project and also engage with community members and peers from around the city.
- 4.) In this year-long class, students will develop a variety of skills including how to conduct research as well as critical thinking skills, resilience, problem solving, time management, integrity, positionality, identifying bias, community-mindedness, communication, and collaboration. Most importantly, students will develop the habits of self-directed learning. The capstone project is an exhibition of what a student can do when they apply knowledge in a particular area. Some potential projects may be building a guitar after researching various models, engaging the community in a development project, working with legislators to write potential legislation, writing and producing a podcast series or short film, or constructing an engine from scratch.
- 5.) Successful completion of the capstone course and symposium will earn students a capstone seal, graduation regalia, and recognition.

G. Collaboration Time

- 1. The District and the Federation support educators to work in collaboration with colleagues during collaboration time.
- 2. Collaboration involves a team of educators committed to working together and collaborating in ongoing processes of collective inquiry and action research to improve teaching and learning.
- 3. A collaborative team should have something professional in common. What they have in common depends on the school. Members could share content, students, or roles including all support and related services personnel.
- 4. Ultimately, the goal is to deepen the content knowledge and pedagogical skills of all educators to continuously revise instructional strategies in response to evidence of student learning. The focus and the conversation should rise from the group of educators. Members should ensure equity of voice within the group.
- 5. Principals may request documentation from collaboration meetings. Documentation may include agendas, minutes, or product creations. The documentation provided will be based on the structure and the desire of the collaboration group.
- 6. Individual preparation time shall be considered separate and exclusive from collaboration time.
- 7. Community School Coordinators shall be granted monthly collaboration time as a whole group.

H. Advisories

- 1. The primary purpose of Advisories is to focus on building relationships between students and a significant adult, but the assigned time may require addressing other issues.
 - a. The Instructional Council, in collaboration with all staff, shall decide how to differentiate Advisories by grade level.
 - b. The administration and Instructional Council shall monitor, adjust, and support the Advisory program to meet the needs of each site.
 - c. District personnel will provide additional guidance and resources, which may be implemented at the discretion of the Instructional Council.
 - d. Educators will take attendance for their advisories.
 - e. As an integral part of the program, advisors shall distribute report cards.

- f. Advisories shall include the Next Step Plan in Grades 8–12.
 - 1.) An Advisory shall not be tied to a curricular course of study and shall not be attached to a graded course.
 - 2.) Advisories shall not be graded, including pass/fail.
 - 3.) Advisories may not be used for academic interventions and remediation.
 - 4.) Advisory groupings may not be organized based on student remediation and/or behaviors.
- 2. To the extent practicable, students shall loop with their advisory educator for three years in middle school and the entirety of their education in high school.
 - a. To the extent practicable, advisors shall keep the same group of students within a single grade level throughout the students' years in the school site. Exceptions may be made for students in specialized programs (SES, IGS, etc.).
- 3. All staff within the ATF bargaining unit at each school site shall be assigned an Advisory group.
 - a. All staff includes counselors, librarians, and any other staff who are assigned to a school site during the regularly scheduled Advisory period.
 - b. Employees who are assigned to more than one school site shall be assigned an Advisory group at only one school site, which shall be decided by mutual agreement between both supervising principals.
 - c. If feasible, site administrators will serve as advisors.
 - 1.) Administrative teams can share an Advisory group.
 - d. It is highly recommended that all Advisory groups be limited to no more than 15 students.
 - 1.) If an Advisory group exceeds fifteen (15) students due to staffing issues, the school shall schedule all Advisory groups with the smallest number of students possible, equitably distributed among all advisors.
- 4. Middle school Advisories shall meet for no more than twenty (20) minutes, no more than twice per week, and one longer period on an assembly or special schedule once every six (6) weeks.
 - a. The Instructional Council at each school site shall determine where in the schedule it would be appropriate to place Advisories.
 - 1.) Advisory shall not be scheduled before the first class of the school day.
- 5. High school Advisories shall meet for a minimum of fifteen (15) minutes once per week and one longer period on an assembly or special schedule once every six weeks.
 - a. The weekly Advisory period shall meet on Mondays (C-Schedule Day) between 3rd and 4th periods.
- 6. Any changes or additions of Advisory times should be determined in collaboration with the staff by each school's administration and Instructional Council.

I. Teacher Absences/Substitutes

- 1. The District shall make every effort to provide a certified substitute teacher when necessary during the absence of a teacher.
- 2. Whenever a teacher is going to be absent, regardless of whether a substitute teacher is required, the teacher is required to call the Substitute Employee Management System (SEMS). Such call should be made before 6:30 a.m. on the day of the absence. Teachers shall also notify the principal at their first work location of their absence.
- 3. For more than a routine absence, a teacher may request through the principal a specific substitute to cover during the teacher's absence. To the extent possible this request shall be honored.
- 4. When absent ten (10) consecutive days or fewer, teachers shall provide lesson plans, instruction, and classroom management information for substitute teachers.
 - a. Lesson plans are required for all categories of extended leave and when leaving a position vacant due to transfers.

- b. Teachers shall provide plans for substitutes that include, if applicable; student medical needs, individual behavioral considerations, relevant modifications, a seating chart, small group configurations, pullout information, hall pass information, cell phone policy, and the school contact information as provided by the administration.
- c. Plans should be relevant to the current content objectives during the period of the teacher's absence.
- d. Teachers' assignments provided in the plans should be able to be implemented without the need to access personal passwords.
- e. Substitutes shall be responsible for carrying out the lesson plans and instruction provided by the absent teacher and shall exercise proper classroom management.
- 5. Teachers shall provide emergency lesson plans to the site administrator at the beginning of each semester (no later than week 3) and shall update emergency lesson plans as necessary.

J. Room Changes

- 1. It is the right of the school principal to assign rooms and change room assignments when necessary. However, if changes in room assignments impact several staff members, the District and the Federation jointly recommend the following process:
 - a. Rationale for the moves be shared with staff.
 - b. The perspectives from the principal and the staff about how best to accomplish the goals stated in the rationale.
 - c. Input from all those who are directly affected by the moves.
- 2. When classroom assignment changes are at the end of a school year:
 - a. Instructional time will not be interrupted for moves.
 - b. Staff will be supported to pack and move. Support may include compensated time.
 - c. There will be compensation for lost preparation time.

K. Time to Teach

- 1. Except where an additional cost is involved, routine maintenance and repair work which will interfere with effective teaching shall be accomplished outside the instructional time. When this is not possible, the teacher will be provided advance notice and moved to another adequate teaching station where additional stations are available.
- 2. If special events involving students occur during the teaching portion of the duty day, the class schedule shall be adjusted to provide for the regular number of teaching periods or subject areas for that day on an abbreviated basis, or adjust the schedule in another equitable manner, taking special precautions not to discriminate against any particular period or subject area.
- 3. The primary responsibility of the teacher is to teach. The teacher shall be protected against any unnecessary interruptions by other school personnel, students, or parents. All regular announcements from the office shall be made at a scheduled and specific time.
- 4. Special events should interfere as little as possible with instructional time.
- 5. Technology hardware and software are provided as tools for routine educational tasks. Using district provided technology should not distract from time to teach. As such APS and ATF agree to form an Educator Technology User Group for the purposes of problem solving and enhancing district technology effectiveness.
 - a. ATF will appoint the educators to the User Group.
 - b. The User Group will regularly communicate to all educators through APS and ATF communication channels.

L. Report to Parents or Guardians

- 1. Teachers are responsible for evaluating student progress and interpreting grades or reports given. If a student is not assigned to a teacher, a professional staff member shall be responsible for the grade.
 - a. Teachers are responsible for maintaining ongoing communication with the parents or guardians of their students.
 - b. Teachers communicate through some or all the following ways:
 - 1.) Newsletters
 - 2.) Phone conversations
 - 3.) Individual notes
 - 4.) Weekly reports
 - 5.) Student contracts
 - 6.) Daily feedback about a student's work through grades and comments
 - 7.) Conferences
 - 8.) Report cards
 - 9.) Parent Vue
- 2. A District system of grading and reporting shall be established using progress report forms which are a part of this Agreement. Schools may supplement or request a waiver to replace progress report forms. Parent conferences and issuing of report cards will not occur until after at least one workweek (5 workdays) after the reporting period has ended, except for the final reporting period when report cards at the elementary level will be issued on the last scheduled day of school. Parent conference weeks at elementary schools are intended to accommodate parents; therefore, teachers who have scheduled parent conferences shall be excused from faculty meetings that conflict with the conference.
- 3. Teachers who must complete data entry for grades on the Student Information System (SIS) shall not be required to have the data entry completed in fewer than three (3) workdays after the grading period ends except at the end of the school year. Grades must be submitted by noon on the last day of the contract year.
 - a. Teachers shall complete data entry for grades on the SIS on the last reporting day for teachers unless they have arranged with the school administration to complete the data entry at a later date.
 - b. High school teachers will have a minimum of twenty-four (24) hours between administering senior finals and submitting senior grades.
- 4. If a high school teacher anticipates that any student is failing at the end of the semester, they will be required to provide a list of all students who are at risk of failing a class one week prior to winter break so that the student(s) may be scheduled appropriately. The list is nonbinding and intended for planning purposes only.

M. Equipment and Workstations

- Basic equipment for all educators shall include a desktop computer, and/or laptop that is no more than five (5)years old, Internet access, access to a working printer with paper, a desk and chair, a locking file cabinet, a bookshelf, access to school/worksite phones, access to long-distance phone service, and access to a working copy machine with paper. Employees shall use APS email for any business-related communication pursuant to the APS Employee Technology Acceptable Use Policy.
 - a. District evaluators (Educational Diagnosticians, School Psychologists, Social Workers, and SLP/Motor evaluators) shall have access to a student chair, appropriate and complete test kits, protocols, and access to online scoring programs.
 - b. School nurses shall have access to a fireproof, locking file cabinet and a locking cabinet for medications, and a refrigerator-freezer with an ice maker.

- c. All itinerant related service educators (APE, OT, PT, etc.) shall have a dedicated space to work with students at all of their assigned schools.
- d. Counselors and Social Workers shall have at least two student chairs and a table for mediation/conflict resolutions.
- e. The district shall provide all teachers access to a plagiarism checker program. The program shall have the ability to check and cross check work between students and internet sources, have an unlimited number of checks per teacher and per student, the ability to create a data base of checked work, and be able to provide reports back to teachers.

2. Workstations

- a. As needed, each Middle and High School site safety team that includes a principal, the department chair and a Federation Representative, shall walk through each science and shop classroom at that school site to determine the number of students these classes can safely accommodate.
 - 1.) Educators may also request their rooms be reassessed as needed.
- b. The site safety team will report this information on a form provided by the District and the Federation.
- c. Enrollment in these classes at each site will not exceed the number of students each classroom can accommodate, as determined by the site safety team.
- d. If, throughout the course of each semester, changes in school enrollment occur at a site which require placement of additional students above the cap in these classes, no more than two (2) additional students may be placed in each science class at that site during the semester.
- e. The recommendations will be technically derived based on the following;
 - 1) APS Capital Master Plan technical Classroom/Equipment assessment (includes science labs, furniture, equipment, and learning devices).
 - 2) Life-Health and Safety requirements
 - a. Building code including ADA (Americans with Disabilities Act)
 - b. Fire Evacuation requirements, APS School Safety procedural directives including Alert, Lockdown, Inform, Counter, Evacuate (ALICE).
 - 3) APS Furniture, Informational Technology (IT) device, and other instructional technical equipment standards.
 - 4) Relevant Specific instructional Program/Curricula categories:
 - a. Category 1: Career Technical Education (CTE)
 - 1.) Sub-category 1, Industrial Arts labs: Includes but not limited to woodwork, metal work, automotive, construction, textile arts, jewelry-making, and sewing.
 - 2.) Sub-category 2, Family and Consumer Science Labs: Includes but not limited to culinary arts/kitchen, warehousing, food retail and preparation, & restaurant services/management.
 - b. Category 2: Science Labs
 - 1.) Sub-category 1, Non-wet labs: Includes but not limited to physics and electrical sciences.
 - 2.) Sub-category 2. Wet labs: Includes but not limited to chemistry, biology, earth science, and medical/nursing sciences.
 - c. Category 3: Fine Arts and Music
 - 1.) Sub-category 1, Musical Instruments' Labs/booth: Includes but not limited to Band and Orchestra.
 - 2.) Sub-category 2, Tactile Arts: Includes but not limited to painting and ceramics labs, theater.
 - d. Category 4: STEAM/STEM & Digital Learning Spaces

- 1.) Sub-category 1, Artificial Intelligence/Computer Device Labs: Includes but not limited to Computer Aided Drafting (CAD), Gaming, Virtual Reality (VR), & Cyber-Security.
- 2.) Sub-category 2, Elementary School ES STEAM Labs/Classrooms: Includes but not limited to Tactile, comprehensive ES STEAM learning labs
- 3.) Sub-category 3, Robotics Labs: Includes but not limited to specialized labs/classrooms that are powered, vented, & interconnected (fiber) to accommodate tools/equipment for Robotics such as fabricators.
- 4.) Sub-category 4. Middle and High School District Learning Spaces: Includes but not limited to current, comprehensive, District-Wide digital learning space refresh.
- e. Category 5 Special Education (SPED)
 - 1.) When a student's Individual Educational Plan (IEP) requires (due to a disability identified under the law) specialized instruction and related services that may trigger specific spatial/equipment needs including Pupil-Instructor/s Ratio per given area/space.
- f. Category 6: General Education
 - 1.) 'Regular' non-specialized classrooms with predetermined APS square-footage, Pupil Teacher Ratio PTR maximums based on NM Public Education Department (PED) requirements, and APD furniture, equipment, and individual student learning devices.
- g. Category 7: Early Childhood & Kindergarten- includes age appropriate playgrounds and equipment
 - 1.) 0-3 year olds Learning Spaces and equipment (New Futures)
 - 2.) Early Childhood Learning Spaces (3-4 year olds).
 - 3.) Kindergarten Learning Spaces (5 Year olds).

Note: Each of the above seven (7) categories need to be defined by the following elements, (include definitions of equipment and space needs):

- 1. Subject-specific curricula.
- 2. Spatial Requirements (type of space, necessary amenities, and square footage).
- 3. Accompanying equipment necessitated by the curriculum and how it fits into the designated space.
- 4. Maximum Pupil-Teacher-Ratio (PTR) based on NM Public Education (PED).

Article 6, REMUNERATION AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

A. Salaries and Reciprocity

1. Salary matrices (A-1, A-2, A-3, TAN, CSC and BMS) including longevity indices, are subject to review annually.

Refer to Appendix A-Salary Matrices

- 2. Credit on the salary matrix within job classifications shall be given for all years of qualified indistrict experience, and all years of qualified out-of-district experience in a licensed educational role shall be credited.
- 3. For educators on the A Salary Matrices, one year of qualified experience is designated as at least five hundred seventy (570) hours of verifiable experience in full-time instruction in public schools, Grades PK–12 as a licensed instructor. Teachers also will be granted credit for qualified experience as a principal, an assistant principal, or head of school if that position(s) required an

administrative license. Responsibility for verification of prior experience and for instigating appeals to the Department of Human Resources rests solely with the educator.

- a. Prior experience at state universities and colleges and private schools accredited by a recognized authority and where a bachelor's degree is required, but a teaching license is not required, credit for prior experience is as follows:
 - 1.) Private school Grades K–12 requires at least five hundred seventy (570) hours of verifiable experience in full-time instruction to obtain one year of qualified experience.
 - 2.) State university and college teaching experience requires a total of five hundred seventy (570) hours of verifiable experience in full or part-time instruction and may be totaled over multiple years in order to equal one year of qualified experience.
- Educators also will be granted credit for qualified experience as a principal, an assistant principal, or head of schools if that position(s) required an administrative license.
 Responsibility for verification of prior experience and for instigating appeals to the Department of Human Resources rests solely with the educator.
- 4. For community school coordinators seven hundred and eighty-five (785) hours of verified experience in a single school year will count as a year of experience.
- 5. Part-time educators are those educators whose work is based on a full contract year but less than a full duty day. Part-time educator salaries shall be determined on a pro rata basis on the appropriate step of the educator salary matrix as if the educator were employed full-time. The terms of employment shall include preparation time and other duties, on a pro rata basis, as are assigned full-time educators. Sick leave and other benefits shall accrue on a pro rata basis.
- 6. Compensation
 - a. A teacher who is contracted to teach during the negotiated preparation period or whose teaching duties otherwise result in an extension of the duty day as established in the Agreement shall be paid two-tenths (.2) of the individual teacher's contractual salary for each class taught. If a teacher is contracted to teach during the negotiated preparation period from the first day of classes of the school year, the two-tenths (.2) payment for each class taught shall include all the days that the teacher is contracted to work. Otherwise, compensation for the extra class(es) taught shall commence effective the first day the classes are taught.
 - b. Payment timelines
 - 1.) Documents that are submitted to payroll are paid based on deadlines.
 - 2.) If documentation is submitted prior to the current pay period deadline, the compensation will be included in the next paycheck.
 - 3.) If submitted after the deadline, compensation will appear on the following paycheck.
 - 4.) Documents that are not filled out correctly will be delayed.
 - a.) Information for employees can be found in the column labeled "other pay, due to payroll" at: https://www.aps.edu/finance/payroll/2022-2023-payroll-documents/payroll-calendar/view or you are paid through a grant information can be found at: https://www.aps.edu/finance/grant-management-and-legislative-projects/employee-payroll-2022-2023
 - c. School administrations shall establish and publish in the staff handbook the process and policies that will be followed when selecting teachers to teach during negotiated preparation periods. Such information shall include specifics regarding notification of the class(es) and class(es) period(s) to be taught, deadlines for the expression of interest in teaching the class(es) and the interviewing and/or alternative selection process to be used.
 - 1.) These processes and policies for each school shall be compiled and provided to ATF by the 10th work day after the beginning of each school year.
 - d. A teacher, who on an occasional basis, teaches during the negotiated preparation period or whose teaching duties otherwise result in an extension of the duty day as established in the Agreement shall be paid for the additional time at the rate of the individual teacher's hourly

rate of pay. Teachers shall receive one hour of pay for the first class taught beyond the duty day resulting in at least forty (40) minutes in duration. Thereafter, the hourly rate will be based on the actual minutes taught beyond the first hour.

- 1.) An elementary teacher, who on an occasional basis, teaches during the absence of scheduled physical education instruction, shall receive payment based on fifteen (15)-minute increments at the teacher's hourly rate.
- 2.) Compensated at the employee's hourly rate for lost preparation time and/or the loss of employee's thirty (30)-minute duty free lunch can be obtained from the APS Payroll Department.
- 3.) All complete time sheets must be signed by the principal and the principal's supervisor and shall be submitted to the APS Payroll Department.
- e. An educator performing duties which result in a required extension of the duty day with students or working in a school-sanctioned before or after school program, shall be paid at the individual's hourly rate.
 - 1.) All required PD outside of the duty day shall be paid at the individual's hourly rate.
- f. An educator voluntarily working with students in a school-sanctioned before or after school program, shall be paid \$25.00 per hour.

g. Site Supervision Stipends

- 1.) Each site will be allocated no less than two (2) and no more than twelve (12) site safety stipends per day for educators assigned to supervise students before and after the duty day.
 - a. The Health and Safety Committee will determine the locations and the number of staff needed at each site.
 - b. Each site will report to Human Resources the number of safety stipends needed no later than May 24, 2023 (form pending).
 - c. The APS police department is available for consultation if needed.
- 2.) All staff have the opportunity to volunteer for a supervision stipend position.
 - a. Educational Assistants will be given priority.
 - b. Should there be more interest than positions, the site's Instructional Council will have the responsibility of designing a fair and transparent method of distributing site safety stipends.
- 3.) Compensation and responsibilities
 - a. Each stipend is based on one 20-minute supervision station for the entire school year.
 - 1.) An educator's stipend shall be paid five hundredths (.05) of the individual educator's base pay.
 - 2.) As per the AFCP Negotiated Agreement compensation for staff represented by the AFCP will receive \$1,500 in compensation for one supervision station for the entire school year.
 - b. Stipends may be reassigned at semester.
- h. A nurse performing additional duties shall be paid two-tenths (.2) as a result of a FTE vacancy. The additional duties include:
 - 1.) An extended assignment at an additional school beyond the original 1.0 assignment(s).
 - 2.) Working long term without an assigned health assistant.
 - 3.) Working as the only nurse where two nurses would usually be assigned.
 - a.) Compensation is for the period of time in which the additional duties are assigned.
 - 4.) A nurse covering a school on an occasional basis due to absences can be paid for lost preparation time on time sheets.
- i. Teacher, librarian, and counselor positions for elementary, middle school, high school and ESY summer school will be paid at the individual employee's hourly rate.

- j. Teacher and counselor positions for eCADEMY online summer school classes will be paid at the rate of \$3,600 per session based on the enrollment at the close of registration on the second day of class.
 - 1.) Individual online teaching assignments will include no more than two sessions.
 - 2.) Good faith efforts will be made to keep the summer school class sizes at approximately thirty (30) students per teacher and leveled among teachers.
- k. Employees who do not possess a bachelor's degree will be compensated at ninety (90) percent of the appropriate column of salary matrix A-1. Experience for these employees shall be counted in the same manner as for teachers who are licensed. Positions covered under this provision include, but are not limited to, ADN nurses and Certified Occupational Therapist Assistants (COTAs) and Physical Therapy Assistants (PTAs) and JROTC Instructors. JROTC Instructors who do not possess a teaching license will be compensated at ninety (90) percent of the appropriated column of salary matrix A-1 or A-3 for the district portion of ROTC compensation.
- Teachers who teach in Intensive Global Support 1 (IGS1), Intensive Global Support 2 (IGS2), Social Communication Support (SCS1 or SCS2 or SCS3), Social Emotional Support 1 (SES1), and Social Emotional Support 2 (SES2) classes shall be paid five one-hundredths (.05) of the individual teacher's contracted salary. Compensation is being provided in recognition of occasional preparation time and lunch periods that are lost due to the unique nature of these programs.
 - 1.) The District shall continue to schedule preparation time and lunch periods for teachers and make every effort to continue to honor preparation time and lunch periods for ISP, BIP, and Autism Specific Program teachers.
 - 2.) The additional five one-hundredths (.05) compensation shall be the only compensation provided for all lost preparation periods or lunches. In the event individual teachers or schools are experiencing a high number of incidents involving lost preparation time and lunch periods, teachers shall notify the principal in writing when the preparation time and/or lunch time is lost, and the parties agree to address each individual situation with the teachers and schools involved. Should additional pay be required for lost preparation or lunch time, it will be paid on time sheets.
 - 3.) Those who are contracted to teach during their preparation period shall be paid two-tenths (.2) of their contracted salary under Article 6, A.7.a. of the Agreement, but shall not receive an additional five one-hundredths (.05) compensation.
- m. Evaluations outside the schoolwork year
 - 1.) An educational diagnostician or school psychologist who performs an evaluation shall be paid \$800 per evaluation.
 - 2.) A speech language pathologist who performs a speech and language evaluation shall be paid \$500 per evaluation
 - 3.) A speech language pathologist who performs a speech or language evaluation shall be paid \$450 per evaluation.
 - 4.) A speech language pathologist who performs a pragmatic/social communication evaluation shall be paid \$100 per evaluation.
 - 5.) An educational diagnostician, school psychologist, or speech language pathologist who serves as the lead evaluator on an evaluation shall be paid \$200 per evaluation.
 - 6.) A school social worker performing a social emotional evaluation shall be paid \$450 per evaluation.
 - 7.) An occupational therapist or physical therapist who performs a single modality neuromotor evaluation shall be paid \$350 per evaluation
 - 8.) An occupational therapist or physical therapist who performs a multiple modality neuromotor evaluation shall be paid \$450 per evaluation.

- 9.) An educational diagnostician, school psychologist, speech language pathologist, school social worker, occupational therapist or physical therapist who performs a bilingual evaluation shall be paid \$200 per evaluation.
- 10.) An educational diagnostician, school psychologist, speech language pathologist, school social worker, occupational therapist or physical therapist who is an ADOS observer or CARS rater for an evaluation shall be paid \$100 per evaluation.
- 11.) An educational diagnostician, school psychologist, speech language pathologist, school social worker, occupational therapist or physical therapist who is an ADOS or CARS administrator for an evaluation shall be paid \$300 per evaluation.
- 12.) \$50 shall be paid to all role groups per no show.
- n. If duties which are the primary responsibility of licensed counselors exceed the existing full-time equivalency of licensed counselors at their work site, the following processes shall be obliged.
 - 1.) Counselor(s) at the work site shall formally notify the director of counseling services and their immediate work site supervisor of the need for an additional licensed counselor to fulfill the primary responsibilities of a licensed counselor.
 - 2.) If a need for additional counseling services go beyond the existing full-time equivalency at the worksite is identified, the director of counseling services may either provide licensed counseling substitute coverage or divide the full-time equivalency needs by a minimum of one tenth (.10) of a full-time equivalency (.1 FTE) in the form of an extended contract. Counselors must remain on site for the extended time.
 - 3.) If an extended contract is offered, the duties and compensation must be mutually agreed upon between the licensed counselor and director of counseling services before extended contract services are provided and compensation for the extended contract is accrued for the duration of the vacancy.
 - 4.) If an exigent circumstance arises and counseling services are provided before the process commences, the counselor(s) at the work site shall notify their immediate supervisor and the director of counseling services of the emergency service(s) provided as soon as possible. If the emergency needs and service(s) are verified by the work site supervisor, compensation shall be provided to the licensed school counselor providing the duties at their individual hourly rate of pay.
 - 5.) If the emergency services persist more than ten (10) working days in duration, item numbers 1 through 3 shall be obliged respectively.

7. Pay reduction

- a. ATF and APS recognize there are times when an educator's paycheck may need to be adjusted by reduction in pay.
- b. In order to provide the best customer service to employees as possible, prior to processing a reduction in pay, the District must:
 - 1.) notify the educator in writing about the adjustment, including specific details about the reason(s) for the adjustment.
 - 2.) notify the educator in writing the total amount of repayment.
 - 3.) propose a timeline in writing for repayment including the amount that will be deducted per paycheck.
- c. As needed, the parties will meet with the employee to discuss the proposed pay adjustment and resolution.
- 8. Teachers who have not been engaged in teaching on a full-time basis, upon returning to the District, will be restored to the next position on the salary matrix above that which they left, except as provided herein.

- 9. All educators working an entire school year will be paid in twenty-four (24) equal installments on a biweekly basis for the 2023-2024 school year.
 - a. If a pay date falls on a holiday or vacation day, all pay will be automatically deposited on the regularly scheduled pay date. If the regularly scheduled pay date falls on a federal holiday during which financial institutions are closed, all pay will be deposited the day before said closure.
 - b. All educators working less than an entire school year shall be paid according to the above procedure except that there will be fewer installments. Adjustments may be made for the amount of the first and final installment(s).
 - c. If employment with the District is terminated and payment has exceeded the limit of the educator's reserve, the District retains the right to recover funds for work that was not performed.
- 10. If an educator works less than a full year, the educator will be paid that portion of a total annual compensation for which the educator is qualified as the service rendered bears to the total services required in equal installments based on the number of pay periods remaining in the school year.
- 11. Educators who may be required to use their own automobiles in the performance of their duties and educators who are assigned to more than one (1) school per day will be reimbursed at the NM DFA rate per mile.
- 12. Educators may claim eligibility for salary increments, National Board Certification, and bilingual and ESL endorsements by submitting a letter on or before September 15 followed by an official transcript as soon as possible to the Department of Human Resources as provided below. The official transcript must be received by the Department of Human Resources during the school year for which the increment or differential is sought to receive an increment or differential for that year.
 - a. All degrees and course work must be taken in regionally accredited universities or colleges. Exceptions for accepting course work taken prior to the completion of a degree may be granted provided the educator has an officer of the registrar's office verify the number of hours of college credit counted as a requirement for the degree. The District will verify that number of hours with regard to the University of New Mexico for bachelor degrees only.
 - b. BA + 15 increment: completion of 15 semester hours of course work after date bachelor's degree was awarded.
 - c. BA + 45 increment: completion of 45 semester hours of course work after date bachelor's degree was awarded.
 - d. MA increment: awarding of master's degree.
 - e. MA + 15 increment: completion of 15 semester hours of course work after date master's degree was awarded.
 - f. MA + 45 increment: completion of 45 semester hours of course work after date master's degree, JD, or EdD was awarded.
 - g. Completion of concurrent masters' degrees: Upon a transcript review, all hours earned for a second master's degree that do not overlap with the first master's degree, will be accepted as MA+ additional semester hours.
 - h. Doctorate increment: completion of PhD, or EdD.
- 13. Newly hired employees will be placed at the appropriate level which reflects the credentials that they presented at the time of hire. Their level placement will change only if the employee provides additional credentials which will qualify them for additional compensation at a higher level within three months from their date of hire. The new step or level will be paid retroactively to the start of the school year.
- 14. For compensation related to licensure advancement
 - a. The New Mexico 3-Tiered Licensure System

- 1.) The employee must submit the Professional Development Dossier by October 15.
- 2.) The license issued by NMPED as a result of passing the dossier must take effect the current year in order for an increase in pay to be effective, including retroactive pay, during the current school year.
- 3.) The employee must submit a copy of the license to the Department of Human Resources for the compensation increase to be processed in accordance with the state's 3-Tiered Licensure System.
- b. E&RSE staff will advance based on parameters found in Article 10 of this agreement.
- 15. The District and the Federation recognize the importance of a meritorious attendance program. To that end, all full-time employees hired on or before July 1 who use five (5) or fewer sick leave days from July 1 to June 30 will be awarded one (1) additional personal leave day. Personal leave may be used and accumulated as noted in Article 18.G.1. and may not accrue beyond five (5) days.

B. Payroll Deductions

- 1. Educators may authorize a payroll deduction for Federation dues, Sick Leave Bank, COPE (ATF Committee on Political Education) Insurance, United States Savings Bonds, tax-deferred annuities, contributions to the United Way, and payments to Nusenda. Payroll deductions will be itemized.
- 2. Deductions provided for under this article shall cease should an educator terminate employment during the school year.

C. Pay Differentials

- 1. All pay differentials are based on extra work or greater responsibilities or specific credentials/endorsements. In the event the parties agree a pay differential is appropriate or desirable and is not a part of this Agreement, the parties agree to negotiate an agreement to compensate such educators.
- 2. Any educator receiving a contract that exceeds the required one hundred eighty-eight(188) days of service shall receive a pay differential prorated at one one-hundred eighty-eighth (1/188) of the educator's contracted salary for each extra day of service needed. Any educator required to work on an extended calendar shall receive daily pay on time sheets. The following educators shall work an extended calendar:
 - a. Additional days can be scheduled at the beginning or the end of the school year in collaboration with the site principals.
 - b. Secondary school counselors and librarians: five (5) days;
 - c. Elementary school counselors and librarians: three (3) days; elementary school librarians who are assigned to more than one school: six (6) days;
 - d. Head Special Education Teachers: five (5) days, if needed;
 - e. Educational Diagnosticians, School Psychologist, Transition Specialist/Rehabilitation Counselors, and BCBAs: ten (10) days.
 - f. JROTC Instructors shall have an extended contract and salary as provided in federal regulations. JROTC Instructor salaries shall not be reduced during the school year because of an increase in military retirement benefits.
 - 1.) Effective July 1, 2005, the District's share of the JROTC Instructor annual salary shall be increased by \$4,000. The new total District portion above the minimum shall be \$6,200.
 - 2.) Annual percentage increases to the District portion of the minimum JROTC Instructor pay is no longer applicable.
 - 3.) The compensation agreed to herein covers instructional duties and non-instructional duties beyond the duty day.

- g. Vocational teachers shall receive an extended contract based upon performance of the following duties, or combination thereof, as approved and verified by the Director of Vocational Education. Days used for advisory committee and youth organization activities may be an accumulation of time worked on either non-school days or before or after the regular duty day. Sick time will be documented by the teacher.
 - 1.) Teachers of cooperative education programs: five (5) days for job development;
 - 2.) Vocational education teachers (Grades 9-12): three (3) days for vocational education activities which may include youth organizations and advisory committees;
 - 3.) Production agriculture teachers: ten (10) days for summer work experience coordination.
- 3. Compensating employees on extended contract or receiving differentials who go on paid extended leaves of absence.
 - a. An employee who goes on an extended paid Leave of Absence beyond a consecutive ten (10) day period, who has been receiving compensation for working an extended contract, shall continue to receive additional compensation provided the work of the extended contract is being covered or performed by the assigned substitute and that it does not result in an additional expense for the school.
 - b. If said employee is receiving a differential for additional duties or responsibilities performed and those duties or responsibilities must be shifted to another individual in order that they be completed, then the employee on extended leave will cease to receive additional compensation for any time beyond the initial ten (10) days of absence for the duration of the extended leave. The employee shall be entitled to restoration of the differential or extended compensation upon return to active duty status provided they resume the duties for which they are being compensated.

D. Credential Differentials

- 1. Bilingual and ESL
 - a. Teachers who possess a current Bilingual and/or ESL endorsement shall receive a differential of \$500 effective the beginning of the school year.
 - b. In addition to receiving a differential of \$500 for a current Bilingual and/or ESL endorsement, teachers who provide Bilingual and/or ESL services at the school shall receive a differential according to the compensation ladder based on endorsements and utilization. This includes:
 - 1.) Teachers on waiver/teachers in a planned program of study leading to a TESOL and/or Bilingual endorsement
 - a.) Continue the tuition reimbursement program and publicize its availability.
 - b.) Up to \$500 reimbursement for textbook and/or testing fees.
 - c.) Professional support from the Department of Language and Cultural Equity.
 - 2.) Compensation ladder based on endorsements and utilization
 - a.) Additional \$2,500 for providing TESOL services only.
 - b.) Additional \$5,000 for providing Bilingual services only.
 - c.) Additional \$5,500 for providing both TESOL and Bilingual services.

Note: Instructional coaches and resource teachers are eligible to receive these differentials if the staffing need exists and they are providing services to a documented caseload of students. SLPs who currently hold a Bilingual or TESOL credential also are eligible.

- 3.) TESOL/Bilingual support differentials are intended for librarians, resource teachers, and those who work in elementary specials, serving all or a large portion of the students.
 - a.) A support differential is \$1,000 (in additional the initial \$500 for holding the endorsement).
 - b.) Eligible staff must hold a TESOL or Bilingual endorsement.

- c.) Special Education evaluators with a state bilingual credential and/or who passed the La Prueba will receive a \$2000 credential differential.
- 4.) The number of differentials authorized for providing services at the school shall be determined by the total English Language Learner (ELL) population of the school and by the Alternative Language Service (ALS) program need as reported by the principal using the following criteria:
 - a.) Teachers must possess a current endorsement (teachers on waiver do not qualify for the differential).
 - b.) Teachers must provide services in a District designated Bilingual or ESL program, including prekindergarten programs.
 - c.) Teachers wishing to be considered for a differential must have their current endorsement on file with the Department of Human Resources and the school within twenty (20) workdays of providing services. To be eligible for the entire differential payment, all endorsements must be approved by the Public Education Department by no later than September 15. If applicable, employees must be providing services under the provisions of the district ALS Plan by that date to receive full payment. Endorsements issued or the commencement of the provision of services after that date will be compensated on a prorated basis.
 - d.) Employees with an ESL/Bilingual endorsement receive differential pay when they are providing ESL or Bilingual Services to eligible students. If, during the school year, the employee no longer has a caseload of eligible students, the principal will notify the Department of Human Resources of the date that the services stopped so that the payment for the services ceases. Payment for services will resume once the principal notifies the Department of Human Resources that the teacher has an eligible caseload.
- 5.) If the number of volunteers exceeds the positions available at a grade level/department, ask for volunteers first. Then the assignment should be made on a rotational basis starting with an impartial selection process, such as a drawing.

Note: If a school has more TESOL-endorsed teachers than ELL groupings and uses a rotation as suggested above, teachers on an improvement plan or intensive evaluation would not be eligible to participate.

- 2. Teachers of the Deaf who hold a certificate that ensures that they are proficient in sign language are eligible for the following bilingual credential differential:
 - a. One of any of the following credentials —\$500
 - 1.) SCPI, ASLPI or SLPI Intermediate Plus (3)
 - 2.) NIC (National Interpreter Certification)
 - 3.) CT (Certificate of Transliteration)
 - 4.) IC/TC (Interpretation Certificate/Transliteration Certificate)
 - 5.) NAD III (Generalist)—Average Performance
 - 6.) EIPA level 3.5 or above (Educational Interpreter Performance Assessment)
 - b. One of any of the following credentials—\$1,000
 - 1.) SCPI ASLPI or SLPI Advanced (3+)
 - 2.) NIC Advanced
 - 3.) CI (Certificate of Interpretation)
 - 4.) IC (Interpretation Certificate)
 - 5.) NAD IV (Advanced) Level 3
 - 6.) RID Educational Certificate: K-12
 - c. One of any of the following credentials—\$2,000
 - 1.) SCPI, ASLPI or SLPI Advance Plus (4)
 - 2.) NIC MASTER

- 3.) CSC (Comprehensive Skills Certificate)
- 4.) CI/CT (Certificate of Interpretation/Certificate of Transliteration)
- 5.) CDI (Certified Deaf Interpreter)
- 6.) MCSC (Master Comprehensive Skills Certificate)
- 7.) RSC (Reverse Skills Certificate)
- 8.) NAD V (Master)–Superior Performance
- d. SCPI, ASLPI or SLPI Superior, and Superior Plus (4+ and 5)—\$3,000

Note: The credential is paid based on the highest credential held.

- 3. National Board-Certified Teachers
 - a. Teachers who are certified by the National Board for Professional Teaching Standards shall receive a differential. The State of New Mexico provides funding for a differential for board certified teachers based on the state's unit value multiplied by a factor of 1.5.
 - b. Should the state discontinue funding this differential, board-certified teachers shall receive a differential of \$2,000 as long as the certificate is held.
 - c. Employees who present their National Board-Certified Teacher credential shall be paid their differential retroactively back to the start of the school year in which they earned the credential.
- 4. Board Certified Behavior Analysts (BCBA)
 - a. Educators with a Board-Certified Behavior Analysts (BCBA) Certificate employed in positions other than a BCBA shall receive a differential of \$1000 effective the beginning of the school year.

Refer to Appendix F—Credential Differentials

E. Teacher Leadership Position Descriptions

The following explanations apply to the teacher leadership positions identified herein. Teacher Leadership Positions are in place to support distributive leadership throughout the school and are intended to be held by multiple staff members.

- 1. Secondary Schools
 - a. Department Chairs (Department Heads) are primarily curricular. The job descriptions include but are not limited to the duties listed.
 - 1.) Manage resources needed for the running of the department (textbooks, department budget, etc.).
 - 2.) Coordinate between the department and the administration on such issues as hiring, class schedules for teachers, student teacher placement, and improvement of curriculum and instruction.
 - 3.) Facilitate department meetings to address student needs, teaching methods, curriculum modification and innovation, and textbook adoption.
 - 4.) Serve as a liaison between the department and other educational groups doing the following work:
 - a.) Vertical articulation with elementary and middle school teachers.
 - b.) Informing parent organizations and community organizations about the department program.
 - c.) Meeting with other department chairs to discuss common concerns.
 - b. Department Chairs in comprehensive high schools and all APS schools of choice shall receive a differential according to the following:
 - 1.) 1-5 teachers on teams—\$1,500
 - 2.) 6-15 teachers on teams—\$1,751
 - 3.) 16 or more teachers on teams—\$1,929
 - c. Middle School Department Heads:
 - 1.) Each middle School will receive five (5) differentials.

- 2.) Each person so designated shall receive a differential of \$1,629.
- 3.) It is the Instructional Council's responsibility to decide in collaboration with the whole staff whether to have Department Chairs, Team Leaders or both.
- d. Election/selection of High School and Middle School Department Heads
 - 1.) Elected High School Department Heads, and Middle School Department Heads must have a minimum of a Level II license.
 - To elect a teacher leader with a Level 1 license, the department/school must follow the contract waiver procedure described in APPENDIX L (page 133) of the negotiated agreement.
 - 3.) Election/Selection procedures for choosing Department Heads, including a procedure for resolving tie votes, will be agreed upon by the constituents before elections take place. Teachers shall be counted as a member of each team in which they teach. Personnel from each department shall agree to choose Teacher Leaders in one of the following manners.
 - a.) Leaders shall be elected by the constituents they are elected to serve.
 - b.) Members of the constituency shall select two (2) or more persons and submit names to principal who shall choose a leader from that list.

Refer to Appendix H–Department Chair Election Protocols

- 4.) Term of Office
 - a.) Teacher Leaders shall serve for a period of two (2) years.
 - b.) If the position becomes vacant during the two-year term, a replacement shall be named for the remainder of the term according to the election/selection procedure described above.

Please refer to the district's job description of "Chairperson: High School/Middle School" for additional information.

- 2. High School Academy Leaders/Collaboration Facilitators
 - a. Academy Leaders facilitate the following efforts for the teaching teams within their academies:
 - 1.) Implement collaboration strategies and the use of data to improve student learning;
 - 2.) Focus the program of study in the academy for articulation of dual credit options and curriculum development;
 - 3.) Identify professional development needs of the teaching teams; and
 - 4.) Coordinate the meeting schedule and liaison needs to the administration and department chairs.
 - b. The role of the collaboration Facilitator is defined in Article 6.E.2.
 - c. Differentials for High School Academy Leaders/Collaboration Facilitators: \$3,520 is available for either Academy Leader or Collaboration Facilitator differentials
 - 1.) Schools are free to supplement the \$3,520 available from the school's discretionary funds
 - 2.) The elected Academy/Collaboration leaders will determine how the \$3,520 will be divided among them and they will let the principal know this before the differential paperwork is due to the Department of Human Resources.
 - d. Election/selection procedure for High School Teacher Leadership Positions
 - Election/Selection procedures for choosing all Teachers Leaders, including a procedure
 for resolving tie votes, will be agreed upon by the constituents before elections take
 place. Teachers shall be counted as a member of each team in which they teach.
 Personnel from each team shall agree to choose Teacher Leaders in one of the following
 manners:
 - a.) Leaders shall be elected by the constituents they are elected to serve.
 - b.) Members of the constituency shall select two (2) or more persons and submit names to principal who shall choose a leader from that list.

- 2.) Elected High School Academy Leaders must have a minimum of a Level II license. To elect a teacher leader with a Level 1 license, the department/school must follow the contract waiver procedure described in APPENDIX L (page 133) of the negotiated agreement.
- 3.) Term of Office
 - a.) Teacher Leaders shall serve for a period of two (2) years.
 - b.) If the position becomes vacant during the two-year term, a replacement shall be named for the remainder of the term according to the election/selection procedure described above.

3. Middle School Team Leaders

- a. Team Leaders:
 - 1.) Are grade level based and are often cross-curricular. Team members often have students in common.
 - 2.) Are an information liaison between the administration, the Instructional Council, and the team members.
 - 3.) Facilitate and coordinate team meetings.
 - 4.) Collect and evaluate data for their team.
- b. Differentials for Middle School Team Leaders: Middle schools will have \$3,520 to be used for Team Leader Differentials.
 - 1.) Schools are free to supplement the \$3,520 available for Team Leader differentials from the school's discretionary funds.
 - 2.) The elected leaders will determine how the \$3,520 will be divided among themselves and they will let the principal know this before the differential paperwork is due to the Department of Human Resources.
- c. Election/Selection Procedure for Middle School Teacher Leadership Positions
 - 1.) Election/Selection procedures for choosing all Teachers Leaders, including a procedure for resolving tie votes, will be agreed upon by the constituents before elections take place. Teachers shall be counted as members of each team in which they teach. Personnel from each team shall agree to choose Teacher Leaders in one of the following manners:
 - a.) Leaders shall be elected by the constituents they are elected to serve.
 - b.) Members of the constituency shall select two (2) or more persons and submit names to the principal who shall choose a leader from that list.
 - 2.) Elected Middle School Team Leaders must have a minimum of a Level II license. To elect a teacher leader with a Level 1 license, the department school must follow the contract waiver procedure described in APPENDIX L (page 133) of the negotiated agreement.
 - 3.) Term of Office
 - a.) Teacher Leaders shall serve for a period of two (2) years.
 - b.) If the position becomes vacant during the two-year term, a replacement shall be named for the remainder of the term according to the election/selection procedure described above.

4. Elementary Schools

- a. Elementary Leaders
 - 1.) There shall be a collaborative effort between administration and certified staff at each school site to establish up to twelve (12) positions to address both current and innovative curricular and managerial needs.
 - 2.) Determination of positions, job descriptions, and differential amounts shall be through schoolwide consensus of all certified teaching staff.

- 3.) All positions shall be evaluated by the teaching staff annually at the end of the school year through a method agreed upon by the teaching staff, and, if needed, positions may be redesigned and/or redefined, and/or differential amounts may be reallocated.
- 4.) The sum of \$8,085 will be allocated to each elementary school site to be used as payment for differentials.
- 5.) Elected Elementary Team Leaders must have a minimum of a Level II license. To elect a teacher leader with a Level 1 license, the department/school must follow the contract waiver procedure described in APPENDIX L (page 133) of the negotiated agreement.
- 6.) Election/Selection procedure for Elementary School Teacher Leadership Positions
 - a.) Elementary Leaders must be members of the certified teaching staff.
 - (1.) Elementary Leaders shall be elected by all certified members of the teaching staff annually in a secret ballot election.
 - (2.) Each certified member of the teaching staff shall receive a list of the positions, job descriptions and differential list before the election is held and shall have the opportunity to be nominated or to volunteer for the ballot.
 - (3.) Results of the election shall be reported to the Department of Human Resources no later than October 1 of each school year.
 - b.) Term of Office
 - (1.) Positions shall be for a term of one (1) year.
 - (2.) Teachers may be reelected to an Elementary Leader position for more than one year.
- 5. Special Education Department Heads at the High School, Middle School, and Elementary levels.
 - a. Differentials shall be based on the size of the team (department) as follows for non-released head teachers:
 - 1.) Teams with 1 6 members— \$4,000
 - 2.) Teams with 7 15 members \$5,000
 - b. Schools with 16 or more members will be reviewed by the APS Sped Department and ATF for possible transition to a full-time release position in accordance with Article 11.B.1.d
 - 1.) All release head teacher positions will receive a differential of \$3,100.
 - c. Special education numerical guidelines may be waived by mutual agreement of both parties in cases of verified need. (*See job description in Article 11.*)
 - d. Head Special Education Teachers must have a minimum of a Level II license,
 - e. To elect a teacher leader with a Level I license, the department/school must follow the contract waiver procedure described in APPENDIX L of the Negotiated Agreement.
 - f. Election/Selection Procedure for Head Special Education Teacher
 - Election/Selection procedures for choosing all Teachers Leaders, including a procedure
 for resolving tie votes, will be agreed upon by the constituents before elections take
 place. Teachers shall be counted as a member of each team in which they teach.
 Personnel from each team shall agree to choose Teacher Leaders in one of the following
 manners:
 - a.) Leaders shall be elected by the constituents they are elected to serve.
 - b.) Members of the constituency shall select two (2) or more persons and submit names to principal who shall choose a leader from that list.
 - g. Term of Office
 - 1.) Teacher Leaders shall serve for a period of two (2) years.
 - 2.) If the position becomes vacant during the two-year term, a replacement shall be named for the remainder of the term according to the election/selection procedure described above
 - h. Procedures to Address Concerns: The following procedure will occur if there are concerns with the head teacher's ability to fulfill their responsibilities:

- 1.) The principal will contact the head teacher about the concern with the teacher's ability to fulfill their responsibilities based on the head teacher's job description.
- 2.) If the concern continues, it will be documented, and the principal will contact the Program Managers for support and training assistance.
- 3.) If, after support is provided, and the concern persists, a meeting will be scheduled with the head teacher. Attendees at the meeting will include the head teacher, the Program Manager, the site principal, and a representative from ATF if requested. Termination of the teacher leader's position may also be determined at this time.
- 4.) The head Special Education Teacher Rubric will serve as the evaluation tool to be used for both the members of the department and the principal in charge of Special Education at the site to provide feedback.

6. Head Interpreter

- a. A lead interpreter will be chosen through an election process that includes all interpreters employed by the district.
- b. The position will be paid a two-tenths (.2) extended contract.
- c. Election procedures, including a procedure for resolving tie votes, will be agreed upon by the constituents before elections take place.
- d. Term of Office
 - 1.) The lead interpreter shall serve for a period of two (2) years.
 - 2.) If the position becomes vacant during the two-year term, a replacement shall be named for the remainder of the term according to the election/selection procedure described above.

F. Athletic Directors

- 1. The position of Athletic Director (AD) shall be a full-time position.
- 2. The AD differential shall be \$8,300.
- 3. ADs may continue to perform and be compensated for additional duties, coaching assignments and contracted teaching assignments. ADs will be required to report to work during the educator's duty day.
- 4. It is the prerogative of the principal subject to approval of the Associate Superintendent to determine if an AD will be offered coaching assignments and/or non-elected differential positions at each school site.
- 5. If an AD is contracted to teach on an extended contract, coach, or perform other duties and there are concerns regarding the AD's performance and/or completion of duties for the role of the AD, the principal shall notify the AD of the concerns and that they may no longer be an AD if the concerns are not addressed. ADs will not be able to grieve the decision or change of assignment.

G. Responsibility Differentials

- 1. Student Assistance Team (SAT) Chair
 - a. The purpose of the SAT Team is to provide to teachers the assistance they need to provide interventions for their students. Teachers should use the SAT process for ideas, guidance, and help in documentation. The SAT Chair:
 - 1.) Directs the activities of the team.
 - 2.) Receives referrals to SAT.
 - 3.) Convenes SAT meetings.
 - 4.) Sees that the decision is implemented.
 - 5.) Ensures that timely follow up is done.
 - 6.) Is responsible for seeing that proper documentation and data collection are maintained.
 - 7.) Is responsible for seeing that the purpose of the SAT is met and that each aspect—identifying the challenge and student strengths developing the intervention plan and

- assessing the probable effectiveness of the interventions—is addressed and given the appropriate time and consideration.
- 8.) Obtains staff training on the SAT process, including understanding cultural, language, and socioeconomic differences that may be misidentified as problems. Keeps the calendar of SAT meetings.
- 9.) Notifies parents and follows up with parent forms.
- 10.) Follows up with health screenings.
- 11.) Manages observations.
- 12.) Keeps SAT packets and assures they are complete.
- 13.) Turns in completed packets to diagnosticians if testing is warranted.
- b. Election/Selection Procedure for SAT Chair: Election/Selection procedures for choosing all Teacher Leaders, including a procedure for resolving tie votes, will be agreed upon by the constituents before elections take place. Teachers shall be counted as members of each team in which they teach. Personnel from each team shall agree to choose Teacher Leaders in one of the following manners:
 - 1.) Teacher Leaders shall be elected by the constituents they are elected to serve.
 - 2.) Members of the constituency shall select two (2) or more persons and submit names to principal who shall choose a leader from that list.
- c. Term of Office
 - 1.) Teacher Leaders shall serve for a period of two (2) years.
 - 2.) If the position becomes vacant during the two-year term, a replacement shall be named for the remainder of the term according to the election/selection procedure described above.
- d. Differentials for Student Assistance Team Chair are as follows:
 - 1.) \$2,000 at all comprehensive high schools and alternative high schools.
 - 2.) A one-tenths (.1) FTE in all middle and elementary schools.

Refer to Appendix G—Teacher Leadership Differentials

2. Coaches of interscholastic sports in the senior high schools will receive a differential for the following assignments:

| following assignments: | | | | | |
|---|--------------------|--|--|--|--|
| COAC | HING DIFFERENTIALS | | | | |
| CREDIT FOR IN-DISTRICT EXPERIENCE: | | | | | |
| 6-10 YEARS - \$500 OR 11 YEARS AND OVER - \$1000 | | | | | |
| Differential Code Description Differential Amount | | | | | |
| ATHLETIC DIRECTOR | 8,300 | | | | |
| ATHLETIC TRAINER | 7,092 | | | | |
| Assistant | 2,000 | | | | |
| CROSS COUNTRY – B/G | 5,800 | | | | |
| FOOTBALL | 9,000 | | | | |
| Assistant – V | 4,500 | | | | |
| Assistant – V | 4,500 | | | | |
| Assistant – JV | 4,500 | | | | |
| Assistant – JV | 4,500 | | | | |
| Assistant - F | 4,500 | | | | |

| Assistant – F | 4,500 |
|---------------------|-------|
| BOYS SOCCER | 7,000 |
| Assistant – JV | 3,500 |
| GIRLS SOCCER | 7.000 |
| Assistant – JV | 3,500 |
| VOLLEYBALL | 6,000 |
| Assistant – JV | 3,500 |
| Assistant C-Team | 3,500 |
| BOYS BASKETBALL V | 7,500 |
| Assistant – JV | 3,500 |
| Assistant – C-Team | 3,500 |
| GIRLS BASKETBALL V | 7,500 |
| Assistant – JV | 3,500 |
| Assistant C-Team | 3,500 |
| SWIMMING B/G V | 6,000 |
| WRESTLING V Boys | 6,000 |
| Assistant – JV | 3,500 |
| WRESTLING V Girls | 6,000 |
| Assistant – JV | 3,500 |
| CHEERLEADER Varsity | 8,000 |
| CHEERLEADER JV | 4,000 |
| DANCE/DRILL | 8,000 |
| BASEBALL V | 7,000 |
| Assistant – JV | 3,500 |
| Assistant C-Team | 3,500 |
| GOLF B/G V | 3,000 |
| SOFTBALL V | 7,000 |
| Assistant – JV | 3,500 |
| BOYS TENNIS V | 3,000 |
| GIRLS TENNIS V | 3,000 |
| BOYS TRACK V | 6,500 |
| Assistant – JV | 3,500 |
| Assistant – V/JV | 3,500 |

| GIRLS TRACK V | 6,500 |
|----------------------|-------|
| Assistant – V/JV | 3,500 |
| Assistant – V/JV | 3,500 |
| POWERLIFTING B | 3,000 |
| POWERLIFTING G | 3,000 |
| MS ACTIVITY DIRECTOR | 2,500 |
| MS Intramurals >=600 | 3,000 |
| MS Intramurals <=600 | 3,000 |

- 4. Middle schools shall be provided, differentials for boys' and girls' intramural programs, including up to two (2) culminating extramural activities for each intramural program, as follows:
 - a. Student enrollment 600 or fewer—Four (4) differentials.
 - b. Student enrollment over 600—Five (5) differentials.
 - c. Payment for intramural differentials will be made in two (2) installments: one mid-way into the program and one after the entire program has been completed.
- 5. Teachers in senior high schools shall receive a differential for completion of the following assignments:

| a. | Speech Director | \$2,878 |
|----|-----------------------------|---------|
| b. | Speech Assistant Director * | \$1,964 |
| c. | Drama Director | \$2,933 |
| d. | Drama Assistant Director * | \$2,042 |
| e. | Band Director | \$2,500 |
| f. | Marching Band | \$2,000 |
| g. | Band Assistant Director * | \$2,521 |
| h. | Orchestra Director | \$2,500 |
| i. | Chorus Director | \$3,480 |
| j. | Chorus Assistant Director * | \$2,521 |
| k. | Annual | \$2,196 |
| 1. | Newspaper | \$1,621 |

^{*}Not a District-funded position

6. Credit for in-district experience in the following senior high positions shall be compensated as follows:

| a. | Differential Assignment | 6-10 years experience | 11 years and over experience |
|----|--------------------------------|-----------------------|------------------------------|
| b. | Speech Director | + \$500 | + \$1000 |
| c. | Drama Director | + \$500 | + \$1000 |
| d. | Annual | + \$500 | + \$1000 |
| e. | Newspaper | + \$500 | + \$1000 |
| f. | Band Director | + \$500 | + \$1000 |
| g. | Dance/ Drill Team | + \$500 | + \$1000 |
| ĥ. | Chorus Director | + \$500 | + \$1000 |
| i. | Orchestra Director | + \$500 | + \$1000 |
| j. | Varsity Cheer Coach | + \$500 | + \$1000 |
| k. | Junior Varsity Cheer Coach | + \$500 | + \$1000 |

- 7. Middle schools will be provided additional activity differentials to be determined by the principal, compensation shall be \$1,306 for each activity except band, orchestra, and chorus which shall be \$1,551 as follows:
 - a. Student enrollment 600 or fewer—Seven (7) differentials.

- b. Student enrollment over 600—Eight (8) differentials.
- c. Schools having band, orchestra, and chorus programs shall provide the full differential for those activities over and above the differentials based on student enrollment.
- 8. Intensive Support Programs within Special Education programs shall be provided one (1) differential of \$1,517 for the coordination of the extramural Special Olympics.
- 9. A differential of \$4,243 will be provided to each high school MESA program director. A differential of \$1,805 will be provided to each middle school MESA program leader.

Article 7, INSTRUCTIONAL COUNCILS (ICs)

- A. The District and the Federation agree to support the work of each school's Instructional Council (IC). ICs are established as part of a collaborative effort to improve and support the teaching and learning process in the Albuquerque Public Schools. It is the intent of the District and the Federation to allow the individuals on each council to use their collective expertise and experience concerning their site and community to address school issues that fall within the scope of instructional improvement. The following requirements and recommendations set limited parameters.
 - 1. The IC includes the principal, a federation representative elected by federation members at the school, teachers elected by teachers, the Community School Coordinator (at Community Schools), and parent representative(s) of the school parent body recognized by the school and may include representatives of other bargaining units as defined in their respective negotiated agreements, and any other personnel and/or students deemed appropriate by the IC and elected by their constituent group.
 - 2. Teachers shall comprise at least fifty (50) percent of the IC.
 - 3. Meetings shall be open to any member of the school staff or school community.
 - 4. The IC shall comply with Negotiated Agreements, Board policies, District procedures/directives, New Mexico laws and regulations and Federal laws and regulations when addressing issues. Issues shall be addressed in a collaborative manner.
 - 5. Specific structure and protocol for the IC shall be developed by the IC and published for the school community.
 - 6. If a decision concerning an issue cannot be reached, and a decision must be made because the issue at hand is time-sensitive, then the IC will defer to the principal.
 - 7. IC members have certain obligations, rights and responsibilities of membership, including attending and actively participating on the IC; reaching out to the diversity of the represented group to hear their opinions and ideas; communicating those opinions to the IC; supporting goals and strategies to implement the school's educational plan as mandated by the state; checking with supportive documents such as Board Policy and the Negotiated Agreement; and collectively supporting the school improvement process.
 - 8. Yearly training(s), led jointly by representatives of APS and ATF, shall be offered to all Instructional Council members, at a central location, to guide IC members in the school improvement process and their obligations, rights, and responsibilities of membership.

Note: The term "Instructional Council" is a generic term for all leadership/management teams at a school. Individual sites may choose different titles for their Instructional Council.

- B. Leadership Councils: At-large Constituent Groups
 - 1. Employees may create district-wide at-large Leadership Councils when employees with common areas of interest and expertise are assigned at different schools throughout the district. Constituent Leadership Councils will include administrators and employees and shall be recognized by the District and the Federation.
 - 2. APS and ATF recognize the following Leadership Councils:
 - a. Nurses
 - b. Counselors

- c. Social Workers
- d. Speech and Language Therapists
- e. Transition Specialists/Rehabilitation Counselors
- f. Evaluators (Diagnosticians, School Psychologists, SLP and OT Evaluators)
- g. Special Education Department Head Teachers
- h. Motor Therapists (OT, PT, OMS, APE)
- i. Low Incidence Groups (Sign Language Interpreters, VI itinerants, HI itinerants, Audiologists, OMS)
- j. Transition Services (CBTS)

C. Instructional Councils: Process and Content

- 1. The Instructional Council is concerned with both process and content and delivery of services. The process will be similar at all sites. It is collaboration among stakeholders working together to develop common visions for their sites. The content or issues addressed by each IC will vary in nature. What may be an instructional priority for one school community may not be for another.
- 2. There are two strategies usually associated with this process: site-based management and shared decision-making. These strategies are dependent upon collaboration and consensus building. For shared decision making to work, the issues to be decided must be meaningful and not merely symbolic. Important decisions must be reached in a collaborative manner. Participants can readily discern the difference between involvement and influence. Without experiencing influence, participants may soon choose not to be involved.
- 3. ICs are empowered to address school issues that fall within the scope of instructional improvement. The scope includes but is not limited to school duty schedules, substitute and coverage plans, and school discipline policy and procedures.
- 4. Gather both qualitative and quantitative data to inform decisions made within the scope of instructional improvement.
- D. Instructional Councils: Decision-Making Processes
 - 1. Consensus Decision-Making: The primary decision-making model is a consensus process, especially when the issue affects the entire staff.
 - a. Definition of Consensus Decision-Making: Consensus decision-making is a process in which participants make decisions by agreement rather than by majority vote. A consensus process is where representatives of the affected parties with a stake in an issue work together to find a mutually acceptable solution. Decisions are reached through a consensus process that includes the following:
 - 1.) There has been communication with and input from constituents.
 - 2.) Participants have reached a meeting of the minds sufficient to decide and carry it out.
 - 3.) There is agreement that no one who could block or obstruct the decision or its implementation will exercise that power.
 - 4.) There is agreement that everyone needed to support the decision and put it into effect will do so
 - b. This definition does not mean unanimity of thought. The resulting agreement may be a package of various levels of enthusiasm and support, but the agreement is one that each party can accept and live with.
 - 2. Alternative Decision-Making Models
 - a. There may be alternative decision-making processes that are appropriate at times. ICs must determine which decision-making model is best suited for the issue at hand (i.e., consensus, majority vote of the IC, vote of the entire staff, adoption of committee recommendations, etc.).
 - b. Determination of the model to be used needs to be made through consensus. The model used may change from issue to issue.

- 3. Decisions reached by the IC must be collaborative in nature among the role groups participating in the IC process. Collaborative problem solving provides more resources, more diversity of ideas, and more social support for the decision.
- E. Instructional Councils: Considerations for a Successful Collaborative Structure
 - 1. IC representatives are elected.
 - 2. The representatives are elected to serve a specific constituency.
 - 3. The selected representatives regularly communicate with their constituents.
 - 4. Communication with constituents is focused on giving information and getting their constituents' perspectives in order to represent all points of view at the meeting.
 - 5. The IC has taken the time necessary to be clear about:
 - a. What decisions it makes and;
 - b. How it makes those decisions.
 - 6. All members of the IC openly discuss and share all information pertaining to an issue so that the best decision can be reached.
 - 7. The IC is able to focus on issues related to teaching and learning because there is some other structure or mechanism to address the daily "nuts and bolts" issues.
 - 8. The IC positions are desirable and there is healthy participation.
 - 9. Agendas and past minutes from IC meetings are made public.
 - 10. ICs make meaningful decisions; they are not solely "advisory."
 - 11. All IC members are viewed and treated as equals. This includes ensuring equity of voice.
 - 12. Decisions made by the IC that affect the staff or a specific constituency group must be made in collaboration with the staff or constituency group.
- F. Instructional Councils: Time for Professional Development
 - 1. The Albuquerque Public School and the Albuquerque Teachers Federation agree on the importance of professional development. Professional development is the process by which teachers individually and jointly enhance and update their knowledge of standards, curriculum, and content, and improve their instructional skills and strategies.
 - 2. It is the IC's responsibility to work collaboratively with the whole staff to decide the content of professional development. Schools may not bank additional time for professional development unless they have utilized all other optional time allowed in the negotiated agreement. Article 5, C.5. states: "Schools may utilize an additional thirteen (13) hours annually for staff development activities collaboratively planned through the IC. Any District-mandated training will be included in these hours." It is optional to use part or all of the thirteen (13) hours set aside for professional development. It is the IC's responsibility to:
 - a. Decide in collaboration with the whole staff whether or not to use up to thirteen (13) hours for professional development;
 - b. Come to consensus with the staff on the content of the professional development; and
 - c. Come to consensus with the staff on the scheduling of up to thirteen (13) hours for professional development.

Refer to Appendix E—Time Chart

- G. Instructional Councils: Connection to School Committees and Other School Structures
 - 1. All school committees, task forces, and work groups will communicate directly with or through the IC to coordinate planning and implementation of their work. It is recommended that committees follow protocols similar to those for the IC.
 - 2. Connection to Teacher Leadership Positions
 - a. It is essential that a purposeful connection between various teacher leadership positions (e.g., department chairs, team leaders, study group leaders, etc.) and the IC be created and maintained.
 - b. It is up to each school to determine how those leadership bodies and individuals communicate and coordinate their work.

- H. Instructional Councils: Connection to Budgeting
 - 1. School budgets are open and public documents. School budgets and budget projections shall be distributed to all staff at each respective school each year prior to budget decisions being made.
 - a. School staffs will be provided standardized spreadsheets of school budgets that include descriptions of each funding source and the amount to be received from that source.
 - b. The spreadsheets will also delineate if the funding source is considered "discretionary" (for example: Title I, At Risk) or "operational."
 - c. These budget sheets will be distributed to all school staff via APS email no later than the second Tuesday of April.
 - 2. It is the responsibility of the IC to work in collaboration with the staff to set priorities for discretionary funds or at risk in the school's budget and in developing and overseeing the implementation of a budget that places resources where they will effectively support the school's goals.
 - 3. When using discretionary money for a full or partial FTE, to ensure decisions are program-based, a change in the agreed use will result in holding funds until the current position is vacated. In the event of programmatic need to change or eliminate a full or partial FTE funded through discretionary money and the position has not been vacated, the school may request a contract waiver according to the process set forth in Appendix L: Process for Obtaining a Waiver.
 - 4. Training in Budgeting may be requested of the District and the Federation for Instructional Councils.
 - 5. School staffs must follow the rules and regulations associated with each funding source.
- I. If differentials are provided for positions on the school's Instruction Council, the Federation Representative position will be eligible.

Article 8, EDUCATOR COMMITTEES

- A. The District and the Federation recognize the importance of an educational climate within a school and its community. To this end, the Instructional Council, the principal, the educators, and the staff are encouraged to work collaboratively to establish standing and ad hoc committees.
- B. All educators will be given the opportunity to volunteer for committees. If the number of volunteers exceeds the number designated for the committee, members shall be elected by their constituency. Election shall be by secret ballot.
- C. Committees shall keep minutes of their meetings which shall be available upon request. A good faith effort shall be made to implement committee recommendations.
- D. Meetings shall be open to any member of the staff or community.
- E. All committee meetings and time requirements scheduled outside of the duty day are voluntary with the exception of meetings scheduled in accordance with Article 5. C. 4.
- F. The Federation shall have purview over selection of educator representatives engaging in joint committee work with the district.

Article 9, THE MENTOR/PEER ASSISTANCE AND REVIEW PROGRAM: an APS/ATF PARTNERSHIP PROGRAM

A. Mentor/PAR Program Description

1. As a part of APS and ATF's commitment to provide a continuum of support for teachers, the district and union created both the Mentor Program and the Peer Assistance and Review (PAR) Program. The programs are related. As a program co-designed and run by the APS/ATF

Partnership, the Mentor Program provides comprehensive Mentor support to Level 1, Beginning Teachers. The APS/ATF PAR Program provides support to struggling teachers.

2. Joint Governance PAR Panel

- a. The Joint Governance PAR Panel (JGP Panel) is the governing body of both the Mentor and PAR programs and, as such, will preside over all aspects of the Mentor and PAR programs.
- b. Program protocols, guidelines and compliance questions, and concerns, shall be referred to, and addressed by, the JGP Panel.
- c. The Joint Governance PAR Panel will make decisions by consensus whenever possible. If consensus is not reached, APS Department of Human Resources and ATF will confer at a later date and will report back to the panel.
- d. The JGP Panel is composed of eight members: two (2) teachers and two (2) administrators from APS, the Union President or designee, the Executive Director of Labor Relations or designee, and the Mentor and PAR Program Coordinators.
- e. A Panel member's term will consist of a minimum of two (2) years. APS will fill administrator positions and ATF will fill teacher positions on the panel.
- f. Each panel member will:
 - 1.) Attend meetings throughout the school year and in the summer. The meetings will be held outside the duty day. Attendance and full participation are expected from each panel member. If more than three (3) meetings are missed, the Panel member may be replaced by APS or ATF.
 - 2.) Participate in ongoing design and oversight of the Mentor/PAR programs.
 - 3.) Maintain consistent communication and coordination with APS and ATF.
- g. Classroom teachers who are panel members and require a half-day substitute teacher to fulfill their responsibility will be supported by APS and ATF.
- h. The two (2) teachers and two (2) administrators of the JGP shall receive an annual differential of \$3,000 for serving as a JGP Panel member.
- 3. The Mentor and PAR Program Coordinators
 - a. The coordinators must hold a Level 3 teaching license, with a preference for National Board Certification, and be co-selected by APS and ATF.
 - b. The coordinators will be responsible for day-to-day activities of their specific programs.
 - c. The coordinators shall be paid according to the Level 3 Teacher Salary Matrix. Work required during the summer months shall be compensated at the coordinator's individual hourly rate of pay.
 - d. The coordinators will have the support of a full-time secretary and full-time clerk.

B. Mentor Program

- 1. Beginning Teachers who hold a New Mexico Level 1 /1-A teaching license are required to be in the District Mentoring Program for two (2) semesters. The Mentor Program is designed to support Level 1, Beginning Teachers in the development of their professional responsibilities. The program provides individual support for every Level 1 / 1A, Beginning Teacher from designated program approved Mentors who are Level 2 or 3 district teachers. The Mentor Teacher works directly with the Beginning Teacher to provide constructive, non-evaluative support. The goal of the Mentor Program is to retain the highest caliber of teachers.
- 2. Mentor Program Coordinator
 - a. Coordinator responsibilities include the following:
 - 1.) Attend Joint Governance PAR Panel meetings, as needed.
 - 2.) Develop materials and prepare reports for the JGP Panel as needed, including program guidelines and surveys results.

- 3.) Collaborate and communicate regularly with the PAR Program Coordinator regarding both the Mentor and PAR programs, and the related collaborative duties with ATF to recruit mentors.
- 4.) Oversee the Mentor application and selection process.
- 5.) Maintain responsive, up-to-date communication with district teachers, administrators, and the Department of Human Resources.
- 6.) Collaborate with the Department of Human Resources and Business Information Systems to identify qualifying Level 1, Beginning Teachers.
- 7.) Match Mentors to Level 1, Beginning Teachers.
- 8.) Oversee the selection of Lead Mentors, and their work.
- 9.) Collaboration with Lead Mentors, and ATF in the planning and development of professional development classes for the Mentors.
- 10.) Submit differentials to the Department of Human Resources and track program budget.
- 11.) Confirm completion of mentorship requirements, and enter completion data into Lawson.
- 12.) Maintain program records, including a comprehensive database, Google Classrooms, Google Classroom assigned forms, program documents and Mentor files.
- 13.) Conduct Beginning Teacher and Mentor Teacher end of year surveys; collect, analyze and prepare the data, to present at the JGP Panel yearly retreat.

3. JGP Panel Role in Mentoring

- a. The JGP Panel is the governing body of the program.
- b. All JGP Panel members are responsible for making program decisions.
- c. The JGP Panel approves and revises all guidelines for the Mentor Program, including detailed procedures and processes for Mentor selection, preparation, and support; and clearly defines roles and responsibilities.

4. Mentor Teachers

- a. The APS Mentor Program will take a comprehensive approach to providing qualified and approved Mentors for each Beginning Teacher in the school district.
- b. Mentor Selection Process
 - 1.) To be eligible to mentor a Beginning Teacher, a teacher must have attained a Level 2 License. New Mexico Teacher Level 3 Licensure is preferred.
 - 2.) Qualified teachers who desire to be Mentors, will submit an application to be eligible for the Mentor pool. Included in the application will be a letter of interest highlighting their ability to work with teachers, a list of references, and a completed Mentor Program recommendation form from each of the references listed, including, but not limited to, a principal or supervisor, a teacher colleague, and the site Federation Representative.
 - 3.) Applicants must complete an interview before being selected for the Mentor pool. Becoming a member of the Mentor pool will not guarantee a mentoring assignment. Not all Mentors will be needed and activated each school year. Whether or not a Mentor is activated will depend on the capacity to match Mentors to Beginning Teachers. The need for a specific Mentor will depend upon who is hired within the school district at large as well as at the school level.
 - 4.) Approved Mentors will remain in full or part-time positions in their classrooms or departments. This arrangement will help guarantee that Mentors maintain a connection with the daily work of classroom teaching.
 - 5.) Approved Mentors who have been inactive for three (3) or more years may be required to reapply to the program.

5. Mentor Preparation and Support

a. During the school year, assigned Mentors will receive support, technical assistance, and professional development.

- b. Mentors will attend one, two (2) hour orientation per school year, during the corresponding assignment window.
- c. Mentors will attend professional development classes monthly for two (2) hours after school that will address, but will not be limited to the following topics:
 - 1.) Overview of roles and responsibilities.
 - 2.) Record keeping responsibilities and documentation of activities that are shared with the Mentor Coordinator.
 - 3.) Research on mentoring and questioning techniques to assist Beginning Teachers to think critically about their practice.
 - 4.) Research on teacher development.
 - 5.) Formative and summative student assessment.
 - 6.) Confidentiality and the non-evaluative nature of mentoring.
 - 7.) All new Mentors will attend the introductory mentoring professional development class.
- 6. Mentor Roles, Responsibilities and Compensation
 - a. The chief role of the Mentor is to offer support and practical advice to Beginning Teachers based on observation of and discussion about experiences related to the Beginning Teachers' teaching over the course of the year.
 - b. School-based Mentors
 - 1.) School-based Mentors shall have a full or part-time teaching load and work with Beginning Teachers at their own schools as time allows, either before school, during the school day, or after school. School-based Mentors shall have access to professional leave days during the year. Substitutes may be provided for Mentors to enable them to work with or observe their Beginning Teachers.
 - 2.) School-based Mentors will receive a differential of \$1,000 per semester for mentoring one teacher in their school; \$2,000 for mentoring one teacher for one year, and \$4,000 for mentoring two teachers for one year. No more than two teachers can be assigned to a Mentor at one time.
 - 3.) School-based Mentors who are released part-time from their classroom-teaching load will maintain at least a .4 teaching load and receive \$500 for a full year for each Beginning Teacher they mentor in compliance with the Mentor responsibilities. A full load for a part-time release Mentor shall not exceed four (4) Beginning Teachers.
 - a.) Secondary level Mentors will receive release time of an average of 40 percent of their teaching load, depending on their caseload.
 - b.) Elementary Mentors may share a class.
 - c. Full-time Release Mentors and Consulting Teachers will not receive additional compensation for their work as a Mentor. The caseload for a full-time Mentor shall be no fewer than ten (10) and no more than twenty (20) beginning teachers.
 - 1.) Full-time Release Mentors and Consulting Teachers will help develop the Mentor Program by contributing their expertise and experience. They will assist in developing and implementing the professional development for the monthly Mentor teacher meetings.
 - 2.) Full-time Release Mentors and Consulting Teachers help ensure the success of the Mentor Program. Their job responsibilities may include, but are not limited to, the following as directed by the program coordinator:
 - a.) Participate in interviews for new Mentors.
 - b.) Review logs and observation forms from Mentors.
 - c.) Outreach in schools.
 - d.) Data entry and oversight of Mentor documentation.
 - e.) Help track Mentor and Beginning Teachers.
 - f.) Mediate conflicts between Mentor and Beginning Teachers.

- d. Mentor Accountability
 - 1.) Attendance—Mentors are required to attend monthly professional development meetings during their period of assignment. The following procedures will occur for absences:
 - a.) First Absence—The Mentor Program Office or program designee will contact the Mentor confirming the absence. A copy of this notification may also be sent to the supervisor of the Mentor.
 - b.) Second Absence—The Mentor Program Office or program designee will contact the mentor confirming the absence. A copy of this notification may also be sent to the supervisor of the Mentor.
 - c.) Third Absence—A meeting may be scheduled with the Mentor. Attendees at the meeting will include the Mentor, the Mentor Program Coordinator and the Mentor's supervisor. Mentor expectations and commitment will be reviewed. Termination of the Mentor's differential also may be discussed.
 - d.) Mentors at alternative calendar schools who may miss a meeting due to intercession should contact the Mentor Program Office prior to the meeting.
- e. Documentation/paperwork—In an effort to verify that a Beginning Teacher has successfully completed a year of Mentorship, documentation is required from both the Beginning Teacher and the Mentor. Due dates of such documentation are specified. The following procedure will occur when documentation is not submitted in a timely manner:
 - 1.) First Instance—The Mentor Program Office or program designee will contact the Mentor regarding lack of documentation. A copy of this notification also may be sent to the Mentor's site supervisor.
 - 2.) Second Instance—The Mentor Program Office or program designee will contact the Mentor regarding lack of documentation. A copy of this notification also may be sent to the Mentor's site supervisor. Adjustments to differentials may be applied.
 - 3.) Third Instance—A meeting may be scheduled with the Mentor. Attendees at the meeting will include the Mentor, the Mentor Program Coordinator, and the Mentor's supervisor. Mentor expectations and commitment will be reviewed. Termination or return of the Mentor's differential also may be discussed at this meeting.
- f. Supervisors shall retain full responsibility and authority to evaluate Beginning Teachers being mentored in the program.
- g. Lead Mentor Roles, Responsibilities, Compensation
 - 1.) A Lead Mentor is a professional colleague who is an experienced Mentor with the Mentor Program.
 - 2.) A Lead Mentor must hold a Level 2 or Level 3 License. NBCT and Level 3 are preferred.
 - 3.) A Lead Mentor must apply, interview, and be selected for the role.
 - 4.) A Lead Mentor shall communicate and collaborate with other Lead Mentors and the Mentor Program Coordinator to plan for and ensure the smooth delivery of professional development for Mentors or Beginning Teachers.
 - 5.) Job Description
 - a.) Lead Mentors will continue in their current positions as site-based teachers.
 - b.) A Lead Mentor teacher will attend professional development planning meetings with other Lead Mentors and the Mentor Program Coordinator.
 - c.) A Lead Mentor will deliver monthly professional development classes to a group of Mentors for utilization with their Beginning Teachers.
 - d.) A Lead Mentor will communicate with the Mentor Coordinator prior to the day of the class to ensure smooth delivery of the professional development, and to provide a syllabus and monthly agendas.

- e.) Lead Mentors will help develop the Mentor Program by contributing their expertise and experience. They will assist in developing and implementing the professional development for the monthly Mentor Teacher classes.
- f.) A Lead Mentor will prepare and organize materials needed to deliver professional development, conduct attendance, and submit class evaluations.
- g.) A Lead Mentor will collect and review professional development class evaluations following each Mentor/class and then will utilize the feedback to guide future professional development planning and delivery.

6.) Compensation

- a.) Lead Mentors who successfully complete all job responsibilities and provide professional development will receive an annual differential of \$3,000 for their services in recognition of their additional responsibilities and time worked beyond the professional day and year.
- b.) Lead Mentors who successfully complete all job responsibilities and facilitate meetings with, but do not provide PD, will receive an annual differential of \$1,000.

7. Beginning Teachers

- a. Beginning Teachers in the program will receive support and technical assistance that reflect the developmental nature of their initial experiences in the classroom.
- b. A Mentor will be assigned to each Beginning Teacher based on relevant area of licensure or grade level.
- c. During the school year, Beginning Teachers will meet regularly with Mentors to discuss their progress and individual needs; be observed by, and receive feedback from, their Mentor frequently, and complete required documentation specified by the program. They also will have the option to work with their Mentors during professional leave days.
- d. Beginning Teachers who are assigned a Mentor within the first nine weeks of the semester, will receive credit for a full semester of mentoring. Official assignment is done by notification to the Mentor by the Mentor Program Coordinator.
 - 1.) If a Mentor is assigned after the first nine weeks of a given semester, the Beginning Teacher will be required to complete one additional semester of mentorship the following year, for a total of two semesters.
- e. All level 1 teachers will be offered an opportunity to attend the summer New Teacher Academy

8. New Teacher Orientation (NTO)

- a. The NTO is jointly created annually by APS and ATF.
- b. Invited to address the new employees are the Superintendent of Schools (or designee), the President of the Federation (or designee), and the Mentor Program Coordinator.
- c. The NTO will include information about APS services sponsored by APS Department of Human Resources, including a Mentor Program Booth as part of the on-site sign-in process.
- d. Upon completion of the hiring process, APS Department of Human Resources will provide registration materials for the NTO to the new employee.
- e. Upon completion of the hiring process, the APS Department of Human Resources department will provide names of the new employees to the Mentor Program Coordinator and to ATF on a regular basis including completed RTH with position descriptions, New Hire, Inactive, and Licensure reports.

C. Essential and Related Services Educators (E&RSE) Mentor Program General Provisions

 Essential and Related Services Educators (E&RSE) who are new to APS will have access to the knowledge and guidance of a Mentor from the same professional role group as the beginning educator.

- a. E&RSE employees are entitled to the support of a mentor for two (2) semesters with the exception of Diagnosticians and School Psychologist, who are required to be mentored for two (2) years.
- 2. E&RSE include employees in the following role groups:
 - a. Counselors
 - b. Nurses
 - c. Social Workers
 - d. Interpreters
 - e. Audiologists
 - f. Speech Language Pathologists
 - g. Occupational Therapists
 - h. Physical Therapists
 - i. Diagnosticians
 - j. School Psychologists
 - k. Rehabilitation Counselors/Transition Specialist
 - 1. IEP specialist
 - m. BCBAs
- 3. The Mentor Program will provide individual support from designated program- approved E&RSE Mentors preferably located in close proximity (site, cluster, zone) as the beginning educator.
- 4. E&RSE Mentor applications will be processed by the Mentor Program Coordinator who approves the Mentor applicants into the E&RSE Mentor Pool.
- 5. Once approved, Mentors will be matched by the applicable role group to beginning educators, as needed.
- 6. E&RSE Mentor applicants should hold a PED Level 2 or 3 license, with three (3) years' experience in APS required, unless otherwise requested by the APS supervisor.
- 7. The role of the E&RSE Mentor is to:
 - a. Provide non evaluative guidance, support, and feedback.
 - b. Focus on professional practices, standards, and requirements.
 - c. Communicate on a 2 x a week basis with the beginning educator.
 - d. Be conducted separately from clinical supervision.
- 8. For the categories of employees mentioned above it is the responsibility of the Department of Human Resources Department to inform the Mentor Program Coordinator of all new hires.
- 9. E&RSE Mentors will attend one orientation per school year, at the beginning of the corresponding assignment window, for program details.
- 10. The Mentor Program Coordinator will collaborate with the role group supervisor for each role group in the development and maintenance of their corresponding Google Classrooms, Google Classroom assigned forms and their data collection, and E&RSE Mentor files. The mentor program will be responsible for collecting and keeping mentorship related data.
 - a. The E&RSE Mentor will complete the end-of-the-year Mentor Survey for program feedback.
 - b. The E&RSE Beginning Educator will complete the end-of-the-year Beginning Educator Survey for overall program feedback.
 - c. E&RSE Mentors will receive an annual differential of \$1,000 per semester for mentoring one new employee; \$2000 for mentoring one new employee for one year and \$4,000 for mentoring two new employees for one year. No more than two new employees can be assigned to a Mentor at one time.

D. Peer Assistance and Review (PAR)

1. The PAR Program is an intervention program designed to help improve the performance of teachers who are having difficulties in the performance of their professional responsibilities. Help and support are provided through peer assistance from a Consulting Teacher. The Consulting

Teacher works directly with the struggling teacher to provide constructive and intensive intervention. The goals of the PAR Program are to develop and maintain the highest caliber teachers.

2. PAR Coordinator

- a. The work of the PAR Coordinator includes the following:
 - 1.) Provide support for PAR program and for Mentor Program when needed.
 - 2.) Collaborate and communicate regularly with the Mentor Program Coordinator regarding both the Mentor and PAR programs.
 - 3.) Work with principals to:
 - a.) Present information and answer questions about the PAR process and program.
 - b.) Aid in writing improvement and site plans as needed.
 - c.) Discuss and document support provided to a teacher prior to implementation of a District Improvement Plan.
 - 4.) Communicate regularly with the Department of Human Resources and other relevant APS personnel regarding improvement plans and their implementation.
 - 5.) Communicate regularly with the Department of Human Resources and ATF Staff about PAR clients.
 - 6.) Oversee the day-to-day work of the Consulting Teachers to include:
 - a.) Create and conduct training for the Consulting Teachers at the beginning of each school year and as needed.
 - b.) Coordinate the assignment of clients and volunteers to Consulting Teachers.
 - c.) Provide feedback on Consulting Teacher reports prior to the PAR Panel presentation.
 - 7.) Work with the PAR Panel by:
 - a.) Keeping data (database and spreadsheet) and making reports.
 - b.) Creating and distributing PAR Panel meeting agendas and resources.
 - c.) Scheduling and facilitating PAR Meetings.
 - 8.) Communicate PAR Panel recommendations to the appropriate Department of Human Resources and ATF staff.
 - 9.) May support PAR clients, beginning teachers and/or volunteers.
 - 10.) Disseminate information and answer questions from teachers about Voluntary Consulting Teacher Support.

3. JGP Panel Role in PAR Recommendations

- a. The JGP Panel is the governing body of the program.
- b. Six (6) members of the JGP Panel are decision-makers for PAR recommendations (2 teachers, 2 administrators, the Union President or designee, and the Executive Director of Labor Relations or designee). As PAR program staff members, the Mentor Program Coordinator and PAR Coordinator are excluded from making PAR recommendations.
- c. The Joint Governance PAR Panel monitors intervention work and makes employment recommendations.
- d. A staff person from both APS and ATF may participate in PAR meetings concerning individuals receiving PAR support.
- e. Support shall be offered to teachers experiencing difficulties in the performance of their professional job responsibilities in the following order of priority:
 - 1.) Teachers on Intensive Evaluation
 - 2.) Teachers on an Improvement Plan
 - 3.) Teachers who voluntarily seek assistance

Note: Teachers interested in Voluntary Consulting Teacher Support should contact the ATF, the PAR Coordinator, or the Mentor Program Coordinator to learn more about the position.

- f. Communication with the principal consists of an initial contact and sporadic questions about process as needed. The Consulting Teacher does not report on client progress to the principal.
- g. In cases where the teacher has obtained voluntary assistance from the program, it is the prerogative of the teacher to notify the principal that they are receiving voluntary intervention help. Otherwise, support remains confidential.

4. Consulting Teachers

- a. A Consulting Teacher is an experienced Mentor Teacher released part-time or full-time from the classroom. The Consulting Teacher is a professional colleague who provides support for teachers who are on an Intensive Evaluation plan or an Improvement Plan or who are accepted as a volunteer. The Consulting Teacher possesses classroom management and pedagogical strategies and the ability to apply these strategies across various subjects and grade levels. The Consulting Teacher possesses the oral and written communication skills necessary to motivate and support adult learners. Additionally, the Consulting Teacher has the ability to work cooperatively and effectively with other professional staff members.
- b. Consulting Teacher Roles and Responsibilities
 - 1.) The Consulting Teacher provides weekly non-evaluative intensive instructional support to the classroom teacher.
 - 2.) Consulting Teachers will have the responsibility of working with and communicating with the school principal, the teacher, and the JGP Panel.
 - a.) Consulting Teachers do not evaluate. The principal remains the evaluator and will continue with observations. It is recommended that observations, feedback, and memos from the principal occur every two weeks.
 - b.) The principal and the Consulting Teacher can concurrently recommend specific opportunities for professional development (such as classes, workshops, etc.) that are directly connected with the Improvement Plan.
 - c.) Most formal conferences only include the teacher and the principal. Some conferences may involve the principal, the teacher, the Department of Human Resources, and the ATF staff representative.
 - d.) The Consulting Teacher will report to the JGP Panel on, or near, the target date(s).
 - e.) The Consulting Teacher maintains confidentiality.
 - f.) Consulting Teachers who are working with teachers on an alternative calendar or schedule may be asked to flex their time to accommodate their client.
 - g.) Consulting Teachers have the responsibility for research and development for the intervention program and assist in writing the final program guidelines as directed by the Program Coordinator.
 - h.) Consulting Teachers will be assigned to work first with teachers who are on a District Intensive Evaluation and then be assigned to work with teachers on a District Improvement Plan or approved volunteers until they reach their intervention limit. It is recommended that:
 - (1.) Teachers who volunteer receive consultation and visits if PAR has capacity.
 - (2.) Teachers on a District Improvement Plan receive weekly consultation and visits from a PAR Program Consulting Teacher for the purposes of instructional support based on the goals in the Improvement Plan.
- c. Teachers on a District Intensive Evaluation receive additional consultation and visits from a PAR Program Consulting Teacher for the purposes of instructional support based on the goals in the Intensive Improvement Plan.
 - 1.) Consulting Teachers who do not have a full intervention load will assist with the Mentoring Program by contributing their expertise and experience.

- a.) Responsibilities may include, but are not limited to, the following as directed by the Mentor or PAR Coordinator:
 - (1.) Participate in interviews for new Mentors.
 - (2.) Review logs and observation forms from Mentors.
 - (3.) Outreach in schools.
 - (4.) Data entry and oversight of Mentor documentation.
 - (5.) Help track Mentor and Beginning Teachers.
 - (6.) Mediate conflicts between a Mentor and a Beginning Teacher.
 - (7.) Assist in developing and implementing the professional development for the monthly Mentor teacher meetings.
- d. Consulting Teachers may mentor Beginning Teachers who are not yet assigned by the first or third quarter of the school year.
 - 1.) Consulting Teachers who teach part-time and are assigned a Beginning Teacher at their school site will complete their Mentoring effectively within the days they are there and are entitled to the \$2,000 Mentoring differential if the mentoring takes place during the time assigned at the school. This differential is based on the same assumption that the time required to work effectively as a Mentor usually extends beyond the duty day.
 - a.) Consulting Teachers who teach part time and are assigned to work with a Beginning Teacher at another site during the time released for Consulting Teacher work will earn a differential of \$500 per Beginning Teacher for the time it takes to effectively mentor and keep up with the duties as described above, if the mentoring takes place during the time assigned as a Consulting Teacher.
 - b.) Consulting Teachers who are released from the classroom to work as a Consulting Teacher will not receive a differential for working with Beginning Teachers.
 - c.) The Mentor expectations for the Consulting Teachers are the same as those for other Mentors except attendance at Mentor meetings is not required.
 - d.) Consulting Teachers may assist in the interviewing and selection of Mentors and Consulting Teachers.
 - e.) Consulting Teachers will serve no more than three (3) years unless a fourth (4th) year is mutually agreed to by APS, ATF, and the Consulting Teacher.
 - f.) Termination from the position may be at the request of either the Consulting Teacher or based on performance as determined by the supervisor.

5. PAR Process

- a. APS and ATF will present jointly to principals at a designated time at the beginning of each school year. The presentation will include, but not be limited to:
 - 1.) An overview of the PAR Program.
 - 2.) Data about the program.
 - 3.) The process for placing teachers on a District Improvement or an Intensive Evaluation Plan including the Evaluator's responsibilities in the PAR process prior to placing an employee on an Improvement Plan are as follows:
 - a.) Evaluator identifies a pattern of concern(s) in the teacher's performance. Concerns regarding the teacher's performance may come about as a result of formal observations, walkthroughs, drop –ins, or other evidence of teaching problems.
 - b.) Evaluator confirms the pattern with evidence from a formal observation.
 - c.) Evaluator converses with teacher to notify them of the concern(s).
 - (1.) The evaluator addresses the specific concern(s) with the teacher verbally or in writing if already addressed verbally.
 - (2.) The evaluator advises the teacher that communication about the concern(s) will continue and a follow-up discussion is scheduled in a specified time frame.

- (3.) The evaluator provides targeted assistance to the teacher and documents the assistance provided.
- (4.) If there is insufficient improvement, the evaluator, and the teacher will meet to review the documentation (meetings, memos, concerns, observations, etc.). If appropriate, the evaluator will inform the teacher that a District Improvement Plan will be written. Then, a meeting with the teacher, evaluator, a representative from the Albuquerque Teachers Federation, and a Department of Human Resources Representative is scheduled.
- (5.) The concerns, evidence, expectations, support, improvement plan, and a target date for improvement will be reviewed at this meeting.
- (6.) Once the teacher is placed on an improvement or intensive evaluation plan, a Consulting Teacher will be assigned if there is space available in the PAR Program.
- b. Implementation of Employee Improvement or Intensive Evaluation Plan
 - 1.) Support provided by the Consulting Teacher through the PAR Program is not optional for employees on District Improvement or Intensive Evaluation Plans.
 - 2.) The evaluator will continue to make regular classroom observations and provide summary memoranda (feedback) as to what has been observed. The memos will include reminders of expectations if the teacher is or isn't making expected progress, as well as areas of improvement.
 - Walk-through visits are not evaluative and thus are in addition to the regular classroom observations noted above.
 - 3.) Prior to meeting with the teacher, the Improvement or Intensive Evaluation Plan will be drafted. Specific concerns and expectations will be identified in the plan.
 - 4.) PAR support will be provided to a teacher at the beginning of an Improvement Plan unless the program does not have the capacity to provide assistance. The PAR Coordinator will work with the evaluator, APS Department of Human Resources, and ATF to confirm that the PAR program is the appropriate support for each situation.
 - 5.) At the first meeting between the principal, APS Department of Human Resources, the ATF representative, and the teacher, the Improvement Plan will be discussed, revised if necessary, and signed.
 - a.) Once signed, the Improvement Plan will be sent to the PAR Coordinator.
 - b.) The PAR Coordinator will assign a Consulting Teacher and the responsibility for coordinating and providing support will shift from the school site to the Consulting Teacher.
 - c.) The teacher will be advised of the support provided through the PAR process and informed of the role of the Consulting Teacher. The Consulting Teacher will explain elements of the plan for the teacher and provide appropriate interventions.
 - (1.) The teacher is responsible for meeting with their assigned Consulting Teacher.
 - (2.) If Competency 9 (*The teacher works productively with colleagues, parents, and community members.*) is the only competency of concern, then support will not be provided through the PAR Process.
 - (3.) Once a teacher is placed on an Improvement Plan to address Competency 9, a meeting will be scheduled with the teacher, principal, and an ATF representative to discuss options other than PAR for providing support regarding Competency 9.
 - d.) A target date for the Improvement or Intensive Evaluation plan shall be established.
 - e.) At each target date for an Improvement or Intensive Evaluation plan:
 - (1.) The Consulting Teacher and Principal will meet with the JGP Panel to review all summary memos and a synopsis of their evaluation, observations, and

debriefings based on the improvement plan. Afterward, a JGP form will be provided to the principal by the Department of Human Resources. A determination, based on the JGP panel's recommendations, will be made. The Panel can recommend one of the following:

- (a.) Intervention be discontinued and employment continues: the teacher met the expectations of the Improvement Plan and is no longer on Improvement or Intensive Evaluation.
- (b.) Intervention be continued or intensified for a specified amount of time.
- (c.) The employee be discharged/not renewed.
- (2.) A meeting will be held with the teacher, principal, the Department of Human Resources, and an ATF staff representative to notify the teacher that they did or did not meet the expectations of the Improvement Plan by the target date if the amount of support increases, or the recommendation is discharged or not renewed.
- f.) It is the principal's responsibility to communicate the decision to the teacher in a summary letter as soon as five (5) but no later than ten (10) working days.
- g.) The statutory process for termination/discharge will be followed.

Article 10, ESSENTIAL AND RELATED SERVICE SUPPORT EDUCATORS (E&RSE)

- A. E&RSE include employees in the following role groups
 - 1. Counselors
 - 2. Nurses
 - 3. Social Workers
 - 4. Interpreters
 - 5. Audiologist
 - 6. Speech Language Pathologist
 - 7. Occupational Therapist
 - 8. Physical Therapist
 - 9. Diagnosticians
 - 10. School Psychologist
 - 11. Transition Specialist/Rehabilitation Counselors
 - 12. Athletic Trainers
 - 13. BCBAs/BMS
- B. New Hire salary placement
 - 1. Salary placement will be based on PED licensure and degrees as specified below in 10.C.
 - 2. Credit within each salary matrix shall be given for all years of qualified experience in a licensed educational role
 - 3. One year of qualified experience is designated as at least five hundred seventy (570) hours of verifiable experience.
 - a. ADN nurses, Certified Therapist Assistants (COTAs), and Physical Therapy Assistants are paid on the TAN Schedule which is ninety (90) percent of the appropriate column of salary matrix.
- C. Advancement in pay matrices
 - 1. Advancement from Level 1 to Level 2 is based on the following:
 - a. Years of experience
 - b. Successful yearly evaluations
 - c. PED licensure level
 - 2. Advancement from Level 2 to Level 3 is based on the following:

- a. Years of experience
- b. Successful yearly evaluations
- c. PED Licensure level
- d. A masters' degree
- 3. Advancement requires a minimum of three (3) years of experience at each level.
 - a. Three (3) year is defined as at least one hundred sixty (160) days of work in a year of the equivalent of four hundred eighty (480) days over three (3) years.
 - b. ADN and LPN nurses, Certified Occupational Therapist Assistants (COTAs), and Physical Therapist Assistants (PTAs) eligible to advance to Level 2 based on:
 - 1.) Three (3) years of experience at Level 1.
 - 2.) Successful yearly evaluations

D. Movement between role groups

- 1. The District and Federation agree that the opportunity to move to a new educational role and remain in APS benefits both the employer and the employee.
 - a. E&RSE employees who are qualified and interested in moving to the New Mexico Teacher 3-Tiered Licensure System and teachers who are qualified and interested in moving to an E&RSE role may do so without reduction in correct compensation level.
 - 1.) Although the employee's current salary will be held harmless, employees in a new role group will be responsible for all the terms and conditions of the New Mexico 3-Tiered Licensure system for that role and must advance in the state system to the commensurate level of compensation within eight (8) years.
 - 2.) These rights also apply to educators new to APS with out-of-district experience.

E. Reciprocity

- 1. Essential and Related Service personnel with verified experience in private sector work as a licensed practitioner in the same role group will count toward salary placement. For example, if the employee has six (6) completed years of related experience and the appropriate credentials, they will be placed at Level 3, step 7. If the employee has three (3) completed years of out of district experience, they will be placed at Level 2, Step 4. If the employee has fewer than three (3) years of directly related experience, they will be placed at Level 1 and the step will correspond with their completed years in that field.
- 2. Employees receiving reciprocity for salary placement based on private sector experience, employees will be responsible for all the terms and conditions of the New Mexico 3-tiered compensation level of compensation within eight (8) years.
 - a. To receive reciprocity employees must provide verification of licensed experience by September 15 to the Department of Human Resources.
 - b. Essential and Related Service personnel who leave employment in APS to work in the private sector or other district, and then return to APS will be given credit for the years in private sector work on the salary matrix.
 - c. Nurses will be granted credit for positions that require professional licensure as a nurse (LPN, RN, and PN).

F. Verifiable Experience

- 1. For Counselors, Nurses, Social Workers, Interpreters, Audiologist, Speech Language Pathologist, Occupational Therapist, Physical Therapist, and Athletic Trainers one year of qualified experience is designed as at least five hundred seventy (570) hours of verifiable experience.
- 2. For educational diagnosticians, transition specialist, licensed school psychologist, and BCBAs one year of qualified experience is designated as at least six hundred (600) hours of verifiable experience (W-2 forms are acceptable verification of experience).
 - a. Days or hours of experience in different school years may be totaled for experience.
- 3. Verification forms must be submitted with documents for employment.
- G. E&RSE Reimbursements & Certification Differentials

- 1. E&RSE shall be reimbursed up to:
 - a. \$200 a year for professional association fees.
 - b. \$200 for licensure fees.
 - c. \$500 per year for professional development/CEUs.
 - 1.) Reimbursement for subscription access to CEU courses must also be accompanied with verification of completed courses and/or CEUs earned from that subscription.
- 2. Differential pay in the amount of \$1,300 shall be offered to E&RSE servicing students on a verifiable caseload in the following District Programs:
 - a. Intensive Global Support 1 (IGS1)
 - b. Intensive Global Support 2 (IGS2)
 - c. Social Communication Support (SCS2 or SCS3)
 - d. Social Emotional Support 1 (SES1)
 - e. Social Emotional Support 2 (SES2)
 - 1.) Educators must submit the Differential Eligibility Form for the occasional loss of lunch and preparation due to servicing students in the above programs.
- 3. A credential differential of \$1000 shall be paid for additional relevant professional certifications and endorsements to E&RSE staff and Community School Coordinators.
 - a. An agreed-upon list of current and applicable credential differentials will be co-created and distributed by the District and the Federation within the first month of each school year.
 - b. Educators may submit up to ten (10) of these differentials annually.
 - c. Items submitted for reimbursement may not also be submitted for certification differential.
- 4. Annual Certification Review Process
 - a. APS will disseminate online forms to all appropriate E&RSEs sometime during the first two weeks of October and March.
 - b. Federation Representatives will be invited to meet with a representative of ATF and APS, online or in person, during the last two weeks of October and March, to review the applications that were submitted.
 - c. APS will inform, in writing, all E&RSEs as to why specific submissions were denied.
 - d. Federation Representatives will be invited to meet by the end of April to update/refine/review the certification criteria and process for the following year.
 - e. Federation Representatives will update the "Annual List of Approved Certifications" for their role groups for the following year, based on input from their members, and submit the lists to APS and ATF representatives by the last day of school.
 - f. APS Representatives will review the lists and submit the final "Annual List of Approved Certifications" for all E&RSE role groups to ATF by the first day of the school year.
 - g. APS will inform ATF, in writing, regarding the reason for removal of any certifications from the lists.
 - h. ATF will be allowed to submit justifications to APS regarding removed certifications with the option of having them reinstated to the lists.
- 5. Criteria for Certification Differentials
 - a. Enhances skills for your professional role in the educational setting.
 - b. Training provided by a credentialed professional or through a specialized business providing education and certification opportunities in the field of the presented material.
 - c. Minimum of six (6) hours of coursework that culminates in either an exam or an assessed presentation of skills learned. You must be able to provide a certificate of completion or a copy of passing test results.
 - d. Some certificates may last for multiple years and therefore will be paid out one (1) time per year until the certificate expires.
 - e. Some certifications do not expire and therefore will be paid out one time per year until they no longer meet the rubric criteria.

- 6. Speech and Language Pathologist (SLP) and SLP evaluators who possess a current Bilingual; or ESL endorsement shall receive a differential of \$500 effective the beginning of the school year. (Note, this may change if we agree the add bilingual Evaluators)
 - a. Credential Compensation for Speech and Language Therapist (SLP) and SLP Evaluators
 - 1.) Additional \$2,500 for TESOL endorsement.
 - 2.) Additional \$5,000 for Bilingual Endorsement.
 - 3.) Additional \$5,500 for both TESOL and Bilingual Endorsements.

H. ADN & LPN Hiring Practices

- 1. Hiring of Associate Degree Nurses (ADN)
 - a. The parties recognize that while the hiring of a BSN-prepared nurse is a current requirement and would always be the preferred option, the district has been unable to fill all current nursing positions and has had to utilize agency nurses, some of whom are ADN nurses. The parties further recognize that agency nurses are expensive to employ.
 - b. Given that ADNs hold the same nursing license from the New Mexico Board of Nursing and that they take the NCLEX exam and must pass the exam to be called a Registered Nurse, they are held to the same Standards of Care and hold the same liability as a BSN-prepared nurse. The significant difference between the ADN and BSN is that the BSN has completed a four-year degree and the ADN has two (2) to three (3) years of college hours.
 - c. Given these facts, the parties agree to the following stipulations that would make hiring ADN nurses permissible:
 - 1.) ADN nurses with at least three (3) years of nursing experience may be hired provided that they are actively pursuing a bachelor's degree in nursing.
 - 2.) ADN nurses shall be given two (2) years to complete their degree. If, due to unforeseen circumstances, more than two (2) years are needed to complete the degree requirements, individuals would need to apply for an extension, this would be approved on a case-by-case basis.
 - 3.) ADN nurses with three years of nursing experience may enter at ninety (90) percent of Level II pay.
 - 4.) Upon completing a BSN, the employee will be moved the following year to one hundred (100) percent of the appropriate step of Level 2.
 - 5.) The expectation for those ADN nurses entering under these conditions would be that they are performing at, and are evaluated based on, Level II competencies.
- 2. Hiring Licensed Practical Nurses (LPN)
 - a. LPNs are licensed to specifically practice under the direction of an RN
 - 1.) The New Mexico School Health Manual (page 9) states, "The principle role of the school Licensed Practical Nurse (LPN) is to assist the licensed school nurse with the implementation of the school health program by providing practical nursing care for students in the health room and by meeting the complex needs of medically fragile/severely disabled students."
 - 2.) The LPN must be supervised by the RN school nurse.
 - 3.) LPNs are assigned in schools with a high enough acuity to require more than one nurse.

I. Athletic Trainers

- 1. An Athletic Trainer with a teaching license, who is eligible to advance in the teacher licensure system may only do so in the 3-Tiered Teacher Licensure system and as such must submit and pass a professional development dossier (PDD).
 - a. An Athletic Trainer will continue at their current level and step, or advance to a higher level and step, based on verifiable years of experience. Starting in 2016-2017, verifiable years of service outside of APS shall count towards step and level within APS.
 - b. An Athletic Trainer who does not possess a teaching license may advance based on:
 - 1.) Three (3) years of experience at Level 1

| Athletic Trainer Duty Day Form | | |
|---|--|--|
| Athletic Trainer (please print): | | |
| Principal (please print): | | |
| High school (please print): | | |
| Location Code: | | |
| Whereas, it is stated in the APS/ATF Negotiated Agreement, Appendix J,19 "Memorandum of Understanding: Athletic Trainers": | | |
| The Athletic Trainer (AT) position is a full-time equivalent consisting of a 6.5hr duty day. a. The duty day may vary from a continuous period of time by mutual agreement between the administrator(s) and the Athletic Trainer. b. The duty day may be flexed based on a consensus agreement between the school's administrator(s), and the Athletic Trainer. All Athletic Trainers will have a minimum of a .8 Athletic Trainer position and a maximum of a .2 teaching position. ATs can be assigned to teach one (1) class. Additional class assignments within the duty day shall be subject to the approval of the Principal and the Zone Associate Superintendent. | | |
| In mutual agreement of the Athletic Trainer and Principal, the AT duty day will be as follows: Start time: End time: | | |
| All standard teaching and AT duties will fall within this time period. Additional AT duties, qualified in the Sports Medicine Handbook, are compensated via the AT differential. | | |
| (Principal signature) (Athletic Trainer signature) (Date) | | |
| 2) Suggestial works avaluations | | |

- 2.) Successful yearly evaluations.
- c. An Athletic Trainer who has a teaching license, but no longer requires that license to complete job responsibilities, may choose to advance using either the state dossier system or as stated above in Section C above.
- a. The Athletic Trainer (AT) position is a full-time equivalent consisting of a 6.5-hour duty day.
- b. All Athletic Trainers will be allocated a 1.0 to fulfill their athletic training duties. Additional class assignments within the duty day shall be subject to the approval of the Principal and the Zone Associate Superintendent for a two-tenths (.2) extended contract.
- 2. Athletic Trainers will receive a differential of \$7,092.
 - a. The differential is intended to compensate for additional related duties outside of the 6.5 hour duty day including but not limited to:
 - 1.) Assignments that begin prior to the start of the school year.
 - 2.) Weekday evenings, Saturdays, and other time periods as specified in the APS Athletic Handbook.
 - 3.) Athletic Trainers shall be reimbursed up to \$500 for CEU's necessary to keep their license.

Article 11, SPECIAL EDUCATION

A. Conditions of Professional Service

- 1. Employment
 - a. All existing and newly hired 1-A licensed special education teachers will be obligated to participate in twelve (12) hours of APS provided professional development.
 - b. Twelve (12) hours of professional development, provided outside of the regular duty day, is a condition of employment during both the first and second years for all 1-A licensed special education teachers in APS.
 - c. Starting in the 2014-2015 school year, all newly hired Special Education and 1-A special education teachers who are assigned to teach in an Intensive Global Support 1 (IGS1), Intensive Global Support 2 (IGS2), Social Communication Support (SCS2 or SCS3), Social Emotional Support 1 (SES1), and Social Emotional Support 2 (SES2) classroom (self-contained or full-day as defined by the district Special Education Department) are required to attend three (3) days of training prior to the beginning of school.
 - 1.) For current special education employees assigned to teach in the programs previously listed, attendance for the training is optional.
 - a.) Compensation for the training will be at the employee's daily rate of pay.
 - d. For educational diagnosticians, social workers, transition specialists and licensed school psychologists, one year of qualified experience is designated as at least) six hundred (600) hours of verifiable experience (W-2 forms are acceptable verification of experience).
 - 1.) Days or hours of experience in different school years may be totaled for experience.
 - 2.) Educational diagnosticians and licensed school psychologists shall be given all their indistrict experience in either job classification on each other's salary matrix.
 - 3.) Audiologists, Occupational Therapists and Physical Therapists with clinical doctorates as an entry-level credential will be placed on the A-3 salary matrix working a one hundred and ninety-eight (198) day year six and one-half (6.5) hour day.
 - e. Board-Certified Behavior Analysts (BCBA) will be placed on salary matrix A-3.
 - 1.) The job description for a Board-Certified Behavior Analysts will include, but not be limited to:
 - a.) Supervise the work of behavior therapist; and
 - b.) Provide feedback to behavior therapists in order to modify academic and behavior programs best meet student needs.

2. School Year

- a. For employees on the A-1, A-2 and A-3 salary matrices, the work year shall consist of one hundred eighty-eight (188) workdays.
- 3. Duty Day
 - a. The duty day for employees on the A-3 salary matrices shall consist of six and one-half (6 ½) hours excluding a lunch period. The duty day shall be a continuous period of time.
- 4. Special Education Teacher Preparation Time
 - a. The parties have a mutual interest in ensuring that special education teachers receive sufficient preparation and planning time.
 - b. The parties agree to the following:
 - 1.) Before the beginning of each school year, secondary schools will submit a plan detailing how preparation periods/times are scheduled. If preparation time is scheduled for teachers through coverage by non-licensed employees, the lesson or activity should be associated with the class curriculum or students' IEPs.
 - 2.) Teachers shall not be required to send students to another teacher (who has a class of students) to get their preparation period.

- 3.) Each elementary school shall strive to equalize the amount of preparation time general and special education teachers receive. Each elementary school shall submit a plan detailing how it has tried to equalize the amount of preparation time general and special education teachers receive.
- 4.) The establishment of a joint panel to make determinations or offer recommendations about conflicts or problems associated with issues related to this memorandum of understanding and any future agreements related to the topic of special education preparation time.
- c. The parties agree to discuss and attempt to reach conceptual agreements on the following issues prior to the start of 2012-13 negotiations:
 - 1.) Ways in which special education licensed personnel can be assigned to school sites (either one school site or, if funding is not available, multiple sites) to free up time for preparation and planning for teachers. Increasing licensed personnel would allow teachers to get preparation time and ensure that students receive instruction from a licensed teacher.
 - 2.) Assuring that scheduled recess times at elementary schools designated as preparation time include all special education teachers.
- d. The parties agree to jointly research the financial impact of creating elementary school schedules that allow for meaningful and educational activities or lessons to be conducted by an educational assistant during specials and physical education instruction.
- 5. Cameras in Special Education District Program Classrooms
 - a. Cameras in the classroom may not be in use for any reason without the express written consent of the educator(s) assigned to that classroom.
 - 1.) Written consent must be obtained on a yearly basis .
 - b. The video and/or audio from the camera may only be used in defense of the educator in legal/employment matters unless the employee acted fraudulently or with actual intentional malice causing the bodily injury, wrongful death or property damage resulting in the settlement or final judgment.
 - c. The recordings shall not be used in any way for instructor evaluations or observations and shall only otherwise be disclosed in accordance with and as required by law.
 - d. Only the School Police Department and the designated school administrator may have access to the live feed or the recordings and will only disclose recordings in accordance with and as required by applicable law.

B. Remuneration and Professional Services

- 1. Differentials
 - a. Each Special Education Head Teacher at the High School, Middle School, and Elementary levels differentials shall be based on the size of the team (department) as follows for non-released head teachers:
 - 1.) Teams with 1 6 members —\$4,000 Teams with 7 - 15 members - \$5,000
 - b. Schools with 16 or more members will be reviewed by the APS Sped Department and ATF for possible transition to a full-time release position in accordance with Article 11.B.1.d.
 - 1.) All release head teacher positions will receive a differential of \$3,100.
 - c. Teachers who teach in Intensive Global Support 1 (IGS1), Intensive Global Support 2 (IGS2), Social Communication Support (SCS1 or SCS2 or SCS3), Social Emotional Support 1 (SES1), and Social Emotional Support 2 (SES2) classes shall be paid five one-hundredths (.05) of the individual teacher's contracted salary. Compensation is being provided in

- recognition of occasional preparation time and lunch periods that are lost due to the unique nature of these classrooms.
- d. The District shall continue to schedule preparation time and lunch periods for teachers and make every effort to continue to honor preparation time and lunch periods for Intensive Global Support 1 (IGS1), Intensive Global Support 2 (IGS2), Social Communication Support (SCS1 or SCS2 or SCS3), Social Emotional Support 1 (SES1), and Social Emotional Support 2 (SES2) teachers.
 - 1.) The additional .05 compensation shall be the only compensation provided for all lost preparation periods or lunches. If individual teachers or schools are experiencing a high number of incidents involving lost preparation time and lunch periods, teachers shall notify the principal in writing when the preparation time or lunch time is lost, and the parties agree to address each individual situation with the teachers and schools involved.
 - a.) Should additional pay be required for lost preparation or lunchtime, it will be paid on time sheets from school funds. If school funding is unavailable, the principal will contact the Department of Human Resources.
 - b.) Those who are actually contracted to teach during their preparation period shall be paid two tenths (.2) of their contracted salary under Article 6, A.7.a. of the agreement, but shall not receive an additional .05 compensation.
- e. Intensive Global Support 1 (IGS1) and Intensive Global Support 2 (IGS2) within special education classrooms shall be provided one (1) differential of \$1,517 for the coordination of the extramural Special Olympics.
- f. BCBAs will receive a \$2,000 credential differential.
 - 1.) Educators with a Board-Certified Behavior Analyst (BCBA) Certificate employed in positions other than a BCBA shall receive a differential of \$1000 effective the beginning of the school year.
 - 2.) Every effort shall be made to include A-2 employees in IEPs.
- 2. Head Special Education Teacher
 - a. Special Education Head Teachers at the High School, Middle School, and Elementary levels responsibilities include to:
 - 1.) Assist in the development and management of a Master Calendar for IEPs and METs at school sites. If possible,
 - a.) Use Microsoft® Outlook® calendar.
 - b.) Combine annual IEPs and METs to reduce number of meetings.
 - 2.) Ensure that Sponsor Teachers understand it is their responsibility to create FBAs and BIPs if needed.
 - 3.) Arrange for IEP coverage for teachers in conjunction with the Administration.
 - 4.) Collaborate with the diagnostician on the scheduling of METs.
 - 5.) In collaboration with sponsor teacher, facilitate, write, and/or act as Local Educational Agency (LEA) representative/principal-designee at IEPs.
 - 6.) Coordinate with sponsor teachers and facilitate the submission of REEDs.
 - 7.) Schedule, plan, and chair school-based Special Education Department meetings.
 - 8.) Disseminate information to the school's special education staff.
 - 9.) Provide assistance regarding special education laws, policies, and procedures.
 - 10.)Coordinate resources/curriculum adoption and material ordering for the department.
 - 11.) Assist members of the department, by coordinating with school administration, technology support personnel and IEP specialist for technology, support regarding all special education computer software needs. (Synergy, Microsoft® Outlook®, etc.).
 - 12.)Communicate with feeder schools regarding current classes/services to determine appropriate programming needs for progression to the next school level.

- 13.) Assist in the development of the special education portion of the school's master schedule.
- 14.) Create a system for the scheduling of individual special education students according to their IEPs.
- 15.)Ensure that all relevant and required IEP documents are delivered to Special Education Records or uploaded into Synergy.
- 16.)Coordinate with sponsor teachers and facilitate the submission of ESY paperwork.
- 17.)Complete and submit transportation forms for any student who may not yet have a sponsor teacher.
- 18.) Update, coordinate, and distribute class lists to Special Education staff.
- 19.) Communicate with related service providers prior to the first day of school regarding their student class lists.
- 20.) Assist the diagnostician with the compilation of out-of-district/state student transfer information.
- 21.)Communicate with sped.data@aps.edu to ensure accuracy of class lists.
- 22.) As new students enter throughout the school year, inform relevant related service providers of the services listed in the IEP.
- 23.)Contact the District Special Education Department when considering placement of a student in an Intensive Global Support 1 (IGS1), Intensive Global Support 2 (IGS2), Social Communication Support (SCS2 or SCS3), Social Emotional Support 1 (SES1), and Social Emotional Support 2 (SES2) classroom.
- 24.) Attend District Special Education Department sponsored meetings and trainings.
- b. The District will provide a substitute for Head Special Education Teachers with classroom teaching duties.
- c. Election/Selection Procedure for Head Special Education Teacher
 - 1.) Head Special Education Teachers must have a minimum of a Level II license.
 - 2.) To elect a teacher leader with a Level 1 license, the department/school must follow the contract waiver procedure described in APPENDIX L of the Negotiated Agreement.
 - 3.) Election/Selection procedures for choosing all Teachers Leaders, including a procedure for resolving tie votes, will be agreed upon by the constituents before elections take place. Teachers shall be counted as a member of each team in which they teach. Personnel from each team shall agree to choose Teacher Leaders in one of the following manners:
 - a.) Head Teacher shall be elected by the constituents they are elected to serve.
 - b.) Members of the constituency shall select two (2) or more persons and submit names to the principal who shall choose a Head Teacher from that list.
 - 4.) Term of Office
 - a.) Head Teachers shall serve for a period of two (2) years.
 - b.) If the position becomes vacant during the two-year term, a replacement shall be named for the remainder of the term according to the election/selection procedure described above.
- d. The District and the Federation agree that, as funds become available, the position of Head Special Education teacher at each school site will transition from an elected position to an allocated FTE. If the position of Head Special Education Teacher comes with an allocation, then principals may hire specifically for that position. It will be a requirement of the job to attend Special Education Department sponsored meetings and trainings scheduled specifically for this role group.
 - 1.) The parties further agree that priority consideration for FTE allocations will be given to schools with either:
 - a.) The greatest number of special education programs or;

- b.) A large number of programs serving Intensive Global Support 1 (IGS1), Intensive Global Support 2 (IGS2), Social Communication Support (SCS1 or SCS2 or SCS3), Social Emotional Support 1 (SES1), and Social Emotional Support 2 (SES2) students and,
- c.) Based on release time available for the Head Teacher to perform their duties as determined by the school's special education department and the principal.
- 2.) The transition from an elected position to an allocated FTE will be:
 - a.) At the end of the elected term or during a vacancy and
 - b.) By mutual agreement between ATF and APS
- e. Procedures to Address Concerns: The following procedure will occur if there are concerns with the Head Teacher's ability to fulfill their responsibilities:
 - 1.) The principal will contact the Head Teacher about the concern with the teacher's ability to fulfill their responsibilities based on the Head Teacher job description.
 - 2.) If the concern continues, it will be documented and the principal will contact the support principal for support and training assistance.
 - 3.) If, after support is provided, and the concern persists, a meeting will be scheduled with the Head Teacher. Attendees at the meeting will include the Head Teacher, the support principal, the site principal, and a representative from ATF, if requested. Termination of the teacher leader's position also may be determined at this time.
 - 4.) The Head Special Education Teacher Rubric will serve as the evaluation tool to be used for both the members of the department and the principal in charge of special education at the site to provide feedback.

C. Leadership Councils

- 1. APS and ATF recognize the following Leadership Councils:
 - a. Nurses
 - b. Counselors
 - c. Social Workers
 - d. Speech and Language Therapists
 - e. Transition Specialists/Rehabilitation Counselors
 - f. Evaluators (Diagnosticians, School Psychologist, SLP and OT Evaluators)
 - g. Special Education Department Head Teachers
 - h. Motor Therapist (OT, PT, OMS, APF)
 - i. Low Incidence Groups (VI itinerants, HI itinerants, Audiologist, OMS)
 - j. Signed Language Interpreters
 - k. IEP Specialist
- 2. These councils will operate as role group instructional councils and operate in accordance with Article 7 of this agreement.

D. Evaluation Procedures

1. The school principal(s) and the district administrator responsible for the role group shall collaborate on the evaluations of transition specialists. The Special Education Department Administrative staff shall evaluate educational diagnosticians and school psychologists.

E. Assignment and Transfers and Vacancies

- 1. Vacancies in Essential & Related Service Positions
 - a. If a Special Education Related Services position becomes vacant, the provisions under Article 17.D ("Vacancies in Non-classroom Positions") shall commence.

- 1.) Once the position(s) for related service personnel is/are posted on the APS Special Education website, employees may apply for a voluntary transfer.
- 2.) All efforts shall be made for the creation of 1.0 FTE combinations within proximity of existing vacant positions or through mutual agreement with RSP personnel.
- 3.) The individual site and the corresponding program, according to FTE needs or combinations thereof, shall offer allocated positions.
- 4.) If two (2) or more qualified candidates have submitted requests for the same vacancy, preference will be given to the most senior employee based on their date of hire.
- 5.) Vacancies shall be defined as indefinitely open positions.
- 2. Vacancies in Special Education Teacher Positions
 - a. Overload Compensation
 - 1.) Additional compensation will be paid for services and responsibilities related to student IEPs of those students assigned to the teacher's caseload, if the caseload exceeds the teacher's contract, including any extensions for teaching during a prep period.
 - a.) Teachers receiving this additional compensation are entitled to minimum preparation minutes per week as per Article 5, E., unless the teacher has agreed to teach during their preparation time.
 - b.) A full caseload for Special Education Developmental Pre-school classroom teachers is sixteen (16).
 - 1.) Overage pay is based on the number of students per session. Morning and afternoon sessions are capped are eight (8) student each.
 - 2.) The special education head teacher will work with the site administer to level the morning and afternoon sessions and report overages.
 - c.) A teacher may choose to stay at their original employment contract and a caseload that does not exceed that contract.
 - d.) Teachers will be notified of the temporary nature of this additional compensation. If, and when, vacancies are filled, caseload and pay will be adjusted.
 - e.) Starting in the 2022/2023 school year, caseload compensation will be reflected in an "overload" category on the pay stubs of those employees receiving this pay.
 - 2.) The District will base additional compensation on caseloads as recorded in Synergy on official count dates (40th day, 80th day, 120th day, EOY).
 - a.) Overload compensation is for services to students required by the IEP and related work.
 - b.) Release Head Teachers are eligible for overload compensation for any caseload assigned to them, up to a .99 caseload.
 - c.) Release Head Teachers may not carry more than .99 worth of student caseload.
 - 3.) At each of the official count dates listed above, the Special Education Department will calculate each employee's excess caseloads using the Synergy FTE report run at 4:30 p.m. on the count day for active students.
 - a.) Excess Class FTE is defined as the difference between a teachers' class FTE and the teachers' employment contract. This includes any extensions for teaching an additional class during the teacher's preparation time.
 - b.) A teacher who has received a .2 extended contract for teaching an additional class during their preparation period shall remain eligible for additional compensation, beyond their 1.2 extended contract, for additional special education caseload assigned to them due to vacancy by mutual agreement.
 - c.) The excess caseload FTE will be multiplied by 299 (the number of hours per quarter in a teaching contract 1196/4), multiplied by the individual teachers' hourly rate.
 - (1.) Payments will be submitted after each count date.
 - (2.) Payments will not be impacted by substitute teachers employed at the school.

- (3.) Teachers will not be required to submit paperwork for the extra compensation. It will be paid automatically when an overage exists.
- (4.) The PED does not approve waivers for caseloads of 2.0 or higher. Therefore, overload payments will be capped for classroom teachers carrying a caseload over 1.99 FTE.
- 4.) Concerns about balanced caseloads, an overage that is not reflected on a counter date, or a shortage of staff necessary to address all needs should contact the Federation or Human Resources.
 - a.) It shall be the responsibility of the APS Special Education Department in conjunction with site administration to ensure caseloads do not exceed the aforementioned caps for classroom teachers and release head teachers.
 - b.) Both release head teachers and classroom teacher shall be entitled to all overload compensation if the caps are exceeded and adjustment are not made in a timely manner.
- 5.) Vacancies will remain posted until filled. Once filled, the respective caseload and compensation will revert to their original state.
- 6.) Issues will be reported by teachers to the Federation. Issues will be reported by school administrators to the Special Education administration.
- 7.) ATF and APS agree to investigate further possibilities of creating a similar pay system for general education teachers who take on additional duties/responsibilities due to vacancies.
- 8.) During the 2019-2020 school year, SLP and Social Worker caseload overages will be discussed at Contract Administration Committee.

b. Curricular Needs

- 1.) Peer-reviewed research and evidence-based programs and other professional credentials in relation to program need and the identification of involuntary transfers.
 - a.) Because the District has an interest in having a special education teacher/provider at each site trained in peer-reviewed research and evidence-based programs, the Federation and the District agree:
 - (1.) If there is a reduction in the special education teaching staff at a school, and the employee who is trained in evidence-based programs is the least senior person, then the case will be brought to a panel made up of one ATF person and one APS person.
 - (2.) The APS/ATF Panel will consider the needs of the school's special education students and the background and qualifications of the special education staff in peer-reviewed research and evidence-based programs.
 - (3.) In the event the District believes that a teacher's credential or level of training constitutes a program need not identified in Article 16. B. 7. of this Agreement, the case will be addressed as in a.1 and a.2 above.

F. Special Education Continuum of Service Delivery Options

- 1. As the Albuquerque Public Schools (APS) and the Albuquerque Teachers Federation (ATF) seek to continue providing quality services, many innovative models of service delivery have emerged. Any model for service delivery needs to accommodate all services as indicated on an individual student's IEP.
 - a. The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) requires that a school provide a continuum of service delivery options to meet the varied individual needs of students who are eligible to receive special education services. Such a continuum could include the following:
 - 1.) Full participation in the general education class—the student pursues the same objectives within the same activities

- 2.) Multilevel instruction—students attend the general classroom but pursue different objectives at multiple levels based on individual need
- 3.) Curriculum overlapping—a group of students is involved in the same lesson in the general education classroom but pursuing goals and objectives from different curricular areas
- 4.) Alternative participation—students pursue alternative activities if the general education class does not address student needs through strategies described above
- 5.) Participation in general education classes and alternative special settings
- 6.) Self-contained special education services
- b. Some models of service delivery within this continuum are part of an overarching strategy called "co-teaching" and include:
 - 1.) Supportive Teaching— one teacher presents content, another provides enrichment
 - 2.) Parallel Teaching—teachers sometimes work in separate groups in the classroom
 - 3.) Complementary Teaching—certain learning strategies within the context of a content lesson
 - 4.) Team Teaching—both teachers share the whole class instruction; lessons can be divided and there may be simultaneous instruction
 - 5.) The intent of the IDEA is to serve all children within the general education setting (whenever appropriate) with the use of supplemental aids and services. Removal from general education should occur only after the IEP Team can justify that the student's needs cannot be satisfactorily met in the general education setting, even with supplemental aids and services. The District and the Federation support all schools in their endeavors to achieve the least restrictive environment for each student.

G. Definitions

- 1. Often, the differing interpretations of terms are so varied that meaningful dialogue becomes hampered. The following definitions are offered to develop a common vocabulary. The following terms have a basis in state and federal regulations.
 - a. Special Education: The IDEA guarantees that students with disabilities will have "a free appropriate public education (FAPE) that emphasizes special education and related services designed to meet their unique needs."
 - b. Least Restrictive Environment: A term referred to in IDEA that requires:
 - 1.) To the maximum extent appropriate, children with disabilities, including children in public or private institutions or other care facilities, are educated with children who are not disabled and that placement in special classes, separate schooling, or other removal of children with disabilities from the regular educational environment occur only when the nature or severity of the child's disability is such that education in general education classes, with the use of supplementary aids and services cannot be achieved satisfactorily.
 - c. Inclusion: Not a term used in regulation but is a philosophy (not a program or strategy) that believes all students in a school should have equal access to all programs and services in an integrated setting. It is a belief that each individual is valued and belongs to the school and the surrounding community.

H. Special Considerations and Suggestions

- 1. The following considerations and suggestions are provided to assist schools in structuring services to meet special education students' individual needs:
 - a. Special education is an integral part of the total educational enterprise, not a separate entity, nor a place. It is a means of enhancing the capacity of the educational system to serve the needs of all students.

- b. Decisions about the appropriate education for students with disabilities must be made on an individual student basis. Each decision must be a cooperative venture involving educators, parents and, when appropriate, the student.
- c. The aim of any service must be to facilitate the provision of an appropriate education for the student. A clearly stated educational rationale is necessary to remove a student from their current educational setting to a restrictive environment within the continuum of services.
- d. The commitment to educate a student with disabilities in the general education classroom setting should continue to the degree that it is consistent with meeting the specific needs of that student.

I. Summary

- 1. The planning, selection, and availability of service options must be based solely on individually identified student needs. In all cases, the general education setting must be considered first, especially given the strategies available to general and special education personnel. If, after special consideration, it is determined that the student will not benefit from full participation in the general education setting, a variety of other settings may be considered with the least restrictive educational setting identified as a guiding principle.
- 2. There have been proposals by some schools to eliminate all self-contained or segregated special education service options. This would obviously result in a continuum of services not being made available to students in those schools. The District and the Federation support individual children being served in a general education classroom 100 percent of the time with appropriate support as just one option within the continuum of services. The District and the Federation cannot support full inclusion as a policy/practice in which all students with disabilities receive their total education within the general classroom, without regard for their individual needs. All schools are expected to meet the individual needs of their students unless the district has created a specially designed classroom to meet the needs of a low incidence population of students.

Article 12, PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

- A. The Board and Federation recognize that they have a basic responsibility to provide opportunities for the development of those entering the education profession and the continual improvement of educator in the District.
- B. If the District allocates SIS (Substitute In-Service) to the schools, the principal in collaboration with the faculty will determine the utilization of the SIS days. The utilization of the SIS days shall be equitable and in conformity with guidelines as promulgated by the Superintendent or designee.
- C. Schools may be granted upon request the use of a regular school day for the purpose of in-service programs/training without students in attendance. Such requests may be made when a new program is being implemented, a new school is being opened, or major changes are being planned.
- D. In-service days so identified by the District that have the effect of extending the calendar beyond one hundred eighty-eight (188) days shall be paid at the rate of \$25 per hour. Participation for such days shall be voluntary.

Article 13, EVALUATION PROCEDURES

A. Educator evaluation serves multiple purposes. These include improving the overall quality of the educator workforce by identifying and building on individual strengths, identifying quality instructional practices that improve student learning, providing support and feedback to educators, and ensuring valid employment decisions. Both principals and educators have roles and responsibilities within the evaluation process.

- 1. Evaluation of educators shall be performed by the school principal, assistant principal, or site supervisor.
- 2. The school principal(s) and the District administrator responsible for the role group shall collaborate on the evaluations of transition specialists, counselors, and nurses. The Special Education Instructional Managers shall evaluate Educational Diagnosticians and School Psychologists.
- 3. The Nursing Services Department Administrative staff shall evaluate School Nurses. The NM Board of Nursing Nurse Practice Act requires that nurses be supervised and evaluated by a nurse, a dentist, or a physician. Therefore, supervision of School Nurses is shared by the school principal and the Senior Director of Nursing. The Senior Director of Nursing evaluates nurse compliance with standards of nursing practice, while the school principal evaluates attendance, interaction with school colleagues, and similar administrative areas.
- 4. Principals may be assisted in their evaluation by other District administrators.
- 5. Employees assigned to two (2) or more schools will be evaluated collaboratively by the principals and/or District administrators.
- 6. Special Education employees at three (3) or more sites are evaluated by department administrators.

B. Frequency of Evaluation

- 1. Educators will be evaluated each year of service as an educator as per Public Education Department regulations.
- 2. A Professional Development Plan (PDP) is an individualized plan that is intended to improve teaching. Each plan should be unique to the goals and growth areas identified by the educator and their supervisor and meet the requirements of the Public Education Department regulations. A PDP will be required of educators every year. PDPs may be written to extend over three years but must be initialed yearly. Information regarding the PDP will be shared with the educator within forty (40) workdays after the beginning of the school year.
- 3. Educators will be formally observed whenever there is a concern regarding performance.
- 4. Walk-through observations are unscheduled and unlimited.
- 5. Educators may request to be observed at any time.

C. Observation Process

- 1. All monitoring or observation of the work performance of an educator will be conducted openly and with full knowledge of the educator.
- 2. Prior to a scheduled observation, the educator may request that the administrator return at another time. If the request cannot be honored, the educator may place a statement to that effect with the observation form.
 - a. Educators have the right to request an alternative observer from the District for one of the two formal observations. The request for an alternative observer shall not be unreasonably denied.
- 3. There will be a minimum of one (1) pre-observation conference, observation and post-observation conference during each school year the educator is being observed. Within four (4) weeks of the pre-observation conference, an observation and a post-observation conference will be held. The post-observation conference with written feedback will occur within five (5) calendar days of the scheduled observation(s).
- 4. Written feedback will be finalized and provided within ten (10) calendar days after the conference.
- 5. An educator may request a post-observation conference at any time.
- 6. All observations will be documented, reviewed, and signed by the evaluator and the educator. If additional observations have occurred and have been documented, the educator shall receive copies of such documentation.
- 7. Prior to the last day of the school year, the principal and the educator shall review, complete and sign the appropriate documentation to complete the observation cycle. The educator shall have

the opportunity to provide written comments. The completed report including the Professional Development Plan and any attachments shall be submitted to the Department of Human Resources for inclusion in the educator's personnel file. The educator's signature shall constitute acknowledgment that the educator has read and understood the observation report.

- D. If an educator who has signed three (3) consecutive full year contracts with the District exhibits unsatisfactory performance, the following due process procedures shall apply:
 - 1. The principal will informally discuss with the educator the unsatisfactory performance and the changes necessary to improve.
 - 2. If the unsatisfactory performance continues, the principal will meet with the educator to discuss the unsatisfactory performance, recommendations for assistance to the educator, and timelines for the necessary changes in performance.
 - 3. If the unsatisfactory performance continues, the principal will make a written recommendation to the Superintendent to initiate the Intensive Evaluation process outlined below.
 - 4. If the Superintendent approves the recommendation, the principal will send a letter notifying the educator of the decision and will meet with the educator to discuss the following:
 - a. the unsatisfactory performance;
 - b. recommendations for change in performance;
 - c. timelines for necessary change in performance;
 - d. suggestions for assistance to employee which may facilitate change in performance;
 - e. scheduled observation with pre- and post-conferences;
 - f. possible employment consequences including, but not limited to, disciplinary action or termination;
 - g. initiate and discuss the Intensive Evaluation process;
 - h. inform the employee of the mandatory right and requirement to go through the PAR process if there is an available Consulting Educator to work with the employee exhibiting unsatisfactory performance.

See Article 9 D5

- 5. The District will follow the Public Education Department regulations governing uncorrected unsatisfactory work performance in relation to the discharge or termination of educators due to uncorrected unsatisfactory work.
- 6. All reports and documents relative to the Intensive Evaluation process will be reviewed, signed, and dated by the principal and educator and attached to the completed Intensive Evaluation Report Form. These documents will be sent to the Department of Human Resources at the end of the process to be placed in the educator's personnel file. The educator will receive copies.
- 7. If the situation is resolved within the established timelines, a letter to that effect will be sent to the educator from the principal with a copy placed in the personnel file.
- 8. If the situation is not resolved within the established timelines, a case review will be conducted by the principal and other appropriate administrators to make recommendations to the Department of Human Resources for administrative action.

Article 14, PERSONNEL FILES

- A. There shall be one (1) file for each educator which shall be maintained in the Department of Human Resources. Except for files provided in Article 26, paragraph H., no other files shall be maintained except for duplicates of materials kept in the central files and information that the principals maintain prior to submitting to the Department of Human Resources.
 - 1. Materials directly and solely related to pre-employment references and references directly related to internal promotions where written references are required, shall be placed in a separate envelope in the file, and the contents shall not be subject to inspection by the educator.

- 2. Except as provided in 1. above, materials in school or District files shall be subject to inspection by the educator.
- B. Administrators with legitimate District business related to the educator's employment will have access to an educator's confidential and open files.
- C. No anonymous or unsigned information may be placed in any educator's file. Incident reports made to the principal shall not be placed in the file maintained by the Department of Human Resources until such report has been investigated by the principal or appropriate department.
- D. Each educator will have access to one's file.
 - 1. The educator has the right to be accompanied by any individual while examining one's file.
 - 2. The educator has the right to designate in writing a Federation representative who may have access to the educator's file. Persons designated shall be authenticated as bona fide Federation representatives by a Federation officer.
 - 3. An educator's file shall be available for inspection within a reasonable time after it has been requested.
- E. The educator will be given the opportunity to see any information prior to placement in one's open file except information related to routine file maintenance.
 - 1. The educator will be provided a copy of such material upon request. The educator shall acknowledge having read these materials by affixing one's signature on the actual copy/copies to be filed.
 - 2. Any information or materials which are derogatory to an educator's conduct, service, character, or personality shall not be placed in an educator's file unless and until the educator has been given the opportunity to examine the information or material.
 - 3. Any information placed in an educator's file(s) may be removed at the request of the originator of said material if agreed to by the educator affected.
- F. The educator has the right to respond in writing to anything placed in that educator's open file and have such response placed with the material to which the response relates.
- G. Each individual, except persons performing routine file maintenance, will, upon receiving confidential and/or open files for any purpose, affix that individual's signature to the jacket of the file indicating date of usage.

Article 15, SENIORITY PROVISIONS

A. Seniority

- 1. Seniority shall be based upon the educator's continuous length of service with the District within the bargaining unit.
 - a. Time spent on sabbatical leave or advanced study leave granted for the purpose of gaining an additional endorsement/certification and completed under the provisions of Article 18,
 O.2.a.4. shall be counted for seniority purposes and shall not break continuous service. Time spent on all other leaves of absence shall not be counted for seniority purposes but shall not break continuous service.
 - b. Time spent in a District position that requires an educational license shall be counted for seniority purposes and shall not break continuous service.
 - c. In the event educators have the same date of hire, the date on which the position was offered shall prevail for seniority purposes.
 - d. Part-time educator seniority shall be considered only among other part-time staff.
- 2. The District shall maintain and provide to the Federation the seniority list of the bargaining unit. Additionally, each school shall be provided the seniority list, based on District seniority for the educators in that school.

Albuquerque Public Schools Part-time and Request for Reduction of Contract

| | | 10 4114 | | | | | |
|---|---|--|----------|--|--|--|--|
| Request : | for Reduc | tion of Contract | | | | | |
| I, the undersigned, request that my contract be reduced from status to status | | | | | | | |
| effective/ I understan | | | | | | | |
| | accommodate my request. Furthermore, if my request is granted, I understand that the district | | | | | | |
| | s under no obligation to increase my FTE at such time that I may wish to do so. I understand hat my current school/location is only obligated to continue my contract at the part-time rate | | | | | | |
| • | | • | | | | | |
| indicated by this form. I also unde | • | 1 0 | | | | | |
| have seniority over a 1.0 FTE, i.e. | | | | | | | |
| years. A job-sharing situation is an | n exception. Ple | ase see negotiated agreement | for more | | | | |
| information. | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| Employee Name (Print) | | Employee Signature | | | | | |
| 2 | | man de la companya de | | | | | |
| | | | _ | | | | |
| Employee Number | | Current Assignment | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| Work Location | | Date Signed | _ | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| D: 10 C: 4 | | D. 4. St 1 | _ | | | | |
| Principal's Signature | | Date Signed | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| From: (FTE) To: (| (FTE) | Effective Date: | | | | | |
| Current Status | New Status | Enective Date | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| Copy: Personnel File | | | | | | | |
| Employee Benefits | | | | | | | |
| Employee | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |

B. Reduction-in-Force (RIF)

In the event the District deems it necessary to initiate a reduction in the bargaining unit work force, the following conditions shall apply:

- 1. Layoff
 - a. The District shall determine the number and type of positions to be affected by the RIF.
 - b. Prior to initiating a RIF, the District will attempt to absorb the necessary reductions through attrition and the nonrenewal of short-term educators as defined in Article 5, A.8.

- c. Certified school instructors with fewer than three (3) full-contract, consecutive years of service shall be laid off before educators having three (3) or more full-contract, consecutive years of service except when a position exists for which no certified school instructor having three (3) or more full-contract, consecutive years of service is qualified. The procedure for the layoff and recall of educators having fewer than three (3) full-contract, consecutive years of service shall be determined in consultation with the Federation. The District reserves the right to make all final decisions.
- d. A certified school instructor, having three (3) or more full-contract, consecutive years of service, shall not be laid off if there is an available teaching position in the District for which the instructor is certified and qualified. The following factors shall be used to determine qualification:
 - 1.) Affirmative action goals;
 - 2.) Verifiable extracurricular and/or co-curricular needs; and
 - 3.) Qualifications being equal, seniority in the District shall control.

2. Recall

- a. The District shall determine the number and type of positions to be affected by the recall.
- b. For a period of one (1) year after the effective date of the termination of an educator with three (3) or more full-contract, consecutive years, the District shall offer to such person any position(s) which becomes available for which the person is certified and qualified provided that person files with the Superintendent a written request to reacquire employment within thirty (30) days after the effective date of termination.
- c. If more than one (1) person who was terminated or discharged within the calendar year prior to recall is certified and qualified for the position to which a person will be recalled, the same qualifying criteria will be applied to the order of recall as were applied to the layoff in paragraph l. d. above. Qualifications being equal, seniority in the District shall control.
- d. Any person selected for recall shall be given written notice of the recall. Failure to accept the position in writing within fifteen (15) calendar days of the mailing of the recall notice shall constitute forfeiture by the recalled person of further rights under this provision.
- e. Any educator recalled within one year under this section shall not lose any seniority held before having been subject to the RIF procedure.

Article 16, STAFFING

A. Student-Teacher Ratios

- 1. In determining student-teacher ratio, only classroom teachers shall be counted, except in those cases where other staff members teach part-time. In such cases, that portion of time spent in the classroom shall be counted in determining student-teacher ratio.
- 2. Excluding preparation time, that portion of the time spent outside the classroom by a classroom teacher may not be counted in determining student-teacher ratio.

B. Class Size

- 1. After the first twenty (20) days of school, enrollment figures for all classes in each school shall be available for Federation review within five (5) school days after such request.
- 2. Any request made of the Public Education Department for deviation from state class size requirements or approval of a special program shall be made available to the Federation upon request.

Refer to Appendix B—Class Size Requirements

3. The number of students assigned to a teaching facility shall not exceed the number prescribed by safety regulations or the number of workstations.

C. Daily Teaching Load

- 1. The daily teaching load per teacher for Grades 7-12 shall not exceed one hundred sixty (160) students except for required English classes which are limited to 150 students per day in Grades 9-12 and 135 students per day in Grades 6-8.
- 2. A waiver to the 160 student per day limit may be requested by the District and granted by the Public Education Department (PED). There are two conditions under which a waiver to the limits established for class sizes and daily teaching loads may be granted. The waivered class sizes can be found in Appendix B.
 - a. Condition 1—The state may waive the individual school class load requirements (*see Appendix B*) as established in provisions of state statute. Waivers shall be applied for annually and a waiver shall not be granted for more than two consecutive years. Waivers may only be granted if a school district demonstrates that:
 - 1.) no portable classrooms are available;
 - 2.) no other available sources of funding exist to meet its need for additional classrooms;
 - 3.) the school district is planning alternatives to increase building capacity for implementation within one year; and
 - 4.) the parents of all children affected by the waiver have been notified in writing
 - a.) of the statutory class load requirements;
 - b.) that the school district has made a decision to deviate from these class load requirements; and
 - c.) of the school district plan to achieve compliance with the class load requirements.
 - b. Condition 2—The Public Education Department (PED) may waive the individual class load and teaching load requirements established in state statute upon demonstration of a viable alternative curricular plan (i.e., Block Scheduling) and a finding by the PED that the plan is in the best interest of the school district and that, on an annual basis, the plan has been presented to and is supported by the affected teaching staff. The PED shall evaluate the impact of each alternative curricular plan annually.
- 3. Teachers not in support of an alternative curricular plan may choose not to waive the statutory class load/teaching load limits by not signing a waiver.
- 4. Increased teaching load due to no substitute coverage
 - a. In the event that no substitute coverage is available in an elementary school, and classes of students are divided among other classes for a day or more, teachers proving instruction for the extra students assigned to them will be provided compensation by dividing the daily sub rate equally among them.
 - b. In the event that no substitute coverage is available in a secondary school, and classes of students are divided among other classes for a class period or more, teachers providing instruction for the extra students assigned to the will be provided compensation by dividing the daily sub rate equally among them.
 - 1.) This language does not apply if a teacher has already agreed to cover a class by selling their prep time.

D. Block Scheduling

- 1. When block scheduling results in the number of students seen by any teacher in a given day exceeds one hundred sixty (160), written consent of the teacher(s) affected must be obtained in the form of a signed waiver by the affected teacher(s) which then must be submitted to the PED for approval.
- 2. Schools on block scheduling should:
 - a. Do so with the intent of improving instruction, student achievement, student attendance, and student safety as well as increasing opportunities available for students such as dual enrollment and access to additional electives;

- b. Consider the importance of prior and ongoing professional development opportunities designed to provide staff with the appropriate training to implement block scheduling as well as adjusting planning and preparation strategies for the resulting longer class periods; and
- c. Staff in a manner which will result in an adherence to the maximum class load of one hundred sixty (160) students seen in any given week by any individual teacher except for required English classes which are limited to one hundred fifty (150) students per day/thirty (30) per class in Grades 9-12 and one hundred thirty-five (135) students per day/twenty-seven (27) per class in Grades 6-8.

E. Online, Blended, and Adjunct Teachers

- 1. Integration teachers
 - a. A full-time integration teacher will have an online class load of no more than one hundred seventy-seven (177) active enrolled students.
 - b. A full-time integration teacher will also monitor a lab at a high school during lunch, 5th, 6th, and 7th periods.
- 2. BlendED teachers
 - a. A full-time BlendED teacher will have an online class load of no more than one hundred seventy-seven (177) active enrolled students.
 - b. BlendED teachers teach one (1) face-to-face class two (2) times per week.
 - c. Monitor labs and help sessions at eCademy for full time students.
- 3. Adjunct teachers (.2)
 - a. Adjunct teachers have a .2 case load no more than sixty (60) students.
 - b. A (.2) adjunct contract is available to all full-time staff based on student enrollment.

Article 17, ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFERS

A. Assignment

- 1. Pursuant to highly qualified requirements, teachers shall not be assigned to teach any class which is outside the scope of their teaching licenses. Teachers may be assigned outside the scope of their teaching licenses only if authorized by the Public Education Department and with the concurrence of the teacher.
- 2. The principal will consult with individual teachers regarding the number of preparations, subject areas, or grade level to be taught by the teacher.
 - a. Individual courses that have separate course titles or course numbers.
 - 1.) Classes that have a specific curriculum/content.
 - 2.) Classes that have different levels, i.e., Spanish I, Spanish II, Spanish III, etc.
 - 3.) Classes that are normally taught in different semesters, i.e., Algebra I, first semester, Algebra I, second semester which are taught concurrently.
 - b. Secondary teachers shall not be required to teach in more than three (3) subject areas or have more than three (3) preparations, or combinations thereof, except by agreement with the teacher.
 - 1.) Secondary teachers who agree to have more than three (3) preparations will sign the Waiver to Teach More Than Three Preparations form in Appendix J.15.
 - 2.) The agreement must be re-signed yearly.

| Waiver to Teach More Than Three Preparations Form | | | |
|---|--|--|--|
| Teacher's name: | agrees to teach (number of) | | |
| preparations during the | school year. List below the preparations agreed to as defined in | | |
| Article17.2.a. | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| Teacher's Signature | Principal's Signature | | |
| | | | |
| Date | Date | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| Each party is responsible for keeping a copy of this agreement for their records. | | | |

- c. Changes in a teaching assignment shall not be made without prior consultation between the principal and teacher(s) affected. Changes shall not be made in an arbitrary or capricious manner but shall be based on verifiable instructional program requirements. No change in assignment for the following year shall be made after the end of the school year without the teacher being notified. The teacher shall receive written notification of the reason(s) for such change in assignment as soon as possible.
- 3. Starting in school year 2023-2024, English Language Development (ELD) teachers shall have classes scheduled based on student ELD proficiency level.
 - a. ELD proficiency levels include 1, 2, 3, and 4.
 - b. Where combinations are necessary, scheduling a combination class such as ELD level $\frac{1}{2}$ and $\frac{3}{4}$ and/or by grade level $\frac{9}{10}$ and $\frac{11}{12}$ or as mutually agreed to by the classroom teacher.
 - c. Scheduling of these classes may not be based on the definition of preparations in section 2 above.
- 4. In arranging schedules for educators who are assigned to more than one school, the amount of interschool travel shall be as limited as possible. Such educators shall be notified prior to any change in their schedules.
- 5. Any nonteaching duties, if necessary, will be assigned on an equitable basis to all educators. Such duties shall be kept to a minimum. Duties performed as the primary responsibility of personnel in other bargaining units shall not be assigned to educators.

6. Educators employed prior to the beginning of a school year shall be given notice of their assignment no later than ten (10) school days after school begins. Educators employed after school begins shall be given notice of assignment at the time employment begins.

B. Voluntary Transfer

- 1. To transfer voluntarily, the educator responds to a posted advertisement in Career Opportunities (www.aps.edu) or an otherwise open position.
 - a. The Department of Human Resources will make available on the District website jobline and to all worksites where educators are assigned, the descriptions of anticipated and real job vacancies as soon as they become available. Such descriptions will include the names of the schools and types of vacancies.
 - b. Vacancies published after the last day of school shall be posted on the District website and jobline and will be available to educators at the Department of Human Resources.
 - c. Principals shall notify the Department of Human Resources of vacancies at the time the principal is notified in writing of any change that would lead to such vacancy.
- 2. Educators seeking a voluntary transfer apply directly to the applicable principal or supervisor.
- 3. To process the voluntary transfer, the principal/supervisor submits an employee request form to the Department of Human Resources.
- 4. When a voluntary transfer position is offered to the educator by the Department of Human Resources and accepted by the educator, the transfer is complete.
- 5. If an offer for a voluntary transfer does not occur prior to one (1) week before the educator's contract begins, educators will remain in their original position through the first twenty (20) day count.
- 6. Educators accepting a new position after the first twenty (20) day count will remain in their original position until the end of the current grading period. Earlier movement may occur if agreed upon in writing by both principals.
- 7. Desire to be transferred to a school closer to an educator's home shall be given serious consideration.
- 8. Voluntary transfers during the school year may be limited to two (2).
 - a. Educators may appeal a transfer that has been denied through the Office of Labor Relations by contacting the Federation.
 - b. Appeals shall be determined through Contract Administration on a case-by-case basis.
- 9. If a Special Education-Related Services position becomes vacant, the provisions under Article 17.D—Vacancies in Non-classroom Positions shall commence.
 - a. Once the position(s) for related service personnel is/are posted on the APS Special Education website, employees may apply for a voluntary transfer.
 - b. All efforts shall be made for the creation of 1.0 FTE combinations within proximity of existing vacant positions or through mutual agreement with RSP personnel.
 - c. The individual site and the corresponding program, according to FTE needs or combinations thereof, shall offer allocated positions.
 - d. If two (2) or more qualified candidates have submitted requests for the same vacancy, preference will be given to the most senior employee based on the date of hire.
 - e. Vacancies shall be defined as indefinitely open positions.

C. Involuntary Transfer (Must Hire)

- 1. Consideration for involuntary transfer shall be solely based on the instructional program needs of the school and seniority in the District. Program needs being equal, District seniority of full-time personnel will control with the least senior person being selected for placement on the "must hire" list. The criteria for determining program needs shall be the following:
 - a. educator licensure/endorsement(s);

- b. affirmative action goals;
- c. extracurricular and/or co-curricular needs;
- d. verifiable instructional program requirements; and
- e. full-time equivalency needs of the school.
- 2. Prior to the involuntary transferee(s) being selected, educators will be encouraged, in consultation with the principal, to volunteer for said transfer before the involuntary transferee(s) is/are selected. If a sufficient number of volunteers are not identified, transferees will be identified on the basis of program need and seniority in the District as stated in paragraph 1 above.
- 3. Educators on intensive evaluation shall not be considered for involuntary transfer.
- 4. If the reason(s) for the involuntary transfer becomes nonexistent ten (10) calendar days before the reporting date for educators, the educator shall have the right to return to the previous school.
- 5. Transferee(s) shall not be identified nor shall involuntary transfers be made prior to consultation between the principal and educator(s) affected. Involuntary transfers made after the start of the school year shall allow for a minimum of two (2) days written notice prior to the transfer and allow for a minimum of one (1) day prior to assuming the assignment at the new location.

D. Vacancies in Non-Classroom Positions

- 1. Notice of vacancies and call for applications in other than classroom positions within the bargaining unit will be made as such vacancies develop. The notice will include the minimum requirements, vacancy descriptions, and any applicable restrictions. Such notice, from the date of publication, shall be posted for five (5) days in each school prior to the time such vacancies shall be filled. Duties and responsibilities for which the District pays a differential are not considered to be non-classroom positions.
- 2. Job descriptions will include those qualifications normally required and will not be substantially greater than those customarily required by the District.
- 3. Applications for positions will be made in the Department of Human Resources. A notice of receipt of applications will be sent to all applicants. Applications for positions posted shall be valid only for the position applied for, or if the position is general in nature, for the school year for which said position was advertised.
- 4. The positions described herein shall be filled within the bargaining unit, to the extent possible, when the applicants have the qualifications and ability to perform the work.
- 5. When two (2) or more qualified educators apply for a vacancy, seniority shall be considered.

E. Transfer Rights

- 1. If a District program (Even Start, ISP, Deaf and Hard of Hearing, Autism, etc.) is relocated from one school site to another, the licensed employee assigned to that program shall have the option of remaining with the program and transferring to the new location, provided the following conditions are met:
 - a. There are no reductions at the new site which would result in the involuntary transfer of a qualified individual willing to teach the new program.
 - b. All other contractual requirements are met.
 - c. The teacher shall remain at the original location if a transfer is not desired; assuming instructional program and seniority requirements are met.
- 2. Full-term teachers may be offered and may accept a teaching position that has been identified as a short-term position; however, they shall do so with the understanding that if that position is no longer available at the conclusion of the term of that position, then they will be placed on the must-hire list for reassignment into a position for which they are qualified elsewhere in the District.

- a. Employees who work at a traditional calendar school cannot take a short-term position at an alternative calendar school and alternative calendar school employees cannot take a short-term position at a traditional calendar school.
- b. Full-term employees who accept positions identified as short-term shall do so with the further understanding that they are waiving any rights to remain in the short-term assignment or at the location site regardless of their seniority or qualifications, beyond the stated length of the short-term assignment which shall be for the remainder of the school year.
- c. These employees are free to pursue a voluntary transfer to another assignment prior to their being placed from the must-hire list.

F. Job-Sharing Positions

- 1. Definition: Job-Sharing is a plan whereby two (2) permanent employees share the duties and responsibilities for one (1) full-time teaching position. Salary compensation for each participant will be based on the percentage of the 1.0 position worked.
- 2. Both participants in a job-sharing plan shall attend the following District/school functions on appropriate basis, regardless of what format is used in splitting up the yearly schedule.
 - a. Orientation meetings/school registration day requirements; and
 - b. Open House.
- 3. Based on team schedule, team members are responsible for sharing information with each other and for determining coverage for the following:
 - a. Parent-Teacher Conferences;
 - b. Staff meetings;
 - c. School level staff/professional development; and
 - d. District in-service days or staff development days.
- 4. Job-Sharing teams shall be self-selected; however, the sharing of a position may only occur with the prior approval of the building principal of record at the time the request to job-share a position was made.
- 5. Each team shall perform all the usual and customary duties of a teaching position.
- 6. Job-Sharing participants shall be reemployed as part-time unit members at the percentage of a full-time equivalency that they worked in their job-shared position.
- 7. The job-shared position shall be of one (1) year duration but may be extended beyond one year, subject to the continued approval of the building principal and the willingness of the job-sharing participants.
- 8. Job-Sharing teams must advise the principal of their intent to continue or dissolve the arrangement by March 15.
- 9. Job-Sharing participants wishing to return to full-time status upon termination of the job-sharing assignment may request to do so and shall be offered full-time employment contingent upon the FTE needs of the school and vacancy availability.
- 10. Teachers new to the job-sharing program must make a proposal, to be submitted by March 15, to the building principal for approval. If a job-sharing request is denied, the teacher may request to have in writing the specific reasons for the denial within ten (10) days of the denial. The teacher must make a written request within five (5) days of the denial.
- 11. For the purposes of job-sharing, a full-time classroom position must be split either by segmenting of the day or by division of the days of the school week.
- 12. Job-Sharing participants may substitute for each other at the regular rate of substitute pay, to maintain continuity of the educational program.
- 13. A job-shared position shall be considered as a 1.0 FTE when considering the full-time equivalency needs of the school as per C. 1. e. above.
- 14. The holder of record of a job-shared position shall be the individual who was a 1.0 FTEs at the time of creation of the job-shared position. If both job-share team members were 1.0 FTEs at the

- time the job-shared position was created, the individual with the earlier Date of Hire shall be considered the holder of record of the position.
- 15. The holder of record shall have first right to the position should the job-shared position or team be dissolved for any reason assuming FTE requirements of the school are not reduced.

Article 18, LEAVES

A. General Provisions

- 1. The immediate family of an educator is the spouse, domestic partner, child, grandchild, great-grandchild, parent, sister, brother, grandparent, great-grandparent, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-law, niece, nephew, aunt, uncle, others who reside in the same household with the educator, or a person in loco parentis.
- 2. An educator who believes an improper reduction in pay has been made under Article 18, shall have ten (10) days after receipt of the paycheck in which the reduction appeared to initiate a grievance as provided in Article 26.
- 3. Application for Leave: All leaves of ten (10) consecutive workdays or fewer will be requested through and approved by the principal or supervisor. Extended leaves of more than ten (10) days with or without pay, will be requested, approved, or denied through the extended leave clerk's office in the Department of Human Resources.
- 4. All leave days are based upon the number of hours in the educator duty day.
- 5. Inappropriate use of any leave may be cause for disciplinary action.

B. Assault Leave

1. An educator shall not be charged for time lost, up to twenty (20) duty days, resulting from physical injuries caused by an assault while carrying on the duties and responsibilities as an educator. Any educator assaulted shall submit a "first report of injury" to the principal, Risk Management, and school police. The educator shall provide Form A, a police report, and medical documentation attesting to the injury to the Leaves Office. If more than three (3) days are lost as a result of the assault, the educator shall submit to the principal a physician's certificate attesting to the injury. The District reserves the right to have the educator examined by a physician chosen from a panel designated by the District and the Federation to assist the District in determining the educator's right to receive benefits under this section. Such benefits shall go into effect immediately and remain in effect until such time as it may be determined that the benefits should not have been provided and in which event the educator shall be deducted sick leave or leave without pay if sick leave has been exhausted.

C. Bereavement Leave

- 1. Three (3) days leave with pay will be granted for death in the immediate family of an educator. If requested by the educator, two (2) additional days leave with pay will be granted if the funeral is out of state or requires a round-trip of six hundred (600) miles or more.
- 2. One (1) day leave with pay will be granted for the death of a current student, or a former student currently enrolled at the educator's school site, to attend the student's funeral.
- 3. Bereavement leave is not cumulative nor is it deducted from an educator's sick leave.
- 4. If more than six (6) days of bereavement leave are used in any one school year, confirmation of the relationship to the deceased will be required by the extended leaves clerk.

D. Court Leave

1. Leave with pay shall be granted to any actively working educator called to jury duty.

- 2. Leave with pay will not be granted to an educator where absence from duty results from said educator bringing action against the District except on account of physical injuries suffered by the educator while on duty.
- 3. Leave will be granted to an educator to appear in court to assert or protect one's own interest. For this particular leave, a deduction from gross pay shall be made at the degreed substitute rate of pay for each day taken.
- 4. Leave with pay will be granted to an educator where absence from duty is required by a lawful subpoena to testify in a court proceeding or in an administrative hearing where the issue does not involve asserting or protecting one's own interest.

E. Personal Emergency Leave

- 1. An educator will be granted up to five (5) days of leave per year to cover situations beyond the control of the educator which would significantly impair teaching service. Personal emergency leave may not be used for illness or injury, or illness or injury in the immediate family. Deductions from the gross pay of an educator for this leave shall be made at the degreed substitute rate of pay for each day taken.
- 2. An educator may be granted up to five (5) days leave without pay for business or personal reasons having unusual circumstances.

F. Religious Leave

- 1. An educator will be granted up to two (2) days of leave per year for observance of recognized religious events.
- 2. Deductions from the gross pay of the educator for this leave shall be made at the degreed substitute rate of pay for each day taken.
- 3. An employee may convert one day of sick leave to one day of religious leave during the school year. This leave is not subject to principal approval; however, the employee must submit a special leave slip to his or her supervisor at least three (3) days prior to the date the leave will be taken. The employee need not disclose their religious beliefs verbally or in writing.

G. Personal Leave

- 1. One (1) day of leave with pay each year is granted to an employee for personal matters which require the employee's absence during school hours. This leave may be accumulated up to five (5) days, including leave earned under Article 6, A.15.
- 2. Except in emergency situations, this leave is not subject to principal approval, however the employee must submit a special leave slip to their supervisor at least three (3) days prior to the date the leave will be taken. The educator need not state the reason for taking leave under this section.

H. Professional Development Leave

- 1. Professional leave is provided for professional development, professional organizational activities, and school-related professional activities. An educator may be granted this leave without loss of pay when (1) serving as a representative of the District, or (2) attending conferences, workshops, meetings, seminars, or other activities related to the educator's assignment.
- 2. All educators will be granted at least one (1) professional leave day per year, to attend a conference, workshop, meeting, seminar, or other activity related to the teacher educator's assignment, where the educator will be responsible to pay for the training.

I. Political Leave

- 1. When time spent in a campaign for the purpose of securing a political office will interfere with the duties of a teacher, a leave of absence should be requested in writing by the teacher/candidate. Such leave shall be leave without pay. The District shall give a written answer to such request for political leave. This leave of absence shall be arranged for a definite period of campaigning. At the conclusion of the leave, the educator shall be returned to the former position held immediately prior to the granting of the leave and shall have all benefits accrued as if actively employed.
- 2. Leave of absence with pay shall be granted for the purpose of holding political office. The educator/office holder shall request in writing a leave within the framework of this policy and shall receive a written response defining the terms of the leave. The response shall include reinstatement upon termination of the leave and, where applicable, all benefits accrued as if the educator were actively employed.
 - a. Every effort shall be made to identify an experienced and highly qualified substitute who shall be available on a consistent basis to take over the teaching duties and responsibilities of the educator while that individual is out on political leave.
 - b. The educator shall be responsible for meeting with and planning with their political leave substitute to ensure the greatest degree of continuity of instruction possible in the absence of the educator.
- 3. Leave of absence without pay and accrued benefits shall be granted to educators who are elected to full-time, salaried positions. Upon termination of the leave of absence, the educator shall be reinstated in the same or similar position according to the personnel needs of the District.
- 4. Leave of absence with pay shall be granted to educators who are elected or appointed to parttime, non-salaried positions. The number of days granted to educators under this paragraph will
 be determined by the Superintendent except that educators elected to the New Mexico State
 Legislature will be limited to the number of days for the regular annual session and any special
 sessions plus ten (10) additional days. Any days granted beyond this number will be without pay.
 The educator shall maintain the position in the school system normally held when not serving in
 political office.
- 5. Application for such leave shall be made to the Superintendent.

J. Sabbatical Leave

- 1. Dependent upon the availability of non-District funding, an educator may be granted sabbatical leave with pay. Such leave may be for one (1) semester or one (1) year.
- 2. Only certified educators who have been actively employed by the District for at least six (6) continuous contract years preceding the granting of this leave are eligible.
- 3. Sabbatical leave shall be granted only upon agreement by the educator to return to the school system for at least two (2) years following the leave or repayment to the District of the salary received during the period of leave. A surety bond, or other collateral acceptable to the Board, must be provided by the educator as a condition of leave award.
- 4. The educator shall be guaranteed an equivalent position upon return to the school system.
- 5. The educator may continue participation in the educational retirement plan by making appropriate contributions as agreed by the District and the Educational Retirement Board.
- 6. A joint committee consisting of two (2) educators appointed by the Federation and two (2) persons appointed by the Superintendent shall screen candidates and submit the approved applicants for sabbatical leave to the Superintendent for final recommendation to the Board. The recommendation to the Board shall include any additional guidelines, including the amount of payment, for the sabbatical leave.
- 7. Request for sabbatical leave must be submitted no later than March 1.

K. Sick Leave

- 1. All active employees on matrices A-1, A-2, A-3, will accrue paid sick leave at the start of the contract year-as follows:
 - a. Those employed for one hundred eighty-eight (188) days—ten (10) days, based on the formula $(188 \times 6.50 \times 0.055) = 67.21$ hours per year, accumulating up to 1300 work hours.
 - b. Community school coordinators shall accrue sick time as follows: 206 x 8 x .055=90.64 hours per year, accumulating up to 1300 work hours.
 - c. Behavior management specialists shall accrue sick time as follows: 188 x 8 x .055=82.72 hours per year, accumulating up to 1300 work hours.
 - d. Earned sick leave will be prorated for late hires, mid-year contract changes, leaves of absence, retirees, and terminations.
 - e. The aforementioned formulas will be adjusted for individual employees who carry extended contracts for both accrual of sick leave and usage.
 - 1.) For example, an employee who carries a .2 extended contract will accrue sick time as follows: 6.5 hour duty day x 1.2 = 7.8 duty day. $188 \times 7.8 \times .055 = 80.65$.
 - 2.) An employee carrying a .05 extended contract will accrue sick time as follows: $1.05 \times 6.5 = 6.825$ duty day, so, $188 \times 6.825 \times .055 = 70.57$.
 - f. Earned sick leave benefits may be used provided the educator is on paid duty status.
 - g. If an educator uses an amount of sick leave that exceeds the amount accumulated, the educator will be docked 1/188, as applicable, of salary for each day taken, except as provided for in paragraph M.
- 2. Accrued sick leave with pay from previous years will be made available to employees the next contract year.
- 3. General Provisions
 - a. A physician's certificate regarding the employee's illness or that of an immediate family member as defined in Article 18.A may be required when the employee is:
 - 1.) Absent for four (4) or more consecutive days; and
 - 2.) Absent both on a Friday and the following Monday.
 - b. When an educator is absent due to injury (incurred during the course of employment or related thereto), the unpaid difference between benefits paid under the Workers' Compensation Act of New Mexico and the educator's regular pay shall be paid by the District from accrued sick leave benefits. The first seven (7) days of absences due to injury shall not be subject to this provision.
 - c. When an employee becomes ill, is injured, or is required to care for a sick immediate family member, sick leave begins at the time of inability to continue to work, to the nearest half-hour. An employee who is already on annual leave, personal leave, or leave without pay, including parental leave may not be eligible to use sick leave.
 - 1.) Two (2) additional days of sick leave may be used where round-trip travel is six hundred (600) miles or more.
 - d. In case of illness which exceeds ten (10) consecutive workdays, the educator must submit a written notice to the Department of Human Resources stating the probable date of return together with a verifying physician's statement. Before returning, such educator must submit a physician's release (APS Return to Work Certificate).
 - e. Educators who have been off work for any medical reason for more than ten (10) consecutive workdays may be required to have an evaluation by a treating physician.
 - f. Earned sick leave benefits may be used provided the educator is on paid duty status.
 - g. Educators may use during the school year an amount of sick leave that will equate with the total number of hours earned per year prior to actually earning the sick leave hours each month. In the event an educator uses an amount of sick leave that exceeds the total earned for

- an entire year or terminates within the year, the educator will be docked one 1/188 (or 1/198 or 1/206 as applicable) of salary for each day taken except as provided for in paragraph M.
- h. An employee who has acquired the minimum number of years of contributory employment to be eligible for retirement benefits under the Educational Retirement Board Act may now pay to have unused sick leave, earned from the member's contributory employment, and for which the member has otherwise not received payment, converted to earned credit. Contact the Educational Retirement Board for further information.

L. Sick Leave Bank

The District and the Federation recognize the need for an available pool of sick leave days upon
which eligible educators having experienced benefit eligible catastrophic illnesses or injuries may
draw. To this end, the District and the Federation have established a self-funded Sick Leave Bank.
All claims are subject to approval of the Sick Leave Bank Committee. Intermittent leave will be
addressed according to the FMLA law.

2. Eligibility

a. To be eligible for participation in the Sick Leave Bank (SLB), an educator must voluntarily contribute each pay period, through payroll deduction, a sum which is designated by the joint Sick Leave Bank Committee. All money contributed to the SLB is nonrefundable. If at any time the District and the Federation agree that the Sick Leave Bank is not solvent, the joint committee will decide how any money remaining in the bank will be distributed.

3. Membership

a. Any educator shall be afforded the opportunity to participate within sixty (60) days after beginning employment or within sixty (60) days of the beginning of any succeeding school year. Part-time educators shall be eligible for benefits on a pro rata basis. Once enrolled, membership will be for an entire school year. A request to withdraw from participation in the bank must be submitted to the SLB Committee within ten (10) workdays of the first educator workday of the following contract year or during the open enrollment period during the month of September.

4. Administration

a. The SLB Committee shall consist of one (1) member appointed by each of the three participating bargaining units and District personnel for consultation as necessary. An eligible educator may apply to the SLB Committee for withdrawal of days consistent with guidelines established by the joint SLB Committee. Guidelines may include a minimum number of days which must be accrued before SLB coverage begins. Applications to the Committee shall be in writing and be accompanied by a physician's statement describing the illness or injury and anticipated date of return to work. The SLB Committee will review all applications for withdrawal of days. The decision of the Committee shall be final and not subject to the grievance procedure. The Committee shall submit an operation report to the District and the Federation on an annual basis.

5. Other Conditions

a. Sick leave days from the bank may be drawn only for those days of the school year as identified in this Agreement. Educators on leave of absence are not eligible to access benefits in the bank. Employees on a leave of absence are not eligible to enroll in the sick leave bank until reinstated to active status.

M. Military Leave

1. Employees who perform duty, voluntarily or involuntarily, in the "uniformed services," which include the Army, Navy, Marine Corps, Air Force, Coast Guard, as well as the reserve components of each of these services, Army National Guard, Air Force National Guard,

Commissioned Corps of the Public Health Service, and any other category of persons designated by the President in time of war or emergency, will be eligible for reassignment to the position they vacated prior to taking military leave after completing duty, provided:

- a. They provide written or verbal notice of their orders to their supervisor/Department of Human Resources as soon as received (unless precluded by military necessity or otherwise impossible/unreasonable);
- b. They satisfactorily complete duty of five (5) cumulative years or fewer;
- c. They begin duty directly from employment with APS; and
- d. They apply for and are available for reemployment as follows:
 - 1.) Fewer than thirty-one (31) days service: By the beginning of the first regularly scheduled work period after the end of the calendar day of duty, plus time required to return home safely and an eight (8)-hour rest period. If this is impossible or unreasonable, then as soon as possible.
 - 2.) Thirty-one (31) to one hundred eighty (180) days: No later than fourteen (14) days after completion of duty. If this is impossible or unreasonable through no fault of the employee, then as soon as possible.
 - 3.) One hundred eighty-one (181) days or more: No later than ninety (90) days after completion of duty.
 - 4.) Service-connected injury/illness: Reporting or application deadlines are extended for up to two (2) years for persons who are hospitalized or recovering.
- 2. Performing duty, voluntarily or involuntarily, includes:
 - a. Active duty, active duty for training, and initial active duty for training; Inactive duty training; Full-time National Guard duty; Absence from work for an examination to determine a person's fitness for any of the above types of duty; Funeral honors duty performed by National Guard or reserve members; and Duty performed by intermittent disaster response personnel for the Public Health Service, and approved training to prepare for such service.
- 3. Employees who serve in U.S. military organizations will be paid for up to fifteen (15) days per fiscal year, for active duty, active-duty training, and inactive-duty training. Employees may apply accrued personal days and unused earned vacation time to the leave if they wish; however, they are not obliged to do so. Peace Corps leave without pay up to five (5) cumulative years shall be granted to an educator who volunteers for service to the U.S. Peace Corps.
- 4. Educators on leave for military or Peace Corps service shall be granted any improvement in salary or other terms and conditions of employment which would have accrued to them had they remained in active service with the District, provided such educators seek reinstatement with the District within thirty (30) days following discharge from the military service or upon release from Peace Corps service.

N. JROTC Use of Annual Leave Guidelines

- 1. JROTC Instructors may use up to thirty (30) days of annual leave within one (1) calendar year.
- 2. It is preferred that annual leave is used during the summer months when school is not in session.
- 3. No more than five (5) consecutive workdays may be used when school is in session.
- 4. A representative of the ATF and the APS JROTC district director will review extenuating circumstances.

O. Paid Parental Leave

Paid parental leave is a benefit that provides paid leave for an eligible employee to bond with his or her newborn, adopted child, or foster child.

1. Employees with accrued sick and/or personal leave may first earn their full rate of pay for any accrued sick or personal leave days.

- 2. A parental leave of absence for up to thirty (30) workdays shall be granted upon request for the purpose of childbearing and/or child rearing. Benefit entitlement for eligible employees consists of:
 - a. Gross pay during this time will be forty (40) percent of wages;
 - b. Accrual of sick and vacation time will continue while on paid parental leave status;
 - c. Medical coverage shall continue to be available for the employee and any dependents under their current group insurance policy in existence at the time of paid parental leave. While on paid leave, the continued coverage will be provided on the same basis as available to the employee during the course of employment; and
 - d. Seniority of employees shall not be impacted by parental leave.
- 3. The Parental Leave Benefit begins with any of the following qualified events:
 - a. At the commencement of her pregnancy for an expecting mother; or
 - b. On the date of the birth of the child; or
 - c. On the date of placement for adoption or prior to receiving custody if necessary, in order to fulfill the requirement of adoption of a child age eighteen (18) years or younger; or
 - d. On the date of placement for foster care of a child (excluding the adopting of a stepchild or partner's child) age eighteen (18) years or younger.
- 4. Both parents are eligible for parental leave.
- 5. Educators wanting to take this leave shall notify their assigned district leaves specialist in writing of their desire to take such leave and, except in case of emergency, shall give such notice at least thirty (30) days prior to the date on which their leave is to begin.
 - a. For pregnancy and birth, either a physician's statement certifying her pregnancy and approximate date of delivery or a copy of the birth certificate of the child, whichever is applicable, shall be provided to the appropriate leaves specialist.
 - b. For adoption and foster placement, supporting legal documentation of placement from an agency such as the Children, Youth, and Families Department, shall be provided to the appropriate leaves specialist.
- 6. Approved parental leave must be taken in a continuous block of time within one (1) year of any of the qualifying events unless an intermittent schedule has been preapproved and prescheduled by the site administration and leaves specialist. Any unused parental leave does not accrue.
- 7. Parental Leave is not available until the date of the qualifying event. For absences that occur before the date of the qualifying event, employees may use other types of time off for which they are eligible, such as personal, sick leave, or the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA).
 - a. The parental leave must run concurrently to the FMLA if the employee is eligible for FMLA.
- 8. An educator who is pregnant may continue in active employment as late into her pregnancy as she desires, provided she is able to properly perform her contractual duties.

P. Extended Leaves of Absence without Pay

- 1. Unless otherwise stated herein, an extended leave of absence without pay may be granted to educators for a period of up to one (1) year.
- 2. Extended leaves of absence without pay may be granted for:
 - a. Advanced Study: An educator who has been employed under the terms of this Agreement by the District for three (3) continuous contract years or more immediately preceding the granting of this leave is eligible for advanced study leave for up to one (1) year. Prior to returning to employment, the educator must provide verification of advanced study by submitting to the Department of Human Resources either:
 - 1.) An official transcript indicating the earning of no fewer than six (6) semester hours per semester or fifteen (15) semester hours for one (1) year, or equivalent, whichever is appropriate; or

- 2.) Written record from the educator's supervisory professor(s) stating that activities have occurred substantially equivalent to the O. 2. a. 1. requirement.
- 3.) An advanced study leave may be renewed for up to one (1) additional year provided all requirements are met for each year of leave.
- 4.) Educators returning from advanced study leave who have completed an approved program of studies resulting in their obtaining an additional certification/endorsement shall be granted credit for salary matrix advancement as if the educator had been actively employed. The Superintendent must approve the program of studies prior to the granting of the leave. The program of studies must be related to the subject matter being taught by the educator or to be taught by the educator. A statement as to how the advanced study leave is expected to enhance the educator's abilities to teach may be requested by the Superintendent prior to the granting of the leave. Except in unusual circumstances, as determined by the District, application for this leave must be submitted thirty (30) days in advance.
- b. Parental Leave without pay: A parental leave of absence for up to one (1) year shall be granted upon request to an educator for the purpose of childbearing and/or child rearing as follows:
 - 1.) An educator who is pregnant shall be entitled upon request to a leave to begin at any time between the commencement of their pregnancy and one (1) year after a child is born to them. Said educator shall notify the Department of Human Resources in writing of their desire to take such leave and, except in case of emergency, shall give such notice at least thirty (30) days prior to the date on which their leave is to begin. Such notice will include either a physician's statement certifying their pregnancy and approximate date of delivery or a copy of the birth certificate of their child, whichever is applicable. An educator who is pregnant may continue in active employment as late into their pregnancy as they desire, provided they are able to properly perform their contractual duties. If not on parental leave of absence, any portion of an educator's absence from work because of a medical disability connected with or resulting from their pregnancy may be charged to their available sick leave.
 - 2.) A non-birth educator shall be entitled upon request and verification of birth date to a leave to begin at any time between the birth of their child and one (1) year thereafter.
 - 3.) An educator adopting a child shall be entitled upon request to a leave commencing when custody occurs or prior to receiving custody if necessary to fulfill the requirement of adoption.
- c. Leave for Illness in Immediate Family: Leave shall be granted for the purpose of caring for a sick member of an educator's immediate family for up to one (1) year. Such request must be accompanied by a verifying physician's statement.
- d. Extended Medical Leave: An educator who is unable to teach because of personal illness or disability and who has exhausted all available sick leave shall be granted leave for up to one (1) year. Any request for this leave must state the probable date of return and be accompanied by a verifying physician's statement. If the leave was granted as a result of a work-related injury, the employee may request and shall be granted a one (1) year extension of this leave. Before returning, such educator must submit a physician's release. To be eligible for an extended medical leave of absence, an employee must have been actively employed on paid status with APS a minimum of one contract year immediately prior to the leave start date. All intermittent medical leaves will be addressed according to FMLA regulations.
- e. Extended Personal Leave: Leave without pay for up to one (1) year may be granted to an educator provided said educator has been actively employed for five (5) continuous contract years preceding the granting of this leave and has not been granted an extended part-time leave within that period. Application for said leave shall include a statement indicating the

- purpose of the leave and shall be submitted, except in unusual circumstances, as determined by the District, thirty (30) days prior to the date the leave is to commence.
- f. Extended Part-time Leave: Educators who have been employed by the District in a full-time capacity for five (5) continuous contract years prior to granting this leave, may be granted leave to work less than full-time for up to one (1) school year. Application for such leave shall follow the same guidelines as outlined in O, 2.e. above, and all general provisions applying to other extended leaves will apply except that time spent on a part-time leave shall be counted for seniority purpose. This language shall not apply to educators who change from full-time to part-time status without benefit of a leave.

3. General Provisions

- a. An educator returning to duty from an extended leave shall be reassigned to the original teaching position or, if that position is no longer available, to a substantially equivalent position to that held by the educator at the commencement of the leave.
- b. An educator returning from an extended leave must file an intent to return to the school system no later than March 1. Failure to do so will be considered a resignation on the part of the educator effective at the conclusion of the leave or the school year, whichever comes first.
- c. All requests for extended leaves of absence shall be submitted to the Extended Leave Clerk's office in the Department of Human Resources.
- d. Time spent on extended leaves of absence shall not be considered a break in continuous service and will not be counted toward total years of service and will not be counted for seniority purposes.

Refer to Appendix D—Leaves of Absence

Article 19, INSURANCE

A. Premium Payment

- 1. For employees who elect to participate in an insurance program as provided under the terms of this Article, the District agrees to contribute that percentage of the premium required by state law, but no less than 60 percent.
- 2. Educators who choose to participate in the District insurance programs will have their contributions deducted from their paychecks.
 - a. Deductions for insurance programs will cease should an educator terminate during the school year, and coverage will cease immediately on health and dental plans. There will be a thirty (30) day grace period on life insurance plans.
 - b. Educators on leave of absence up to one (1) year who do not receive a salary may continue any or all insurance programs by payment of their portion of the premium on the first weekday of each month of coverage or in multiples of months if desired. Failure to make payment will cause termination of coverage.
 - c. Educators on leave of absence for more than one (1) year, except for those on approved sick leave, who do not receive a salary, may continue any or all insurance programs by payment of 100 percent of the premium on the first weekday of each month of coverage or in multiples of months if desired. Failure to make payment will cause termination of coverage.

B. Enrollment

1. Educators who are not enrolled in a District insurance program will be accepted in any of the District's insurance programs if they enroll no later than sixty (60) days from the effective date of their employment, change marital status, or change in the job status of the educator's spouse, provided the educator's spouse was covered by insurance during the previous employment, whichever is applicable.

- 2. Educators on leave of absence from the District who are not enrolled in a District insurance program will be accepted in any of the District's insurance programs if there is a change in the educator's marital status or in the job status of the educator's spouse so long as they enroll no later than sixty (60) days from the change, providing the educator's spouse was covered by insurance previous to the change.
- 3. During enrollment periods educators shall be provided a thorough explanation of the programs and assistance in completing application enrollment forms.
- 4. Each subscriber to a program shall receive a brochure outlining all the basic terms and conditions of the program.

C. Insurance Program Review

1. The Federation will meet with the Department of Human Resources Executive Director to review the existing insurance program and examine possible improvements in the present coverages.

D. Insurance Programs

- 1. The District agrees to provide a program of life, medical, and dental insurance benefits for educators. The District shall offer each employee a choice between the following two (2) programs of medical and health care:
 - a. A program of medical and health insurance benefits as provided by the District.
 - b. A Preferred Provider Organization (PPO) also may be offered.
 - c. The Board shall notify the Federation of anticipated changes in the employee insurance programs at least thirty (30) days prior to implementation.
- 2. The District shall provide professional liability insurance in accordance with the requirements of the Risk Management Division of the State of New Mexico.
- 3. The District shall provide Workers' Compensation for on-the-job accidents.
- 4. The District will match employees' share for Federal Insurance Contribution Act (Social Security).
- 5. Educators have the option to commence a contract for a tax-deferred annuity at any time, provided the company is on the approved list. Educators have the option to amend a contract for a tax-deferred annuity once each calendar year.

Article 20, INCIDENT REPORTS/PERSONAL SECURITY

- A. The District shall establish procedures for reporting student accidents on the school premises or at school-related events in which an educator is in any way involved. The procedures shall have definite, reasonable time limits, and the educator involved shall receive a copy of the report if requested.
- B. If an incident involves damage or loss to an educator's property, intentional or unintentional, the APS School Police shall be notified by the principal and a report of the incident filed with a copy provided to the educator. A request for notification of law enforcement authorities shall be honored.
- C. An educator may file a claim with Risk Management for possible replacement of personal instructional materials. Coverage is limited and the decision of Risk Management shall be final and binding.
- D. Whenever an educator is involved in activities being conducted beyond normal hours or duty day, a system of security shall be available to promote safe conditions for all concerned. Educators shall be provided information needed to use the system.

Article 21, STUDENT DISCIPLINE

- A. The District shall provide reasonable support and assistance to teachers as described in the Student Behavior Success Handbook so they can maintain control and discipline while engaged in their duties and responsibilities. It is essential for the school staff to establish means for obtaining the cooperation of parents of students involved in discipline problems.
- B. A positive disciplinary program shall be continued in each school. Each teacher shall be given a copy of the school's disciplinary policy as developed and/or modified by the principal, Instructional Council, and/or faculty.
 - 1. The school's disciplinary policy will be published in the staff handbook and distributed yearly during the first week of school.
 - 2. The school's disciplinary policy should be reviewed and revised annually or as needed.
- C. The principal has the primary responsibility for administering the school's disciplinary policy. In accordance with the school's disciplinary policy, the teacher is responsible for maintaining a good social environment among those students under the teacher's responsibility at any given time and for sharing with other staff members the responsibility for school-wide behavior.
- D. The teacher shall receive assistance from the principal, or designee, when a disciplinary problem is beyond the control of the teacher or when the teacher believes it is necessary.
- E. The teacher may temporarily dismiss a student from class to the principal, or designee, when the student's behavior is disruptive to the point of impeding learning by the other students and after efforts have been made to correct the problem in accordance with the school's disciplinary practice.
 - 1. The teacher shall furnish the principal in writing full particulars of the incident including the efforts that have been made to correct the problem and whether the student may be returned to class prior to a conference between the teacher and principal.
 - 2. Before the principal returns the student to the classroom, the principal shall inform the teacher of the corrective measures taken.
 - 3. In cases of extreme or chronic student disruption to a classroom, the teacher may call a case conference with the principal, parents, and others as necessary for the purposes of discussing the problem and determining and initiating corrective measures. If requested the student will not be returned to the classroom until such corrective measures have been initiated or until the due process rights of the student would be violated.
- F. Notification shall be provided to teachers of suspended students by the end of the school day that follows the day of suspension.
- G. Whenever it appears that a student needs professional attention beyond the scope of the individual school, the teacher shall inform the principal in writing so reasonable steps can be taken.
- H. The parties agree that a teacher may use reasonable force to repel a personal assault or one upon any other person. Any case of assault shall be promptly reported to the principal and by the principal to the Superintendent. The District shall provide the necessary support to a teacher who is subjected to or charged with an assault during the course of one's duties, providing the teacher was acting in a reasonable manner and the actions were justifiable under the law, the Code of Ethics of the Education Profession, the terms and provisions of this Agreement, and regulations of the District.
- I. Corporal punishment, which is defined as any disciplinary action taken by school personnel with the intention of producing physical pain, shall not be used as a disciplinary measure in the Albuquerque Public Schools. Disciplinary consequences of unacceptable pupil behavior will be aimed toward assisting students in the development of constructive personal and social behavior. Consistent with the Code of Ethics of the Education Profession, school staff members will "deal justly and considerately with each student."
- J. Whenever possible, an officer of the District shall initiate a complaint arising from criminal acts occurring on school property. It shall be the responsibility of any teacher witnessing such acts to provide all information to the principal.

K. A teacher shall be informed of any complaint to the principal by a parent concerning the disciplinary action taken by the teacher regarding a child.

Article 22, STUDENT TRANSPORTATION

- A. Educators shall not be required to transport students to activities which take place away from the school building. Educators may do so voluntarily with proof of insurance; however, unacceptable vehicles are vans or mini vans. The only vehicles authorized for nine (9) passengers including the driver are a Suburban or Expedition. Any more than nine (9) passengers must be transported in a school bus. All occupants must have seat belts available and are required to wear them while the vehicle is in motion. Maintenance of a student roster and taking roll each time students disembark and return to the vehicle are required.
- B. Transportation may provide vehicles to check out for offsite activities for schools.

Article 23, SUMMER SCHOOL / EXTENDED SCHOOL YEAR

- A. A description of all positions or probable positions for summer learning will be announced on the APS website no later than the April 15.
- B. When staffing for summer learning teaching positions program needs being equal, to the extent possible, teachers currently employed in the position at the identified summer learning site will be considered.
- C. Teachers who have been tentatively employed for summer school teaching shall be notified, within twenty-four (24) hours after the third day of the session, whether the class(es) for which they were to be employed will, in fact, be conducted. If the teacher is not so notified, the teacher is employed for the class(es) which was (were) offered in registration.
- D. All applications for summer school will be considered.
- E. Teaching credential qualifications for summer school positions will be the same as those for regular employment.
- F. When two (2) or more qualified teachers apply for a program, seniority shall be considered.
- G. If a need occurs for a Reduction-in-Force (RIF) of Summer Learning employees, volunteers will be sought first. If an RIF is still necessary, determination will be made on the basis of date of hire for summer school. Procedures for reductions in ESY and Grades K—5 plus programs shall be done so in accordance with Article 15.B.
- H. When two (2) or more qualified teachers apply for a Summer Learning/Extended School Year program, seniority shall be considered.

Article 24, ALTERNATIVE SCHEDULES

- A. A school may request regularly scheduled modified days for staff development and planning. The determination of whether a school will schedule modified days, continue, or discontinue same, and the purpose of the programs shall be by mutual agreement of the faculty and principal and subject to the approval of the Superintendent. The total teaching time during a week within which a modified day falls shall be no less than that provided through a regular schedule.
- B. Schools may schedule minimum days for staff development which is designed collaboratively by site administration and staff, planning, and/or conducting parent-teacher conferences. Minimum days shall be at least one-half (1/2) of the school's regular day plus the lunch period for students. Teaching time will not be made up if schools are in compliance with instructional time as defined by the Public Education Department.
 - 1. There may be scheduled by the District at least four (4) minimum days each year. The program for one (1) of these days may be determined by the District Superintendent.

- 2. There will be scheduled up to eight (8) hours per semester each year, on a reduced teaching day basis, for parent-teacher conferences at the elementary level.
- 3. A school may request of the Superintendent additional minimum days for programs developed by the principal and faculty.
- 4. A school may request of the Superintendent exemption from a minimum day and/or program.

Article 25, CONFLICT RESOLUTION

A. The District and the Federation recognize that there are workplace issues that may not constitute a violation of the Negotiated Agreement and therefore do not fit into a "grievable" or actionable category under Article 25 herein. The District and the Federation believe that such workplace issues are best addressed by an interest-based process, such as mediation or direct negotiation that utilizes problem-solving techniques to address the perceived needs of the complainant or other parties. To that end, the parties have established an interest-based program for resolving such disputes.

Refer to Appendix I—Conflict Resolution Procedure on page 110.

Article 26, GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES

- A. The purpose of this procedure is to secure, at the lowest possible administrative level, equitable solutions to problems which may arise. All grievances shall be processed as provided herein.
- B. A grievance shall mean an allegation by an educator, a group of educators with the same grievance or the Federation that there has been a violation of any provision(s) of this Agreement.
 - 1. The term "workday" when used in this Article shall mean working school days. During the summer months, "workday" shall be defined as Monday through Friday excluding Independence Day.
 - 2. The "aggrieved party" shall mean an educator or a group of educators in the bargaining unit or the Federation.
- C. No grievance shall be initiated at Level One unless it has been discussed by the aggrieved party with the immediate supervisor prior to filing. No grievance shall be initiated at Level Two unless it has been discussed by the aggrieved party and/or the aggrieved party's Federation representative with the Office of Labor Relations.
- D. A grievance shall be filed at Level One if the remedy sought is within the authority of the principal. If it is a remedy on which the principal has no authority, it shall be filed at Level Two.
- E. The District and the Federation agree that these proceedings and all information relating to a grievance will be kept informal and confidential.
- F. Since it is important that grievances be processed as rapidly as possible, the number of days indicated at each level shall be maximums, and every effort shall be made to proceed as quickly as possible.
 - 1. The time limits specified will be extended or shortened if mutually agreed to in writing by the parties to the grievance.
 - 2. The aggrieved party must file a written grievance within fifteen (15) workdays of the act or discovery of the act that caused the grievance.
 - 3. Failure to file the grievance within time limits specified shall result in the dismissal of the issues.
 - 4. Failure to submit the decision in writing within fifteen (15) workdays will cause the grievance to proceed automatically to the next level.
- G. If a grievance affects a group of educators at two (2) or more work locations, the Federation must file a written grievance within fifteen (15) workdays on behalf of the educators affected directly to the Office of Labor Relations. The Federation shall identify the educators and work locations and submit the names of educators where feasible.
- H. All written and printed matter dealing with the processing of a grievance will be filed separately from the official personnel file of the participants in a file maintained by the Office of Labor Relations. No

- reprisal shall be taken by the Board or any member of the administration against any educator participating in the processing of a grievance.
- I. The parties shall develop all forms to be used in grievance processing. All grievances and appeals of such must be filed on appropriate forms as provided by the Office of Labor Relations.
- J. The District agrees to make available to the aggrieved party and representative all pertinent information, not privileged, in its possession or control which is relevant to the issues raised by the grievance.
- K. Leave with pay will be granted to an educator whose absence from duty is required by the parties to the grievance as part of a grievance meeting. The Office of Labor Relations shall notify the principal(s) of the educator(s) designated to appear at such meeting.
- L. Nothing contained herein shall limit the right of any educator to process a grievance as an individual.
- M. The interpretation of conflict, as provided in Article 1, B.2., shall be subject to the grievance process at Level Two.
- N. Any grievance decision shall be provided to the Federation at the time of the decision.

O. Level One

- 1. The aggrieved party shall submit the grievance in writing to the educator's immediate supervisor. The immediate supervisor shall, within fifteen (15) workdays after presentation of the grievance in writing by the aggrieved, submit to the aggrieved party the immediate supervisor's decision in writing.
- 2. If the aggrieved party is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance, the aggrieved party may appeal the decision to Level Two within fifteen (15) workdays of receipt of the decision by filing said appeal with the Office of Labor Relations.
- 3. Failure to appeal the grievance within fifteen (15) workdays after receipt of the response shall result in dismissal of the grievance.
- 4. In the event an educator believes it to be necessary to have a Federation representative present at a Level One grievance meeting, such request shall be made in advance and through the Office of Labor Relations. The request will be honored upon notification to the immediate supervisor.

P. Level Two

- 1. The Superintendent or designee shall meet with the aggrieved party and/or representative of the Federation within fifteen (15) workdays after receipt of the appeal of the Level One decision by the Office of Labor Relations to resolve said grievance. Parties to the grievance or their representatives shall have the right to submit evidence, give testimony, and call witnesses.
- 2. The Superintendent or designee shall, within fifteen (15) workdays after such meeting provided above, render the decision in writing setting forth the decision and reason(s) therefore and shall transmit same to all parties.
- 3. If the Federation and the aggrieved party are not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance, the aggrieved party may appeal the grievance to Level Three. Failure to appeal the grievance within fifteen (15) workdays after receipt of the response to Level Two shall result in dismissal of the grievance.

Q. Level Three

- 1. A grievance appealed to this level shall be heard by an Arbitrator for contractual disputes. Grievances based upon a proposed discharge or termination requiring a hearing before the School Board will be first heard by the members of the APS Labor Board, who will sit as "the Panel" described in the MOU Regarding the Appeal of Discharge and Termination Hearings. To the extent the Panel will not or cannot hold a hearing, APS and ATF will choose an arbitrator pursuant to Section 2 of this Article. This process does not preclude an employee from requesting a subsequent arbitration pursuant to the New Mexico State Personnel Act.
 - a. The Panel hearings, to the extent practicable, will be conducted pursuant to the rules governing appeal hearings for terminations and discharges as set forth in New Mexico

Statutes Annotated (NMSA) § 22-10A-27 for discharges or NMSA § 22-10A-24 for terminations.

- 2. The Arbitrator shall schedule the hearing as soon as possible following acceptance of the appointment. The parties agree to make available all pertinent non-privileged information in their possession or control which is relevant to the issues raised by the grievance.
- 3. The Arbitrator may establish the rules of procedure and, at the Arbitrator's discretion, may require the parties or witnesses to testify under oath or, upon demand of either party, shall require the parties or witnesses to testify under oath.
- 4. The Arbitrator's report shall be prepared and submitted in writing only to the District and aggrieved party, within thirty (30) calendar days after the first meeting, and shall set forth the findings of the fact, rationale, conclusions, and the determination on the issues submitted. The determination shall be consistent with law and with the terms of this Agreement.
- 5. The Arbitrator shall have no power to alter, amend, add to, or subtract from the terms of this Agreement.
- 6. The determination of the Arbitrator on matters set forth in this Agreement shall be final and binding.
- 7. The determination of the Arbitrator shall be acted upon within thirty (30) calendar days.
- 8. The cost for the service of the Arbitrator shall be shared equally by the District and the aggrieved party. Unless the aggrieved party is represented by the Federation, the District may require that the aggrieved party post their share of the expenses in advance of the hearing.

Article 27, DISCIPLINARY ACTION

- A. Educators have the right to be accompanied by a Federation representative to advise or represent them during meetings where a suspension, reprimand, disciplinary action, and/or pay reduction is/are being considered. Educators may request to be accompanied by a Federation representative to advise them during a meeting with their principal or supervisor on related matters. Such request shall not be unreasonably denied. Educators may be suspended, reprimanded, disciplined, or have their pay reduced only for good and just cause.
- B. The superintendent may suspend, reprimand, transfer, discipline, or reduce an educator's pay only for good and just cause.
 - 1. An educator shall be notified and upon request have the right to notification in writing with the reason(s) therefore and shall have the right of appeal as provided in Article 26, P. if requested within ten (10) workdays after the action is taken.
 - 2. Any educator suspended shall be suspended with pay until determination of the action to be taken is made. If an educator is suspended with pay pending an investigation, the District shall conduct an administrative meeting with the educator as soon as practicable but no later than ten (10) workdays after the investigation is completed. If it is determined following the investigation that loss of pay to the educator is warranted, such reduction shall become effective retroactive to the first day of suspension.
- C. The parties have a mutual interest in developing a reasonable suspicion protocol that not only ensures the safety of the students and APS employees, but also protects the rights of the employee involved.
 - 1. Reasonable suspicion is based on specific, contemporaneous, and articulable observations that can be described concerning appearance, behavior, speech, or odor of the employee.
 - 2. Before a supervisor requests an employee to respond to questions concerning reasonable suspicion, the employee shall immediately be informed of their right to contact their ATF representative (i.e., Weingarten rights) as established by the U.S. Supreme Court.
 - 3. The parties agree to the following protocol for determining reasonable suspicion and for testing:
 - a. Reasonable suspicion must be documented at or immediately following the time of observation by the initial observing supervisor.

- b. Initial observations must be made by a supervisor who has, within the previous twelve (12)-month period, been trained to determine reasonable suspicion of impairment due to alcohol or drug use.
- c. The supervisor will then contact APS Department of Human Resources to report the initial reasonable suspicion. If APS Department of Human Resources determines there is reason to believe an employee is impaired based upon the initial observation, APS Department of Human Resources will arrange to have another party complete a second evaluation.
- d. The initial observation must be corroborated by a second evaluator who also has been trained to determine reasonable suspicion of impairment due to alcohol or drug use. The second evaluator must also document their observations at or immediately following the time of observation.
- e. If the second evaluator determines there is reason to believe that the employee is impaired, the employee will be transported to a drug testing location. Testing must be completed within the same day as the observation.
 - 1.) The District will provide transportation to and from the testing location.
 - 2.) If testing corroborates employee impairment, the district will provide safe transportation home.
 - 3.) The employee will not be authorized to operate an automobile on school property for twenty-four (24) hours after the completion of testing, or until released from this restriction by the Department of Human Resources.

Article 28, SEPARATION RIGHTS

- A. Educators may be refused renewal of employment, discharged, or terminated only in accordance with law.
 - 1. Educators who have not signed three (3) consecutive full-year contracts with the District may be refused reemployment by the District.
 - 2. Employees who are not renewed for any reason will receive a written notice of the reason(s) for refusal of reemployment within 72-hours of the original notice.
 - 3. Educators refused renewal of employment, discharged, or terminated have the right to a meeting with the Superintendent or their designee if requested within five (5) working days after receiving the notice. A meeting will be held within ten (10) days after the Superintendent receives such request.

Article 29, HEALTH AND SAFETY

- A. The District agrees to continue to provide conditions for work that are healthy and safe. In furtherance of this, the District agrees to continue to provide working conditions which are in conformance with applicable rules and regulations.
- B. The parties agree that all educators shall observe all health and safety rules.
- C. Employees shall not be required to perform duties which would endanger their health, safety, or well-being, nor will employees be required to work under unsafe and/or hazardous conditions, as determined by the New Mexico Department of Health and/or the New Mexico Department of Occupational Safety and Health.
 - 1. Educator complaints of unsafe or unhealthy conditions shall be reported to their immediate supervisor, who shall notify the appropriate district level supervisor within 24 hours of the needed support to resolve the issue.
 - a. Before a grievance may be filed, the District-shall have ten (10) duty days from the day the supervisor was informed to act on the complaint. The timeline for the filing of a grievance shall commence at the conclusion of the district's ten (10) day period for action.

- b. All educators shall be provided a safe, healthy, and appropriate alternative workspace while the complaint is being addressed.
 - 1.) The district and/or the immediate supervisor shall notify the employee when they may return to their assigned workspace.
- D. The parties agree that there shall be a health and safety committee in each school. Composition of the committee shall be determined by the principal and faculty. Said committee shall:
 - 1. Make a reasonable effort to become knowledgeable in health and safety rules and regulations;
 - 2. Meet and discuss working conditions with respect to health and safety; and
 - 3. Make recommendations to appropriate parties.

Article 30, NO STRIKE PROVISION

A. The Federation agrees that neither the Federation nor its members will engage in a strike.

Article 31, DURATION OF AGREEMENT

- A. This Agreement shall be effective upon ratification by the parties as of August 2, 2023 and shall remain in full force and effect through June 30, 2025. If a successor Agreement is not agreed to and ratified by July 1, 2025, this Agreement shall remain in effect until agreement and ratification occur or either party gives notice in writing of its desire to terminate such Agreement.
- B. Salaries, pay differentials and insurance premiums shall be opened each year of this Agreement. Such negotiation shall begin on or before April 1 of each year or as agreed to by the parties.
 - 1. Financial negotiations may be reopened upon changes to the State Equalization Guarantee (SEG) unit value.
- C. This Agreement may be altered by mutual consent of the District and the Federation. Such alterations will replace or add to this Agreement and be in full force and effect only upon approval in writing of both parties.

AGREEMENT SIGNATURES

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused to be executed on their behalf.

ALBUQUERQUE MUNICIPAL SCHOOL DISTRICT NUMBER 12, COUNTY OF BERNALILLO, STATE OF NEW MEXICO

Scott Elder, Superintendent

UERQUE TEACHERS FEDERATION

APPROVED:

BOARD OF EDUCATION OF THE ALBUQUERQUE MUNICIPAL SCHOOL DISTRICT NUMBER

12, COUNTY OF BERNALILLO, STATE OF NEW MEXICO

Yolanda Montoya Cordova, President

Date:

Federation Negotiating Team

Dr. Ellen Beilistein, Chief Negotiator

Date: 8.22 · 23

For ATF:

Loyola Cortinas, Sarah Hager, Celeste Hernandez, Angela Reynolds, Dr. Sonya Romero Autrey, Jerry Thorn, Teddi Toniolli, Sean Thomas

District Negotiating Team

Dr. Valerie Hoose, Chief Negotiator Date: 8.2.3023

For APS:

Annitra Atler, Dr. Kimberly Finke, Dr. Antonio Gonzales, Joyce Gormley, Anthony Lovato, Rosalinda

Rennette Apodaca, Dr. Channell Segura, Todd Torgerson, Antoinette Valenzuela

APPENDIX A - SALARY MATRICES

Salary matrices for the 2023-2024 school year for the Albuquerque Teachers Federation Bargaining Unit

The Albuquerque Public Schools and the Albuquerque Teachers Federation agree to the following for the 2023-2024 school year:

- 1. All employees on Salary Matrix A1 will start at \$54,152 base salary.
- 2. All employees on Salary Matrix A2 will start at \$64,983 base salary.
- 3. All employees currently placed on Salary Matrix A3 will start at \$75,831 base salary.
- 4. Educational Diagnosticians, School Psychologist, Transition Specialist/Rehabilitation Counselors, and BCBAs are guaranteed ten (10) additional workdays paid through an extended contract.
- 5. The District is committed to attracting and retaining the essential personnel (listed below) whose services are indispensable for meeting the needs of all students, in particular those who are at risk. As such, the Albuquerque Public Schools has a goal, in perpetuity, to ensure that these employees receive equitable raises in comparison to their teaching colleagues.
 - Audiologist
 - Orientation and Mobility Specialist
 - Counselors
 - Physical Therapist
 - Interpreters for the Deaf
 - Social Workers
 - Nurses
 - Speech and Language Pathologist
 - Occupational Therapist
 - Athletic Trainers
 - COTAs
 - PTAs
 - Diagnosticians
 - School Psychologists
 - Transition Specialist/Rehabilitation Counselors
 - BCBAs
- 6. With this commitment, the Albuquerque Public Schools and the Albuquerque Federation agree to dissolve the APS/ATF Career Pathway System.
- 7. Placement on the salary matrices will be based on the current language in Article 10, the APS/ATF Career Pathway System.
- 8. The criteria for movement through the salary matrices from Level 1 to 2 and Level 2 to 3 for the above listed personnel will be based on a combination of PED licensure level and a minimum of three (3) years of successful practice at each level.

Note: Employees can refer to article 6.A.14-16. for information about the requirements for movement to the next salary matrix. The following information applies to the salary matrices which follow.

- 1. The matrices are one-year documents that reflect placement only. Matrices do not ensure or predict future salary levels or movement.
- 2. Official transcripts are to be on file by September 15 of the current school year for initial placement on the salary matrix and for movement across the salary matrix.
- 3. Matrices are based on the following number of workdays: Matrices A-1, A-2, and A-3: One hundred eighty-eight (188) days

- Community School Coordinators: Two hundred six (206) days
- 4. Five hundred seventy (570) hours of verified experience in a single school year will count as a year of experience for one hundred eighty-eight (188)-day contracts. Six hundred (600) hours of verified experience in a single school year will count as a year of experience for one hundred ninety-eight (198)-day contracts. Seven hundred eighty-five (785) hours of verified experience in a single school year will count as a year of experience for two hundred six (206)-day contracts on salary Matrices A-1, A-2, and A-3,. Hours of experience in different school years may not be totaled for experience.
- 5. Securing written verification of experience is the employee's responsibility.
- 6. Substitute teaching is not recognized as teaching experience.

Appendix A.1 2023-2024 Salary Matrix A1

Note: Salary figures presented on the following matrices are rounded up or down to the nearest dollar amount.

| | 2023-2024 A1 SCHEDULE: LEVEL 1 EDUCATORS Based on 188 DAY/6.5 HOUR work schedule | | | | | | |
|-----------|--|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------------------|
| EDUCATION | ВА | BA+15 | BA+45 | MA | MA+15 | MA+45 | Doctorate |
| STEP | ANNUAL | ANNUAL | ANNUAL | ANNUAL | ANNUAL | ANNUAL | ANNUAL |
| 1 | \$54,152 | \$54,327 | \$54,502 | \$54,677 | \$54,853 | \$55,027 | \$55,203 |
| 2 | \$54,153 | \$54,328 | \$54,503 | \$54,678 | \$54,854 | \$55,028 | \$55,204 |
| 3 | \$54,154 | \$54,329 | \$54,504 | \$54,679 | \$54,855 | \$55,029 | \$55,205 |
| 4 | \$54,155 | \$54,330 | \$54,505 | \$54,680 | \$54,856 | \$55,030 | \$55,206 |
| 5 | \$54,156 | \$54,331 | \$54,506 | \$54,681 | \$54,857 | \$55,031 | \$55,207 |
| 6 | \$54,157 | \$54,332 | \$54,507 | \$54,682 | \$54,858 | \$55,032 | \$55,208 |
| 7 | \$54,158 | \$54,333 | \$54,508 | \$54,683 | \$54,859 | \$55,033 | \$55,209 |
| 8 | \$54,159 | \$54,334 | \$54,509 | \$54,684 | \$54,860 | \$55,034 | \$55,210 |
| 9 | \$54,160 | \$54,335 | \$54,510 | \$54,685 | \$54,861 | \$55,035 | \$55,211 |
| 10 | \$54,161 | \$54,336 | \$54,511 | \$54,686 | \$54,862 | \$55,036 | \$55,212 |
| 11 | \$54,162 | \$54,337 | \$54,512 | \$54,687 | \$54,863 | \$55,037 | \$55,213 |
| 12 | \$54,163 | \$54,338 | \$54,513 | \$54,688 | \$54,864 | \$55,038 | \$55,214 |
| 13 | \$54,164 | \$54,339 | \$54,514 | \$54.689 | \$54,865 | \$55,039 | \$55,215 |
| 14 | \$54,165 | \$54.340 | \$54,515 | \$54.690 | \$54,866 | \$55.040 | \$55,216 |
| 15 | \$54,166 | \$54,341 | \$54,516 | \$54,691 | \$54,867 | \$55,041 | \$55,217 |
| 16 | \$54,167 | \$54,342 | \$54,517 | \$54,692 | \$54,868 | \$55,042 | \$55,218 |
| 17 | \$54,168 | \$54,343 | \$54,518 | \$54,693 | \$54,869 | \$55,043 | \$55,219 |
| 18 | \$54,169 | \$54,344 | \$54,519 | \$54,694 | \$54,870 | \$55,044 | \$55,22 0 |
| 19 | \$54,170 | \$54,345 | \$54,520 | \$54,695 | \$54,871 | \$55,045 | \$55,221 |
| 20 | \$54,171 | \$54,346 | \$54,521 | \$54,696 | \$54,872 | \$55,046 | \$55,222 |
| 21 | \$54,172 | \$54,347 | \$54,522 | \$54,697 | \$54,873 | \$55,047 | \$55,223 |

Appendix A.2 2023-2024 Salary Matrix A2

| d on 188 DAY/6. | .5 HOUR wo | rk schedule | | | | | | |
|-----------------|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | Based on 188 DAY/6.5 HOUR work schedule | | | | | | | |
| 5 BA+45 | MA | MA+15 | MA+45 | Doctorate | | | | |
| AL ANNUAL | ANNUAL | ANNUAL | ANNUAL | ANNUAL | | | | |
| 43 \$65,502 | \$65,764 | \$66,024 | \$66,284 | \$66,543 | | | | |
| 44 \$65,503 | \$65,765 | \$66,025 | \$66,285 | \$66.544 | | | | |
| 45 \$65,504 | \$65,766 | \$66,026 | \$66,286 | \$66,545 | | | | |
| 46 \$65,505 | \$65,767 | \$66,027 | \$66,287 | \$66,546 | | | | |
| 47 \$65,506 | \$65,768 | \$66,028 | \$66,288 | \$66,547 | | | | |
| 48 \$65,507 | \$65,769 | \$66,029 | \$66,289 | \$66,548 | | | | |
| 49 \$65,508 | \$65,770 | \$66,030 | \$66,290 | \$66,549 | | | | |
| 50 \$65,509 | \$65,771 | \$66,031 | \$66,291 | \$66,550 | | | | |
| 51 \$65,510 | \$65,772 | \$66,032 | \$66,292 | \$66,551 | | | | |
| 52 \$65,511 | \$65,773 | \$66,033 | \$66,293 | \$66,552 | | | | |
| 53 \$65,512 | \$65,774 | \$66,034 | \$66,294 | \$66,553 | | | | |
| 54 \$65,513 | \$65,775 | \$66,035 | \$66,295 | \$66,554 | | | | |
| 55 \$65,514 | \$65,776 | \$66,036 | \$66,296 | \$66,555 | | | | |
| | | | | \$66,556 | | | | |
| | \$65,778 | | \$66,298 | \$66,557 | | | | |
| | \$65,779 | \$66,039 | \$66,299 | \$66,558 | | | | |
| | \$65,780 | \$66.040 | \$66.300 | \$66,559 | | | | |
| +, | | | \$66.301 | \$66,560 | | | | |
| | | | \$66.302 | \$66,561 | | | | |
| | | | 1 1 | \$66,562 | | | | |
| | | | 1 | \$66,563 | | | | |
| | | | + : | \$66,564 | | | | |
| - : ' | | 1 . | <u> </u> | \$66,565 | | | | |
| 1 1 | | | 1 | \$66,566 | | | | |
| | <u> </u> | | + : | \$66,567 | | | | |
| | | | | \$66,568 | | | | |
| | | | 1 | \$66,569 | | | | |
| | | | | \$66,570 | | | | |
| - : : | | | | \$66,571 | | | | |
| | | | 1 1 | \$66,572 | | | | |
| | | | | \$66,573 | | | | |
| | | | | \$66.724 | | | | |
| | | | | \$66,725 | | | | |
| | | | | \$66,726 | | | | |
| | | | | \$67,599 | | | | |
| | | · · · | | \$67,600 | | | | |
| | | | <u> </u> | \$67,601 | | | | |
| | | | 1 | \$67,602 | | | | |
| | | | | \$67,603 | | | | |
| | | | + | \$69,381 | | | | |
| | | | | \$76,314 | | | | |
| | | | 1 | \$77,898 | | | | |
| | | | | \$77,899 | | | | |
| | | | · · · · · | \$77,900 | | | | |
| | | | | \$84,397 | | | | |
| | | | | \$84,398 | | | | |
| | | | | \$84,399 | | | | |
| | JAL ANNUAL 243 \$65,502 244 \$65,503 245 \$65,504 246 \$65,505 247 \$65,506 248 \$65,507 249 \$65,508 250 \$65,509 251 \$65,510 252 \$65,511 253 \$65,512 254 \$65,513 255 \$65,514 256 \$65,515 257 \$65,516 258 \$65,517 | ANNUAL ANNUAL 243 \$65,502 \$65,764 244 \$65,503 \$65,765 245 \$65,504 \$65,766 247 \$65,506 \$65,768 248 \$65,507 \$65,769 249 \$65,508 \$65,770 250 \$65,509 \$65,771 251 \$65,510 \$65,772 252 \$65,511 \$65,773 253 \$65,512 \$65,774 254 \$65,513 \$65,775 255 \$65,514 \$65,776 257 \$65,515 \$65,777 257 \$65,514 \$65,776 258 \$65,517 \$65,776 259 \$65,518 \$65,777 257 \$65,516 \$65,778 258 \$65,517 \$65,778 259 \$65,518 \$65,779 259 \$65,518 \$65,780 260 \$65,521 \$65,782 261 \$65,522 \$65,782 <td>AL ANNUAL ANNUAL ANNUAL 243 \$65,502 \$65,764 \$66,024 244 \$65,503 \$65,765 \$66,025 245 \$65,506 \$65,767 \$66,027 247 \$65,506 \$65,768 \$66,028 248 \$65,507 \$65,769 \$66,029 249 \$65,508 \$65,770 \$66,031 250 \$65,509 \$65,771 \$66,032 251 \$65,510 \$65,772 \$66,032 252 \$65,511 \$65,773 \$66,032 253 \$65,512 \$65,774 \$66,032 254 \$65,513 \$65,775 \$66,032 255 \$65,514 \$65,775 \$66,032 255 \$65,513 \$65,777 \$66,032 255 \$65,514 \$65,778 \$66,033 255 \$65,518 \$65,779 \$66,033 256 \$65,518 \$66,778 \$66,033 257 \$66,518 \$66,779 \$</td> <td> ANNUAL ANNUAL ANNUAL ANNUAL 433 \$65,502 \$65,764 \$66,024 \$66,284 \$424 \$65,503 \$65,765 \$66,025 \$66,285 \$466,286 \$65,504 \$65,506 \$66,286 \$66,286 \$466,885 \$65,504 \$65,766 \$66,027 \$66,287 \$47 \$65,506 \$65,768 \$66,027 \$66,287 \$447 \$65,506 \$65,768 \$66,027 \$66,288 \$48 \$65,507 \$65,769 \$66,029 \$66,289 \$49 \$65,508 \$65,770 \$66,030 \$66,299 \$66,299 \$66,299 \$66,299 \$66,299 \$66,299 \$66,509 \$65,509 \$65,771 \$66,031 \$66,291 \$65,510 \$65,511 \$65,511 \$65,512 \$65,511 \$65,512 \$65,512 \$65,774 \$66,032 \$66,292 \$66,292 \$65,513 \$65,775 \$66,033 \$66,294 \$65,513 \$65,775 \$66,034 \$66,294 \$65,513 \$65,776 \$66,035 \$66,295 \$65,514 \$65,5776 \$66,036 \$66,296 \$65,515 \$65,514 \$65,776 \$66,037 \$66,296 \$65,515 \$65,514 \$65,776 \$66,037 \$66,297 \$65,518 \$65,517 \$66,037 \$66,297 \$66,297 \$66,518 \$65,517 \$66,037 \$66,299 \$66,299 \$66,518 \$65,517 \$66,039 \$66,299 \$66,299 \$66,518 \$65,519 \$66,041 \$66,301 \$66,301 \$66,301 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,781 \$66,041 \$66,301 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,782 \$66,042 \$66,302 \$66,302 \$66,522 \$65,782 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,782 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,782 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,782 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,782 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,782 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,524 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,524 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,66 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,66 \$65,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,666 \$65,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,055 \$66,511 </td> | AL ANNUAL ANNUAL ANNUAL 243 \$65,502 \$65,764 \$66,024 244 \$65,503 \$65,765 \$66,025 245 \$65,506 \$65,767 \$66,027 247 \$65,506 \$65,768 \$66,028 248 \$65,507 \$65,769 \$66,029 249 \$65,508 \$65,770 \$66,031 250 \$65,509 \$65,771 \$66,032 251 \$65,510 \$65,772 \$66,032 252 \$65,511 \$65,773 \$66,032 253 \$65,512 \$65,774 \$66,032 254 \$65,513 \$65,775 \$66,032 255 \$65,514 \$65,775 \$66,032 255 \$65,513 \$65,777 \$66,032 255 \$65,514 \$65,778 \$66,033 255 \$65,518 \$65,779 \$66,033 256 \$65,518 \$66,778 \$66,033 257 \$66,518 \$66,779 \$ | ANNUAL ANNUAL ANNUAL ANNUAL 433 \$65,502 \$65,764 \$66,024 \$66,284 \$424 \$65,503 \$65,765 \$66,025 \$66,285 \$466,286 \$65,504 \$65,506 \$66,286 \$66,286 \$466,885 \$65,504 \$65,766 \$66,027 \$66,287 \$47 \$65,506 \$65,768 \$66,027 \$66,287 \$447 \$65,506 \$65,768 \$66,027 \$66,288 \$48 \$65,507 \$65,769 \$66,029 \$66,289 \$49 \$65,508 \$65,770 \$66,030 \$66,299 \$66,299 \$66,299 \$66,299 \$66,299 \$66,299 \$66,509 \$65,509 \$65,771 \$66,031 \$66,291 \$65,510 \$65,511 \$65,511 \$65,512 \$65,511 \$65,512 \$65,512 \$65,774 \$66,032 \$66,292 \$66,292 \$65,513 \$65,775 \$66,033 \$66,294 \$65,513 \$65,775 \$66,034 \$66,294 \$65,513 \$65,776 \$66,035 \$66,295 \$65,514 \$65,5776 \$66,036 \$66,296 \$65,515 \$65,514 \$65,776 \$66,037 \$66,296 \$65,515 \$65,514 \$65,776 \$66,037 \$66,297 \$65,518 \$65,517 \$66,037 \$66,297 \$66,297 \$66,518 \$65,517 \$66,037 \$66,299 \$66,299 \$66,518 \$65,517 \$66,039 \$66,299 \$66,299 \$66,518 \$65,519 \$66,041 \$66,301 \$66,301 \$66,301 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,781 \$66,041 \$66,301 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,782 \$66,042 \$66,302 \$66,302 \$66,522 \$65,782 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,782 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,782 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,782 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,782 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,782 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,524 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,522 \$65,524 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,66 \$66,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,66 \$65,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,666 \$65,522 \$65,786 \$66,044 \$66,301 \$66,055 \$66,511 | | | | |

| 48 | \$65,030 | \$76,111 | \$78,271 | \$77,036 | \$80,274 | \$85,554 | \$84,400 |
|----|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|
| 49 | \$65,031 | \$76,112 | \$81,339 | \$80,047 | \$81,937 | \$83,956 | \$84,401 |
| 50 | \$65,032 | \$79,520 | \$81,340 | \$81,710 | \$81,938 | \$83,957 | \$84,402 |
| 51 | \$65,033 | \$82,564 | \$81,341 | \$81,711 | \$81,939 | \$83,958 | \$84,403 |

Appendix A.3 2023-2024 Salary Matrix A-3

| 2023-2024 A3 SCHEDULE: LEVEL 3 EDUCATORS Based on 188 DAY/6.5 HOUR work schedule | | | | | |
|--|---------------|--------------|----------------|-----------|--|
| D | aseu on 100 D | A 1/0.5 HOUR | k work scheuul | e | |
| EDUCATION | MA | MA+15 | MA+45 | Doctorate | |
| STEP | ANNUAL | ANNUAL | ANNUAL | ANNUAL | |
| 1 | \$75,813 | \$76,182 | \$76,550 | \$76,919 | |
| 2 | \$75,814 | \$76,183 | \$76,551 | \$76,920 | |
| 3 | \$75,815 | \$76,184 | \$76,552 | \$76,921 | |
| 4 | \$75,816 | \$76,185 | \$76,553 | \$76,922 | |
| 5 | \$75,817 | \$76,186 | \$76,554 | \$76,923 | |
| 6 | \$75,818 | \$76,187 | \$76,555 | \$76,924 | |
| 7 | \$75,819 | \$76,188 | \$76,556 | \$76,925 | |
| 8 | \$75,820 | \$76,189 | \$76,557 | \$76,926 | |
| 9 | \$75,821 | \$76,190 | \$76,558 | \$76,927 | |
| 10 | \$75,822 | \$76,191 | \$76,559 | \$76,928 | |
| 11 | \$75,823 | \$76,192 | \$76,560 | \$76,929 | |
| 12 | \$75,824 | \$76,193 | \$76,561 | \$76,930 | |
| 13 | \$75,825 | \$76,194 | \$76,562 | \$76,931 | |
| 14 | \$75,826 | \$76,195 | \$76,563 | \$76,932 | |
| 15 | \$75,827 | \$76,196 | \$76,564 | \$76,933 | |
| 16 | \$75,828 | \$76,197 | \$76,565 | \$76,934 | |
| 17 | \$75,829 | \$76,198 | \$76,566 | \$76,935 | |
| 18 | \$75,830 | \$76,199 | \$76,567 | \$76,936 | |
| 19 | \$75,831 | \$76,200 | \$76,568 | \$76,937 | |
| 20 | \$75,832 | \$76,201 | \$76,569 | \$76,938 | |
| 21 | \$75,833 | \$76,202 | \$76,570 | \$76,939 | |
| 22 | \$75,834 | \$76,203 | \$76,571 | \$76,940 | |
| 23 | \$75,835 | \$76,204 | \$76,572 | \$76,941 | |
| 24 | \$75,836 | \$76,205 | \$76,573 | \$76,942 | |
| 25 | \$75,837 | \$76,206 | \$76,574 | \$76,943 | |
| 26 | \$75,838 | \$76,207 | \$76,575 | \$76,944 | |
| 27 | \$75,839 | \$76,208 | \$76,576 | \$76,945 | |
| 28 | \$75,840 | \$76,209 | \$76,577 | \$76,946 | |
| 29 | \$75,841 | \$76,210 | \$76,578 | \$76,947 | |
| 30 | \$75,842 | \$76,211 | \$76,579 | \$76,948 | |
| 31 | \$75,843 | \$76,212 | \$76,580 | \$76,949 | |
| 32 | \$75,844 | \$76,213 | \$76,581 | \$76,950 | |
| 33 | \$75,845 | \$76,214 | \$76,582 | \$76,951 | |
| 34 | \$75,846 | \$76,215 | \$76,583 | \$76,952 | |
| 35 | \$75,847 | \$76,216 | \$76,584 | \$76,953 | |
| 36 | \$75,848 | \$76,217 | \$76,585 | \$76,954 | |
| 37 | \$75,849 | \$76,218 | \$76,586 | \$76,955 | |
| 38 | \$75,850 | \$76,219 | \$76,587 | \$76,956 | |
| 39 | \$75,851 | \$76,220 | \$76,588 | \$76,957 | |
| 40 | \$75,852 | \$76,221 | \$76,589 | \$76,958 | |
| 41 | \$75,853 | \$76,222 | \$76,590 | \$78,612 | |

| 42 | \$75,854 | \$76,223 | \$76,563 | \$78,613 |
|----|----------|----------|----------|----------|
| 43 | \$75,855 | \$76,224 | \$77,656 | \$78,614 |
| 44 | \$75,856 | \$75,987 | \$77,657 | \$78,615 |
| 45 | \$75,857 | \$77,298 | \$77,756 | \$78,714 |
| 46 | \$77,838 | \$78,679 | \$83,195 | \$83,533 |
| 47 | \$79,422 | \$80,261 | \$83,926 | \$84,265 |
| 48 | \$79,423 | \$80,262 | \$85,555 | \$85,893 |
| 49 | \$79,424 | \$83,435 | \$85,556 | \$85,894 |
| 50 | \$79,425 | \$83,436 | \$87,177 | \$87,516 |
| 51 | \$88,678 | \$89,016 | \$89,357 | \$89,696 |

Appendix A.4 2023-2024 TAN Salary Matrix

| 2023-2024 TAN Schedule: Therapist Assistants Based on 188 DAY/6.5 HOUR work schedule | | | |
|--|----------|----------|--|
| Grade | Level 1 | Level 2 | |
| STEP | ANNUAL | ANNUAL | |
| 1 | \$48,737 | \$58,484 | |
| 2 | \$48,738 | \$58,485 | |
| 3 | \$48,739 | \$58,486 | |
| 4 | \$48,740 | \$58,487 | |
| 5 | \$48,741 | \$58,488 | |
| 6 | \$48,742 | \$58,489 | |
| 7 | \$48,743 | \$58,490 | |
| 8 | \$48,744 | \$58,491 | |
| 9 | \$48,745 | \$58,492 | |
| 10 | \$48,746 | \$58,493 | |
| 11 | \$48,747 | \$58,494 | |
| 12 | \$48,748 | \$58,495 | |
| 13 | \$48,749 | \$58,496 | |
| 14 | \$48,750 | \$58,497 | |
| 15 | \$48,751 | \$58,498 | |
| 16 | \$48,752 | \$58,499 | |
| 17 | \$48,753 | \$58,500 | |
| 18 | \$48,754 | \$58,501 | |
| 19 | \$48,755 | \$58,502 | |
| 20 | \$48,756 | \$58,503 | |

Appendix A.5 2023-2024 CSC Salary

| COMMUNITY SCHOOL COORDINATORS | | | | | |
|-------------------------------|--|----------|----------|----------|--|
| | 8 hours per day/206 days | | | | |
| No Degree | No Degree Associates Bachelors Masters PHD | | | | |
| \$51,410 | \$51,410 | \$51,410 | \$51,410 | \$51,410 | |

Appendix A.6 2023-2024 BMS Salary

Behavior Management Specialist duty day, work year and pay rate 8-hour duty day, 188-day work calendar

- Base wage: \$26.50 per hour
- \$26.50 pr hr. X 8 hrs. X 188 = \$39,856 base annual salary

| Degree Differentials | | | | | |
|----------------------|---------|----------------|--|--|--|
| Bachelors | Masters | PHD, Doctorate | | | |
| \$1.000 | \$1.500 | \$2.000 | | | |

Appendix A.7 2023-2024 Parity Matrix

| EDUCATION | ВА | ВА | MA | MA+15 | MA+45/EdS | DOCTORATE |
|-----------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|-----------------|
| | | | | | | |
| CTED | Former A-2 |
| STEP | ANNUAL | ANNUAL | ANNUAL | ANNUAL | ANNUAL | ANNUAL |
| 20 | | | | | | A 00.070 |
| 21 | | | | | | \$83,272 |
| 22 | | | | | | |
| 23 | | | | | | |
| 24 | | | | | | |
| 25 | | | 4 | | 4 | |
| 26 | | | \$87,595 | | \$91,553 | |
| 27 | | | | \$89,575 | \$91,554 | |
| 28 | | \$87,598 | | \$91,594 | \$93,569 | \$103,585 |
| 29 | | | \$87,599 | \$95,755 | \$97,573 | |
| 30 | | | | \$95,756 | \$97,733 | |
| 31 | | | | \$95,757 | \$97,734 | |
| 32 | | | | \$95,758 | \$97,735 | |
| 33 | | | | | \$97,736 | |
| 34 | | | \$75,957 | | \$101,321 | |
| 35 | \$78,233 | | | | \$101,322 | |
| 36 | \$80,512 | | | \$85,164 | | |
| 37 | \$82,104 | | \$87,608 | \$85,165 | | |
| 38 | | | \$82,337 | | | |
| 39 | | | \$87,610 | \$85,168 | | |
| 40 | | | | | \$101,328 | |
| 41 | | | \$83,043 | \$85,171 | | |
| 42 | | | \$87,614 | | | |
| 43 | | | | | | |
| 44 | | | | | | |
| 45 | | | | | | |

APPENDIX B - CLASS SIZE REQUIREMENTS

| Subject/Grade | Maximum Enrollment | Comment |
|---------------|-----------------------|---|
| Kindergarten | 20 | The teacher is entitled to an instructional assistant with a class load of 15 or more students. |
| Grade 1 | | The teacher is entitled to a full-time instructional assistant with a class load of 21 or more students. |
| Grades 1-3 | | The average class load at an individual elementary school shall not exceed 22 students. |
| Grades 4-6 | | The average class load at an individual elementary school shall not exceed 24 students. |
| Grades 7-12 | 160 | The daily teaching load shall not exceed 160 in all content areas except required English courses. For example, this requirement includes music, physical education, and art. |
| English 7-8 | 135/27 | The daily teaching load shall not exceed 135 students with a maximum of 27 students per class. |
| English 9-12 | 150/30 | The daily teaching load shall not exceed 150 students with a maximum of 30 students per class. |

Source: New Mexico Public School Code, Section 22-10A-20 (2003)

APPENDIX C - SPECIAL EDUCATION CASELOADS

| | Α | В | С | D |
|----|------|------|------|------|
| 1 | 0.03 | 0.04 | 0.07 | 0.13 |
| 2 | 0.06 | 0.08 | 0.13 | 0.25 |
| 3 | 0.09 | 0.13 | 0.20 | 0.38 |
| 4 | 0.11 | 0.17 | 0.27 | 0.50 |
| 5 | 0.14 | 0.21 | 0.33 | 0.63 |
| 6 | 0.17 | 0.25 | 0.40 | 0.75 |
| 7 | 0.20 | 0.29 | 0.47 | 0.88 |
| 8 | 0.23 | 0.33 | 0.53 | 1.00 |
| 9 | 0.26 | 0.38 | 0.60 | |
| 10 | 0.29 | 0.42 | 0.67 | |
| 11 | 0.31 | 0.46 | 0.73 | |
| 12 | 0.34 | 0.50 | 0.80 | |
| 13 | 0.37 | 0.54 | 0.87 | |
| 14 | 0.40 | 0.58 | 0.93 | |
| 15 | 0.43 | 0.63 | 1.00 | |
| 16 | 0.46 | 0.67 | | |
| 17 | 0.49 | 0.71 | | |
| 18 | 0.51 | 0.75 | | |
| 19 | 0.54 | 0.79 | | |
| 20 | 0.57 | 0.83 | | |
| 21 | 0.60 | 0.88 | | |
| 22 | 0.63 | 0.92 | | |
| 23 | 0.66 | 0.96 | | |
| 24 | 0.69 | 1.00 | | |
| 25 | 0.71 | | | |
| 26 | 0.74 | | | |
| 27 | 0.77 | | | |
| 28 | 0.80 | | | |
| 29 | 0.83 | | | |
| 30 | 0.86 | | | |
| 31 | 0.89 | | | |
| 32 | 0.91 | | | |
| 33 | 0.94 | | | |
| 34 | 0.97 | | | |
| 35 | 1.00 | | | |

APPENDIX D - LEAVES OF ABSENCE

Whom to contact when requesting a leave:

- Leaves of ten (10) consecutive workdays or fewer will be requested through and approved by the principal or supervisor.
- Unless otherwise specified, extended leaves of more than ten (10) days, with or without pay, will be requested through the Extended Leave Clerk's office in the Department of Human Resources.

This chart is a quick reference guide to leaves. Refer to Article 18 of this Agreement for full details.

| LEAVES | | | |
|-------------------------------|--|--------------------------|--------------------------|
| Leave | Leave Description/Conditions | | Effect on Pay |
| Advanced Study Leave | Advanced Study: An educator who has been employed under the terms of this Agreement by the District for at least three (3) continuous contract years or more immediately preceding the granting of this leave is eligible for advanced study leave for up to one (1) year. | Extended Leave Clerk | Leave without pay |
| Assault Leave | Up to twenty (20) duty days for time resulting from physical injuries caused by an assault while carrying out the duties and responsibilities of an educator. Assault means an intentional act which causes an injury. Any educator assaulted shall report the incident to the principal immediately. In the event more than three (3) days are lost as a result of the assault, the educator shall submit to the principal a physician's certificate attesting to the injury. | Principal/ Supervisor | No loss |
| Bereavement Leave | Up to five (5) days. Three (3) days of leave with pay is automatically granted and two (2) additional days leave with pay will be granted if requested. Bereavement leave is not cumulative nor is it deducted from an educator's sick leave. | Principal/ Supervisor | No loss |
| Court Leave | ave Granted for jury duty. Principal/ No loss/ | | No loss/ limited loss |
| Extended Sick Leave | Extended Sick Leave: An educator who is unable to teach because of personal illness or disability and who has exhausted all available sick leave shall be granted leave for up to one (1) year. | Extended Leave Clerk | Leave without pay |
| Extended Personal Leave | Leave without pay for up to one (1) year may be granted to an educator provided said educator has been actively employed for five (5) continuous contract years preceding the granting of this leave and has not been granted an extended part-time leave within that period. | Extended Leave Clerk | Leave without pay |

| Extended | Extended Part-time Leave: Educators who have been employed by | Extended | Leave |
|------------------|--|--------------|--------------|
| Part-Time | the District in a full-time capacity for five (5) continuous contract | Leave Clerk | without pay |
| leave | years prior to granting this leave, may be granted leave to work less | | |
| | than full-time for up to one (1) school year. | | |
| Illness in the | Up to three (3) days of sick leave may be used by an educator for | Principal/ | No loss |
| Immediate | each serious illness of a member of that educator's immediate | Supervisor | |
| Family | family or birth of a child of an educator. Serious illness shall mean | | |
| | an illness where death is probable and may occur, surgery is | | |
| | performed requiring hospitalization, or illness requiring treatment | | |
| | by a physician. Two (2) additional days of sick leave may be used | | |
| | where round-trip travel is six hundred (600) miles or more. | | |
| Military | Employees who perform duty, voluntarily or involuntarily, in the | Extended | Limited loss |
| Leave | "uniformed services," which include the Army, Navy, Marine | Leave Clerk | of pay/loss |
| | Corps, Air Force, Coast Guard, as well as the reserve components | | of pay |
| | of each of these services, Army National Guard, Air Force National | | |
| | Guard, Commissioned Corps of the Public Health Service, and any | | |
| | other category of persons designated by the President in time or war | | |
| | or emergency, will be eligible for reassignment to the position they | | |
| | vacated prior to taking military leave after completing duty. | | |
| Unpaid | Parental Leave: A parental leave of absence for up to one (1) year | Extended | Leave |
| Parental | shall be granted upon request to an educator for the purpose of | Leave Clerk | without pay |
| Leave | childbearing and/or child rearing as follows: | | |
| | 1) An educator who is pregnant shall be entitled upon request to a | | |
| | leave to begin at any time between the commencement of her | | |
| | pregnancy and one (1) year after a child is born to her. If not on | | |
| | parental leave of absence, any portion of an educator's absence | | |
| | from work because of a medical disability connected with or | | |
| | resulting from her pregnancy may be charged to her available sick leave. | | |
| | 2) A non-birth educator shall be entitled upon request and | | |
| | verification of birth date to a leave to begin at any time between the | | |
| | birth of their child and one (1) year thereafter. | | |
| | 3) An educator adopting a child shall be entitled upon request to a | | |
| | leave commencing when custody occurs or prior to receiving | | |
| | custody if necessary to fulfill the requirement of adoption. | | |
| Personal | An educator will be granted up to five (5) days of leave per year to | Principal/ | Limited loss |
| Emergency | cover situations beyond the control of the educator which would | Supervisor | of pay/ loss |
| Leave | significantly impair teaching service. Personal emergency leave | | of pay |
| | may not be used for illness/injury, or illness/injury or in the | | 1 13 |
| | immediate family. Deductions from the gross pay of an educator for | | |
| | this leave shall be made at the degreed substitute rate of pay for | | |
| | each day taken. | | |
| | An educator may be granted up to five (5) days leave without pay | | |
| | for business and/or personal reasons having unusual circumstances. | | |
| Personal | One (1) day of leave with pay each year is granted to an educator | Principal/ | No loss |
| Leave | for personal matters which require the educator's absence during | Supervisor | |
| | school hours. This leave may be accumulated up to five (5) days. | (Not subject | |
| | Except in emergency situations, the educator shall give at least | to approval | |
| | three (3) school days' notice to the principal that leave will be taken | of the | |

| | under this section. The employee need not state the reason for taking leave under this section. | principal) | |
|--------------------------------------|--|---|--------------------------|
| Professional Development Leave | Professional leave is provided for professional development, professional organizational activities, and school-related professional activities. An educator may be granted this leave without loss of pay when (1) serving as a representative of the District or (2) attending conferences, workshops, meetings, seminars, or other activities related to the educator's assignment. | Principal/ Supervisor | No loss |
| Political Leave | Leave of absence with pay shall be granted for the purpose of holding political office. The educator/office holder shall request in writing a leave within the framework of this policy and shall receive a written response defining the terms of the leave. | Superintendent | Loss of pay/ No loss |
| Religious Leave | An educator will be granted up to two (2) days of leave per year for observance of recognized religious events. Deductions from the gross pay of the educator for this leave shall be made at the degreed substitute rate of pay for each day taken. An employee may convert one day of sick leave to one day of religious leave during the school year. The employee must submit a special leave slip to their supervisor at least three (3) days prior to the date the leave will be taken. The employee need not disclose their religious beliefs verbally or in writing. | Principal/ Supervisor (Not subject to approval by the principal) | Loss of pay/ No loss |
| Sabbatical Leave | Dependent upon the availability of non-District funding, an educator may be granted sabbatical leave with pay. Such leave may be for one (1) semester or one (1) year. Only those certified educators who have been actively employed by the District for at least six (6) continuous contract years preceding the granting of this leave are eligible. Requests for sabbatical leave must be submitted no later than March 1. | Extended Leave Clerk | No loss |
| Sick Leave | All active employees on matricesA1, A-2 and A-3 will be credited with paid sick leave at the start of the contract year. | | No loss |
| Sick Leave Bank | To be eligible for participation in the Sick Leave Bank (SLB), an educator must voluntarily contribute each pay period, through payroll deduction, a sum which is designated by the joint Sick Leave Bank Committee. | Sick Leave Bank Clerk | No loss up to 40 days |

| Paid Parental | Paid parental leave is a benefit that provides paid leave for an | Extended | 40% of |
|---------------|---|-------------|--------------|
| Leave | eligible employee to bond with his or her newborn, adopted child, | Leave Clerk | wages paid |
| | or foster child. | | for up to 30 |
| | 1. Employees with accrued sick and/or personal leave may | | days. |
| | first earn their full rate of pay for any accrued sick or | | Employees |
| | personal leave days. | | may also |
| | 2. A parental leave of absence for up to thirty (30) workdays | | supplement |
| | shall be granted upon request for the purpose of | | this leave |
| | childbearing and/or child rearing. Benefit entitlement for | | with their |
| | eligible employees consists of: | | accrued |
| | a. Gross pay during this time will be 40 percent of wages; | | time. |
| | b. Accrual of sick and vacation time will continue while | | |
| | on paid parental leave status; | | |
| | c. Medical coverage shall continue to be available for the | | |
| | employee and any dependents under their current group | | |
| | insurance policy in existence at the time of paid parental | | |
| | leave. While on paid leave, the continued coverage will be | | |
| | provided on the same basis as available to the employee | | |
| | during the course of employment; and | | |
| | d. Seniority of employees shall not be impacted by | | |
| | parental leave. | | |
| | 3. The Parental Leave Benefit begins with any of the | | |
| | following qualified events: | | |
| | a. At the commencement of her pregnancy for an | | |
| | expecting mother; or | | |
| | b. On the date of the birth of the child; or | | |
| | c. On the date of placement for adoption or prior to | | |
| | receiving custody, if necessary, in order to fulfill the | | |
| | requirement of adoption of a child age eighteen (18) | | |
| | years or younger; or | | |
| | d. On the date of placement for foster care of a child | | |
| | (excluding the adopting of a stepchild or partner's | | |
| | child) age eighteen (18) years or younger. | | |
| | 4. Both parents are eligible for parental leave. | | |
| 1 | | I | |

EXTENDED LEAVES OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY

For complete descriptions, conditions and requirements please refer to Article 18. P. of this Agreement

- Extended leaves are granted for up to one (1) year.
- An educator returning to duty from an extended leave shall be reassigned to the original teaching position or, if that position is no longer available, to a substantially equivalent position to that held by the educator at the commencement of the leave.
- An educator returning from an extended leave must file intent to return to the school system no later than March 1. Failure to do so will be considered a resignation on the part of the educator effective at the conclusion of the leave or the school year, whichever comes first.
- All requests for extended leaves of absence shall be submitted to the Extended Leave Clerk's office in the Department of Human Resources.
- Time spent on extended leaves of absence will not be counted for seniority purposes.
- Extended leaves of absence will not be denied because of length of service except as provided herein.
- Time spent on extended leaves of absence shall not be considered a break in continuous service.

| Listing of Extended Leaves | | |
|--|---|--|
| Advanced Study Leave Charter School Leave Extended Sick Leave Extended Personal Leave | Extended Part-time Leave Illness in the Immediate Family Parental Leave | |

APPENDIX E - TIME CHART

The Negotiated Agreement and District practices allow for additional time and flexible scheduling to be used for professional development and other school-specific functions. The chart below clarifies how the time can be used and who determines how it is used.

| Article of agreement and/or description 5, C.4. Lengthening of the duty day (see page 15) | What The duty day can be extended up to two (2) hours every twenty workdays. The time must be used for school business and must be attached to the duty day. In other words, educators cannot be required to return to | Who decides Principal/Supervisor can use these hours at their discretion. |
|--|--|---|
| 5, C.5. Professional Development time (see pages 15 and 32) | work in the evenings. Schools may utilize up to an additional thirteen (13) hours annually for professional development activities collaboratively planned through the Instructional Council. Any district-mandated training will be included in these hours in accordance with the procedures outlined in Appendix D. | It is the Instructional Council's responsibility to: Decide in collaboration with the whole staff whether or not to use up to 13 hours annually for professional development; Come to consensus with the staff on the content of the professional development; Come to consensus with the staff on the scheduling of up to 13 hours annually for professional development. |
| 5, C.6. Federal, state, or judicial training requirements (see page 15) | Up to fourteen (14) hours per school year can be used if required by a federal, state, or judicial mandate. | The District notifies educators of the training and the entity requiring the training. |
| "Banking" of instructional time | Schools sometimes extend the student instructional day to get blocks of time for school-specific activities. By extending the instructional day, schools meet state requirements concerning instructional time. This provides time when students are excused from school so that staff can have time for professional development, inservice, training, etc. | It is the Instructional Council's responsibility to: Decide in collaboration with the whole staff whether to bank time; Work collaboratively with the whole staff to decide the content of the professional development and the date or dates it will be held. |
| Open House/Curriculum Night | It is a professional responsibility of educators to attend two (2) open house or curriculum night. | ATF and APS mutually agreed that it is the responsibility of the educator to attend one of these functions. It is the principal who decides when the function will occur. |

APPENDIX F - CREDENTIAL DIFFERENTIALS

Credential differentials are provided for credentials above minimum teacher licensure requirements. Differentials are provided because the credential adds to the teacher's knowledge base and abilities.

| Bilingual and ESL Differentials – refer to Article 6.D on pages 29-31 of this Agreement for official language | | |
|--|--|--|
| concerning eligibility, reporting requirements, tuition reimbursement, and comprehensive compensation ladder | | |
| details. | | |
| \$500 Differential for Bilingual and ESL | Educators who possess a current Bilingual and/or ESL endorsement receive a differential effective the beginning of the school year. Educators obtaining their endorsement for the first time shall be paid the entire differential payment as long as their endorsement has been approved by the Public Education Department no later than September 30. Note: Endorsements issued after September 15 will be compensated on a prorated basis. Educators on waiver do not qualify for the differential. Differential payments will be made to educators who possess an unexpired, regular teaching license. Speech Language Pathologists, Occupational Therapists and Physical Therapists are eligible for this credential differential. | |
| Additional \$5,000 Differential for Bilingual | Per the school's approved Alternative Language Services (ALS) plan and the Public Education Department's approved Bilingual Application, a \$5,000 differential will be paid to bilingual endorsed teachers who teach content area classes in the student's home language for a minimum of 45 minutes or one class period a day. If a teacher qualifies or begins to provide service for this portion of the differential after the school year begins, the teacher will be paid a prorated amount of the differential. Payment for the \$5,000 portion begins with the first paycheck in December, with all of the checks for the remainder of the contract year equal in value. Note: Teachers must be included in the ALS plan no later than September 15 to receive the full differential amount. Teachers included in the ALS plan and/or commencing services after September 15 will be paid on a prorated basis. | |
| Additional \$2,500 Differential for ESL | Per the school's approved ALS plan, the additional \$2,500 differential is for TESOL endorsed teachers who teach a structured English language (ESL) class for students whose home language is not English for a minimum of 45 minutes or one class period a day. Students who require ESL classes are NEP, LEP, LEPa and at-risk LEPC students as determined by the Language Assessment Scales. Content area classes such as math, social sciences, science, PE, etc. do not substitute for ESL classes. If a teacher qualifies or begins to provide service for this portion of the differential after the school year begins, the teacher will be paid a prorated amount of the differential. Payment for the \$2,500 portion begins with the first paycheck in December, with all the checks for the remainder of the contract year equal in value. Note: Teachers must be included in the ALS plan no later than September 15 to receive the full differential amount. Teachers included in the ALS plan and/or commencing services after September 15 will be paid on a prorated basis. | |
| Additional \$5,500 Differential for Bilingual and ESL | Teachers providing both ESL and Bilingual services according to the requirements above shall receive an additional differential of \$5,500. | |

Additional \$1,000 Differential for TESOL/Bilingual Professional Support

Resource teachers are eligible to receive these differentials if the staffing need exists and they are providing services to a documented caseload of students. SLPs who currently hold a Bilingual or TESOL credential also are eligible.

TESOL/Bilingual support differentials are intended for librarians, resource teachers, and those who work in elementary specials, serving all or a large portion of the students.

- A support differential is \$1,000.00 (in addition to the initial \$500.00 for holding the endorsement).
- Eligible staff must hold a TESOL or Bilingual endorsement.
- Special Education evaluators with a state approved bilingual credential and/or who passed the La Prueba will receive a \$2,000 credential differential.

Teachers of the Deaf

Teachers of the Deaf who hold a certificate that ensures that they are proficient in Sign Language are eligible for one of four (4) bilingual credential differentials. *See page 30 for details*.

National Board for Professional Teaching Standards Certificate

- The State of New Mexico provides funding for a differential for board-certified teachers based on the state's unit value multiplied by a factor of 1.5.
- For school year 2023 2024, the differential value is \$9,362.51.

Should the state discontinue funding this differential, board-certified teachers shall receive a differential of \$2,000.

APPENDIX G - TEACHER LEADERSHIP DIFFERENTIALS

| Differential | Amount |
|---|--|
| | |
| Elementary Team Leaders—There shall be a collaborative effort between administrative and certified staff at each school site to establish up to twelve (12) positions to address both current and innovative curricular and managerial needs. Determination of positions, job descriptions and differential amounts shall be through school-wide consensus of all certified teaching staff. a. Term: Positions shall be for a term of one year; all positions shall be evaluated by the teaching staff annually at the end of the school year redesigned, redefined and/or differential amounts reallocated. Teachers may be reelected to a Team Leader position for more than one year. b. Election of Team Leaders: Team Leaders must be certified members of the teaching staff annually in a secret ballot election. Each certified members of the teaching staff shall receive a list of the positions, job descriptions, and differential list before the election is held and shall have the opportunity to be nominated or to volunteer for the ballot. Results of the election shall be reported to the Department of Human Resources no later than October 1 of each school year. c. Differential: The sum of \$8,085 will be allocated to each elementary school site to be used as payment for differentials. Summary, related information Determination of the number of positions, types of positions, and differential amount for each position shall be made through a school-wide consensus process between the administration and the licensed staff. Note: If a school would like to provide differential compensation for more than twelve (12) teachers, a waiver of the language must be requested. Both Albuquerque Public Schools and the Albuquerque Teachers Federation must approve the waiver request. For the Union to approve the request, seventy-five (75) percent of the Union membership at the school must agree to the request. Requests for waivers should be sent to the Albuquerque Teachers Federation. If the Union approves the request, it will submit the request to the Dis | \$8,085 for up to twelve (12) positions. |
| High School Team Leader/Department Head Election/Selection procedures for choosing Team Leaders, including a procedure for resolving tie votes, will be agreed upon by team members before elections take place. Personnel from each team shall agree to choose Team Leaders in one of the following manners: Team Leaders shall be elected by team members. Team members shall select two (2) or more persons and submit names to principal who shall choose a Team Leader from that list. The Team Leaders shall serve for a period of two (2) years. If the position becomes vacant during the two (2)-year term, a replacement shall be named according to the election/selection procedure described above. | 6-15 teachers in department—\$1,751 16 or more teachers in department—\$1,929 |

| \$2.520 and lable for |
|---|
| \$3,520 available for Academy Leader / Collaboration Facilitators differentials. |
| \$3,520 available for |
| Team Leader differentials (in addition to differential money for MS Team Leaders/Department Heads already available to Middle Schools). |
| \$1,629 |
| Four (4) differentials are available for schools with an enrollment of 800 or fewer students. Five (5) differentials available for schools with an enrollment over 800 students. 1 - 6 teachers in department or on team \$4,000. 7 - 15 members - \$5000. All release head teacher positions will receive a |
| differential of \$3,100 |
| \$2,000 at all comprehensive high schools and alternative high schools. 1 FTE at all middle and elementary schools |
| \$2,000 for mentoring |
| one teacher / \$4000 if |
| they mentor two |
| teachers. |
| (see Article 9 for additional information.) |
| |

APPENDIX H - DEPARTMENT CHAIR ELECTION GUIDELINES

A. General Considerations

Below are questions to be answered by the department, before the first nomination is made and certainly before the first ballot is cast. Each school may have a different view on each question, but there should be agreement on these issues before the process continues.

- 1. Determine the method of election/selection outlined in the Negotiated Agreement under Article 6.E. Will an election be conducted, or will the names of two or more persons be submitted to the principal for their selection?
- 2. Determine the universe of voters. Who is eligible to participate in the election?
 - All certified staff who work in the department?
 - Does this include part-time employees? Contract employees? All ancillary personnel? Itinerant ancillary persons, such as OTs, PTs, who may visit the school only once or twice a week?
 - What about employees who teach in two or more departments, e.g., language arts and social studies? Do they vote in the department even if they only teach one class in that particular department?
 - If a teacher will be transferring or retiring before the start of the following school year, should that person be eligible to vote?
- 3. Determine the definition of vote.
 - One person, one vote? This is the usual practice.
 - Does the "vote" of someone who is part-time (e.g., a .2 FTE) count the same as someone who is full-time?
 - Should there be a "weighted" vote? Should a "vote" be based on the number of periods a person is in the department? For example, someone who teaches six periods per day in a department would have six votes. One who teaches two periods per day would have two votes. How would this apply to itinerant people like Adaptive PE teachers and OTs?
- 4. Specify how a winner is determined.
 - Should the winner be elected by a simple majority of the votes cast, that is 50 percent + one?
 - If there are multiple candidates, should a runoff election be held, or should the winner be the candidate who receives a plurality of the votes?
- 5. Determine, publish, and distribute the timeline and procedures for the election.

B. Procedural Recommendations

- Decide on a calendar for the election. In highly contested elections, it is recommended that the following take place:
 - 1. Have a nomination period of several days.
 - 2. Post the nominations in the lounge during and after the nomination period.
 - 3. Conduct a department meeting in which each candidate can make a statement of their reasons for seeking the position and to answer questions by department members.
 - 4. Election Day(s)—Announce when the voting day(s) will be well in advance.
- Post or distribute the election calendar, voting procedures <u>AND</u> the list of eligible voters, as decided by the department.

- It is recommended to conduct voting for at least two days and to develop a procedure for absentee voting, in case someone is sick or will be off campus during the election period.
- Print official ballots and secure a ballot box. If you can, obtain the use of a ballot box that can be locked. Place the ballot box in a public location for the voting period.
- Make sure to clarify the times for voting and for counting the votes. At the close of balloting, count the votes in the same public location. Invite everyone to the vote count.
- The election procedures should specify what will happen in the event of a tie. Will a tie be broken by a coin toss, or drawing high card or other chance drawing? The tie-breaker method should be agreed upon by both candidates, and understood by everyone, <u>before</u> the first vote is cast.

These guidelines have been developed from past experiences where voter eligibility and procedures have been at issue. It is strongly recommended that you plan for every contingency to ensure the integrity of the election.

APPENDIX I – ATF/APS CONFLICT RESOLUTION PROCEDURE

Refer to Article 25 of the Negotiated Agreement

The following process is an available option that may be used when a conflict exists between a supervisor and employee which the two parties have not been able to resolve on their own and the issue:

- 1. does not rise to the level of a grievable matter, but does warrant resolution; or
- 2. is grievable, but the employee does not wish to begin resolution efforts through the formal grievance procedure. If the grievance procedure would normally be available, any applicable timelines involved in the formal grievance procedure would be frozen or held in abeyance until such time as one or both parties voluntarily withdraw from the conflict resolution procedure.

It is understood that the conflict resolution procedure is voluntary and that both parties would have to agree to enter into the process to seek a remedy in the manner outlined below.

Stage 1. Face to face meeting between the parties occurs at a location offsite if requested by one or both parties. At this meeting, each party is given the opportunity to state the problem as they see it and respond to the other individual's issue and or perspective. At this point, the parties involved in the conflict may each ask for the assistance of a representative to assist in attempting to resolve the matter.

Either party or both parties may ask to have a third-party ombudsman (trained in conflict resolution strategies) accompany them at this time—not as an advocate—but as a facilitator, with the purpose being to find a resolution to the conflict. The ombudsman would be selected from a cadre of trained facilitators.

Process: Allow for adequate time to resolve the matter. This could be limited to a set number of days or end with a notice from one party to another that they want to move on to mediation.

- If resolution occurs—matter closed.
- If problem is not resolved, then both parties agree to move to the second stage.
- **Stage 2.** Mediation between the parties occurs with one or more trained mediators from EAP with the goal of reaching a resolution to the conflict.

Process: To activate the mediation process, indicate in writing on a form, developed for this purpose, that there is a dispute needing resolution through mediation. Submit copy of form to Employee Assistance Program to request the mediation process formally begin.

Protocol: Mediate in good faith

- This includes a requirement of confidentiality
- Open sharing of information
- Promptness and observation of timelines
- No steps are taken toward grievance or arbitration until the whole mediation process is completed.

If resolution is reached through mediation, a written agreement is signed by both parties with both parties agreeing to abide by the resolution. If no resolution is reached, a written statement to that effect is signed by both parties. Other avenues for resolution may be pursued if available.

APPENDIX J - MEMORANDA OF UNDERSTANDING

J.1 2023-2024 Professional Development and Educator Preparation Day Memorandum of Understanding

2023-2024 Professional Development Days and Educator Preparation Day

The Board of Education approved a new instructional calendar, which now includes additional instructional days and PD days. For the 2023-2024 school year, the parties agree to a continuation of district-directed, site-determined professional development, and educator preparation, during the first three days. School sites must decide the focus of each of the site-determined time based on consensus achieved through the site Instructional Council/District ICs. Professional Development may be held at schools if there is no availability in District facilities (i.e., Berna Facio, Rankin, City Center, and M Building)

| July 31,2023 | Site-Based Orientation/Site-Determined PD/Registration – as determined by the Instructional Council |
|----------------------------------|--|
| August 1, 2023 August 2, 2023 | A schedule will be disseminated for all district-determined PD. That schedule will determine which of the two (2) days will be designated for uninterrupted educator preparation and planning District-Based PD focus areas include: • ELA O'Dell Adoption (HS Language Arts) • Foundational Skills for Early Literacy • K-12 Math • 6-12 Social Studies • MLSS • SEL/Restorative Practices Employees who are not scheduled for district-directed PD can |

| | help with registration or work in department/grade level/role group collaboration. |
|--|---|
| August 3, 2023 | 1 st – 12 th grade students return to school |
| November 7, 2023 | District-Determined Professional Development Day All sites, all employees. |
| January 8 th and 9 th | Professional Development and Educator Preparation – all sites, all employees. • January 8, 2024 – 2/3 district-directed PD, 1/3 Collaboration • January 9, 2024 – 2/3 site-determined PD. 1/3 Planning *Days may be flipped |
| September 5, 2023 October 12, 2023 November 6, 2023 February 16, 2024 March 22, 2024 April 26, 2024 May 24, 2024 | Professional Development/Collaboration Days for Elementary, K-8 and Middle Schools (non TOPS schools) |

9/5 – site-determined PD

10/12 - district-determined PD

11/6 - site-determined PD

2/16 - site-determined PD

3/22 - district-determined PD

4/26 - site-determined PD

5/24 - district-determined PD

Professional Development/Collaboration Days for Elementary, K-8 and Middle Schools (non TOPS schools)

Half of each day will be designated for professional development and half for collaboration.

Team collaboration and co-planning time will focus on implementation of the professional development/training, district strategic plan and school goals, student centered learning and student engagement. Instructional Councils determine collaboration structure.

Considerations for collaboration time:

- For middle schools consider scheduling collaboration around family (if applicable) groupings.
- How might Early Warning System and 90-day plans focus collaborative teams?

PD for the specialized role groups listed below will be as follows:

| Tuesday, August 1, 2023 | For Elementary. K-8, and Middle Schools only unless otherwise specified below: Thursday, October 12, 2023 Tuesday, November 7, 2023 (K-12) Friday, March 22, 2024 |
|---|---|
| Audiologist Librarians Nurses Head Teachers Social Workers Counselors APE Teachers Fine Arts Teachers (all levels) Interpreters HI/VI Teachers SLPs, OTs, and PTs IEP Specialists IGS1 and IGS2 SCS1 and SCS2 SES1 and SES2 BMS/BCBA Pre-K/Developmental Pre-School CTE Teachers Health Teachers Community School Coordinators AVID Elective Teachers PE Teachers (PE Teachers will also have a PE summit on November 7, 2023) School Psychologists Transition Specialists Diagnosticians | Audiologist Librarians Nurses Head Teachers Social Workers Counselors Fine Arts Teachers Pre-K/Developmental Pre-School SLPs, OTs, and PTs IEP Specialists School Psychologists Transition Specialists Diagnosticians |

J.2 Elementary Special Education Head Teacher

Memorandum of Understanding Elementary Special Education Head Teacher

The District and the Federation agree that, as funds become available, an additional differential of \$4,000 will be allocated for an additional Elementary Head Special Education Teacher at school sites where head teachers currently have no time released within the duty day.

Allocations will be prioritized based on the Special Education Department's criteria including the greatest number of Special Education programs at the elementary site and a large number of programs serving Intensive Global Support 1 (IGS1), Intensive Global Support 2 (IGS2), Social Communication Support (SCS1 or SCS2 or SCS3), Social Emotional Support 1 (SES1), and Social Emotional Support 2 (SES2) students.

J.3 Administrative Transfers

Memorandum of Understanding Administrative Transfers

- A. The parties have a mutual interest in establishing an Administrative Transfer process that is fair and addresses concerns not related to teaching performance or issues related to conduct. The pilot process in this agreement shall continue to be in effect for the 2011-2012 school year.
 - 1. The parties agree to evaluate the effectiveness of the process during contract negotiations for the 2012-2013 contract.
 - 2. The parties agree that the process included in this agreement will be used when determining whether an educator can be administratively transferred from one school or site to another.
 - 3. As part of the process in this provision, the parties agree to establish a panel consisting of one member from the District, one member from the Federation, and, if one or both parties deem it necessary, one member from the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS).

B. Administrative Transfer Process

- 1. If there is an ongoing conflict or other condition that exists between an educator and his or her administrator(s) and/or colleague(s), it is the administrator's responsibility to determine if the concerns about an educator are related to teaching performance that should be addressed through the evaluation procedure or specific conduct that should be subject to the district's progressive discipline policy.
- 2. If the administrator determines that the actions of the educator or other conditions result in the educator being incompatible with the administrator or colleagues at the school, the administrator will notify the educator of the specific reason(s) in writing why the administrator believes that the educator should be considered for an Administrative Transfer.
 - a. Employees will have a minimum of one month to demonstrate that the concerns have been addressed.
 - b. It is recommended that the parties meet periodically, even after the issue is resolved.
- 3. If, after being notified of the concerns, the behavior or condition stops or ceases to exist, the administrator will notify the educator in writing that he or she is no longer being considered for an Administrative Transfer.
- 4. If the behavior or condition continues to occur or exist, it is the responsibility of the administrator to initiate a formal process to determine if the educator will be administratively transferred.
 - a. The administrator will notify the Executive Director of Labor Relations and the President of the Albuquerque Teachers Federation (ATF) that they want to convene a meeting of the panel to determine whether the educator will be considered for an Administrative Transfer.
 - b. The panel shall convene and review the evidence presented by the administration and the educator. Both the educator and administrator can be assisted in the presentation of information by a representative or advisor of their choosing at this and any meeting of the panel throughout the entire process.
 - c. The panel will determine if the behavior or condition could warrant an Administrative Transfer.
 - d. If the case does not meet the panel's criteria the panel shall notify the administrator and the educator why and recommend action the administrator could consider to better address the concerns. These could include, but not be limited to, using the evaluation process to correct behavior or the district's progressive discipline process to address conduct issues. The panel

- could also recommend that the educator and administrator seek mediation services from the district's Employee Assistance Program.
- e. If the behavior or condition meets the criteria for an administrative transfer, the panel will recommend a plan delineating specific behaviors and conditions that must change and establish a timeline for improvement that shall be no longer than six (6) weeks in duration.
- f. The plan shall be provided to the educator, the site administrator, HR and ATF.
- g. At the end of the established timeline, the panel shall reconvene to hear of the progress or lack of progress made. If the educator has successfully completed the steps, they shall be notified of expectation that the behaviors or conditions within the educator's control become permanent. At this point the educator shall be notified if they are no longer being considered for an Administrative Transfer.
- h. If the conditions of the plan have not been met, the panel will notify the educator and set a final meeting date no later than four (4) weeks later to make a final recommendation about the process and timeless for the Administrative Transfer.
- C. If, at any point during the process, the administrator wishes to remove the educator from consideration for an Administrative Transfer they may do so.
- D. Educators may seek a voluntary transfer in accordance with Article 16, B. of the agreement at any time during the process.
- E. If, while on the Administrative Transfer plan, new problems are identified, the behaviors or conditions related to the problems could be addressed by the panel.
- F. If an educator successfully meets the conditions of the plan but the problems originally identified arise at the same school site with the same administration, the educator shall be notified of the problem and the administrator shall notify ATF and HR of the need to convene the panel. The panel shall determine if the behaviors and conditions are the same or similar to those that led to the panel placing the educator in the process. If so, the panel shall convene a meeting to hear evidence and determine if the educator should be transferred.

Administrative Transfer

As transcribed from the original flowchart, found on the ATF website.

- 1. It is determined that an ongoing conflict or condition exists between an educator and their administrator(s) and or colleague(s).
 - a. Administrator determines if concern is related to educator performance
 - 1.) Concern is addressed through evaluation process OR
 - b. Administrator determines if concern is related to educator conduct
 - 2.) Concern is addressed through district progressive discipline policy
 - c. Within a thirty (30)-day period, if the educator successfully addresses the concern, the administrator notifies the educator in writing that they are no longer being considered for an Administrative Transfer.
 - d. Administrator determines if concern is because of educator incompatibility with administrator(s) or colleagues(s).
 - e. The administrator notifies the educator in writing of the specific reasons why the administrator believes that the educator should be considered for Administrative Transfer.
 - f. If the behavior or condition continues to exist, it is the responsibility of the administrator to initiate a formal process to determine if the educator will be administratively transferred.
 - g. The administrator notifies the Executive Director for the Department of Human Resources and the President of the Albuquerque Teachers Federation of the need to convene a panel meeting to determine whether or not the teacher will be considered for an Administrative Transfer. The panel then reviews evidence from the educator and the administrator.
 - h. Panel makes a determination

- 1.) It is determined there is not cause for and Administrative Transfer, the panel shall recommend other action(s) to address the concern OR
- 2.) If it is determined that there is a cause of an Administrative Transfer, the panel recommends a plan for correction and identifies both the behaviors that must change, the conditions that must be met, along with a specific timeline to demonstrate improvement.
- 3.) Progress is reviewed by the panel.
 - a.) If the plan is successfully completed, the educator receives written notification that the Administrative Transfer is no longer being considered OR
 - b.) If the plan is not successfully completed, the educator receives written notification from the panel and the panel sets a date to make final recommendations about the Administrative Transfer within four (4) weeks.

J.4 Testing Coordinator Responsibilities and Compensation

Memorandum of Understanding Testing Coordinator Responsibilities and Compensation

The District and the Federation agree to negotiate language creating a differential for the teacher leadership position of School Testing Coordinator as funds become available for the compensation of this position.

The School Testing Coordinator:

- Coordinates and organizes all testing activities at the school site.
- Develops and orchestrates the testing schedule and testing logistics for the site.
- Attends all mandatory district meetings to receive appropriate training in state testing guidelines.
- Provides appropriate training at the school site to individuals who will administer standardized tests to ensure proper testing protocols, procedures, and test security measures are followed
- Maintains school-wide general test security.
- Coordinates and consults with the school principal on all testing irregularities.
- Reports all testing irregularities to the district testing manager.
- Coordinates with the head special education teacher to ensure that appropriate testing
 accommodations are made available for special education students who require such
 accommodations.
- Coordinates with the ELL teachers to ensure that appropriate testing environments are made available for ELL students.

For the 2022-2023 school year, the .6 FTE will remain the same for high schools. The position is not an elected position.

Middle schools will receive a .2 FTE for the position.

For alternative high schools, and elementary schools the following formula will be implemented:

Based on school enrollment:

0 to 500 students = \$5,000 501 to 1,000 students = \$7,000 1,001 and above students = \$10,000 Additionally, an at-risk index will be applied to schools as below:

0-1.5 = no additional funding 1.6 to 2.0 = additional \$1,000 2.1 and above = additional \$2,000

Decisions about how to disburse the funds available to best support the testing responsibilities will be collaboratively planned through the Instructional Council. Only employees in the teacher bargaining unit, the site principal and assistant principal(s) are eligible to receive testing coordinator compensation. Schools may also use testing coordinator funds for substitutes.

Each school must identify a Testing Coordinator who will serve as the point of contact and liaison between the district and the school site and must meet the expectations of the district as the testing coordinator.

J.5 Voluntary Transfer of a Full-Term Employee into a Short-Term Position

Memorandum of Understanding Voluntary Transfer of a Full-Term Employee into a Short-Term Position

Full-term teachers may be offered and may accept a teaching position that has been identified as a short-term position; however, they shall do so with the understanding that if that position is no longer available at the conclusion of the term of that position, then they will be placed on the must hire list for reassignment into a position for which they are qualified elsewhere in the District. (Employees who work at a traditional calendar school cannot take a short-term position at an alternative calendar school and alternative calendar school employees cannot take a short-term position at a traditional calendar school.) They shall do so with the further understanding that they are waiving any rights to remain in the short-term assignment and/or at the location site regardless of their seniority or qualifications, beyond the stated length of the short-term assignment which shall be for the remainder of the school year. These employees are free to pursue a voluntary transfer to another assignment prior to their being placed from the Must-Hire list.

Waiver of Rights of Full-term Teachers Accepting Transfer into a Short-term Position I (name of employee) _______ accept temporary assignment as a voluntary transfer to the short-term position of (position description) ______ at (location) ______ with the understanding that the duration of the assignment shall be until (date assignment concludes) _______ I understand that following the conclusion of the assignment, I will be subject to placement on the must-hire list for assignment to another position and that I am free to exercise my right to seek a voluntary transfer at that time.

Signature of employee accepting short-term position

Date:

| 1 | 1 | O |
|---|------|---|
| 1 | - 7. | X |

J.6 Staff Feedback on Principal Performance

Memorandum of Understanding Staff Feedback on Principal Performance

The parties agree that one essential component of a productive principal evaluation system is staff feedback. Toward that end, the District and the Federation agree to start using a jointly created instrument.

See APPENDIX K. APS PRINCIPAL SURVEY.

J.7 Sick Leave Task Force

Memorandum of Understanding Sick Leave Task Force

ATF and APS agree to establish a task force with all six (6) bargaining units and all employee groups during the 2015-2016 school year.

The members of this task force will make recommendations regarding various sick leave plans, PTO plans, and district-wide meritorious attendance programs.

The task force will include representatives from all six bargaining units and all employee groups in APS and therefore the recommendations will be inclusive of all those concerned.

The task force will begin no later than September 15, 2015 and end no later than February 15, 2016.

J.8 Air Force JROTC Instructors: Reductions in Air Force Contributions for JROTC Instructors' Summer Work

Memorandum of Understanding Air Force JROTC Instructors: Reductions in Air Force Contributions for JROTC Instructors' Summer Work

As a result of the 2014 reduction in the Air Force contribution for Air Force JROTC Instructors' summer work, APS and ATF agree to the following:

- Starting July 01, 2014, APS will not pay the two months of military contribution of the Minimum Instructor Pay (MIP) that the Air Force Headquarters no longer pays to the JROTC programs.
- APS will continue to pay the school district's portion to the MIP.
- All AF JROTC instructors remain on a two hundred sixty (260)-day, 12-month contract.
- AF JROTC instructors work with the APS JROTC leader to agree upon time worked during the summer months, in accordance with Article 5.C.12.

This MOU will be reviewed by both parties in the spring of 2015.

J.9 Leave Task Force

Memorandum of Understanding Leave Task Force

ATF and APS agree to establish an APS/ATF Task Force on Leave during the 2016-2017 school year. The members of this task force will make recommendations about the following:

- A transition from the two (2) categories of personal leave and sick into one (1) category called "leave."
- A district-wide meritorious attendance program.
- The Task Force will include representatives from various employee groups in APS and therefore the recommendations will be inclusive of all those concerned.
- APS/ATF Task Force will be made up of no fewer than three (3) and no more than six (6) administrators selected by the district and an equal number of educators selected by the union.

J.10 Principal and Teacher Accountability and Assessment Advisory Councils

Memorandum of Understanding Principal and Teacher Accountability and Assessment Advisory

The Principal and Teacher Accountability and Assessment Advisory Councils working with the staff of the Office of Accountability and Reporting have reached six essential agreements around assessment in Grades K–12.

- 1. Essential to a quality assessment system is capacity building to support teachers in designing and using authentic assessments and capacity building for principals around assessment literacy and the appropriate uses of assessment.
- 2. In keeping with the goal of maximizing instructional time, the District will mandate only essential assessments over and above those mandated by statute or rule from PED.
- 3. Those few district assessments must support instructional decision-making for students, reporting to parents, and support program improvement efforts at the classroom, school, and district levels.
- 4. Any district-mandated assessments will be aligned to standards (not curricula or programs), will be clearly communicated to teachers and principals, and the reason for these assessments will be articulated not only to principals but also directly to teachers who are affected.
- 5. District-mandated and district-offered (optional) assessments will be jointly reviewed and selected by principal and teacher representatives and recommended to all members of these role groups for review and comment.
- 6. The current format of state-mandated assessments limits their usefulness; results may be used to establish broad trends of performance but are not appropriate for individual student planning. The Councils support limiting the use of these assessments at the district-level to these described uses.

ATF and APS agree to establish a Task Force during the 2017-2018 school year to review the agreements and make recommendations to the APS/ATF Living Contract Committee about implementing the essential agreements.

The APS/ATF Essential Agreements around Assessment Task Force will be made up of no fewer than 3 and no more than 6.

J.11 Special Education Teacher Preparation Time

Memorandum of Understanding Special Education Teacher Preparation Time

The parties have a mutual interest in ensuring that special education teachers receive sufficient preparation and planning time.

- A. The parties agree to the following:
 - 1. Before the beginning of each school year, secondary schools will submit a plan detailing how preparation periods/times are scheduled. If preparation time is scheduled for teachers through coverage by non-licensed employees, the lesson or activity should be associated with the class curriculum and/or students' IEPs.
 - 2. Teachers shall not be required to send classes to another teacher (who has a class of students) to get their preparation period.
 - 3. Each elementary school shall strive to equalize the amount of preparation time general and special education teachers receive. Each elementary school shall submit a plan detailing how it has tried to equalize the amount of preparation time general and special education teachers receive.
 - 4. The establishment of a joint panel to make determinations or offer recommendations about conflicts or problems associated with issues related to this memorandum of understanding and any future agreements related to the topic of special education preparation time.
- B. The parties agree to discuss and attempt to reach conceptual agreements on the following issues prior to the start of 2012-13 negotiations:
 - 1. Ways in which special education licensed personnel can be assigned to school sites (either one school site or, if funding is not available, multiple sites) to free up time for preparation and planning for teachers. Increasing licensed personnel would allow teachers to get preparation time and ensure that students receive instruction from a licensed teacher.
 - 2. Assuring that scheduled recess times at elementary schools designated as preparation time include all special education teachers.
- C. The parties agree to jointly research the financial impact of creating elementary school schedules that allow for meaningful and educational activities and/or lessons to be conducted by an educational assistant during specials and physical education instruction.

J.12 High School Senior Schedules

Memorandum of Understanding High School Senior Schedules

ATF and APS agree to establish an APS/ATF Task Force on High School Senior Schedules during the 2018-2019 school year. The members of this task force will evaluate the potential impact and present recommendations to the cabinet about the transition to a full schedule for all high school seniors.

APS/ATF Task Forces will be made up of no fewer than three (3) and no more than six (6) administrators selected by the district and an equal number of educators selected by the union.

J.13 Teacher Leader Facilitators

Memorandum of Understanding Teacher Leader Facilitators

The District and the Federation agree to suspend the Teacher Leader Facilitator program due to lack of available funding beginning the 2023-2024 school year.

J.14 A Professional Workday Pilot 2020-2021

Memorandum of Understanding A Professional Workday Pilot 2020-2021

(Time differential)

Goal: To create a pilot for an 8-hour professional workday for the employees represented by the ATF

- The intention of this pilot is to include all the time needs above in a professional day while preserving student instructional time.
- At pilot schools all staff will have a flexible seven and one-half (7.5)-hour professional day plus a duty-free, thirty (30)-minute lunchtime.
 - Flexible means that time may be banked so, that if needed, staff can choose to add time to one day and take time from another.
- Licensed staff at the pilot school will earn a time differential of \$5,000 on their base pay.
- Educational assistants will be included in the additional time at their hourly rate.

There are many needs for time to be added to the six and one-half (6.5) hour duty day. For this pilot APS and ATF created the guidance below in order to address these needs to the extent possible.

How the additional time will be used (pilot study year)

- One day a week for Collaboration with a minimum of thirty (30) Collaborative Time meetings for the year. Collaborative Time will be moved out of the traditional instructional/duty day.
- One day a week for School Leadership or Professional Learning Time.
- One day a week for Committee Time. Through the Instructional Council, each school will be responsible for defining committee needs and creating a method for all staff to sign up for a committee assignment.
- One day a week for Professional Duties Time. This time is self-directed and based on the individual needs of the staff.
- One day a week for Planning and Preparing Time. This time can be self-directed or collaborative.

During the pilot year, each site will be responsible for collecting qualitative and quantitative data based on a study designed by the Office of Accountability and Reporting. The study will be designed to determine the effectiveness of the pilot, suggestions for change, and the potential for taking an eight (8)-hour professional day to scale district-wide.

The results of the study will be shared with the pilot sites and submitted to APS and ATF leadership.

Definitions:

- Collaborative Time a team of educators committed to working together and collaborating in ongoing processes of collective inquiry and action research to improve teaching and learning.
- Professional Learning and School Leadership Time
 - o School Leadership—building school culture, visioning, district and state mandates, site-based goal setting, and implementation.
 - Professional learning—Teacher leader Facilitators collaborate with Instructional Council
 and administration to provide support for the professional development needs at the
 school level in conjunction with school goals and individual adult learning needs.
- Committee Time Department Meetings, Instructional Council, SAT, other committees, etc.
- **Planning and Preparing Time** self-directed or collaborative instructional planning and preparation.
- **Professional Duties** Role and Responsibility Task Force

J.15 School Psychologist Role and Responsibility Task Force

Memorandum of Understanding School Psychologist Role and Responsibility Task Force

During the 2021-2022 school year ATF and APS agree to establish an APS/ATF Task Force for the purpose of making recommendations on the role and responsibilities of school psychologists within APS. The members of this task force will make recommendations for changes that include, but are not limited to:

- Recruiting highly talented and diverse school psychologists.
- Expanding school psychologist job role to possibly include participation in school-based Multi-tiered System of Supports (MTSS) leadership, SAT, or Health and Wellness Teams.
- Possibly expanding the school psychologist's job role to include school-based consultation
 with teachers and other educators and school staff on social-emotional or behavioral
 interventions and supports for students.
- Utilizing school psychologists to facilitate training and professional development in socialemotional and behavioral interventions to school staff in collaboration with other role groups such as school counselors and school social workers.
- A transition plan for supporting the expansion of school psychologist job responsibilities while APS recruits and hires additional staff.
- Working with APS's MTSS to effectively support the social-emotional and behavioral well-being of students.
- Involvement in processes related to FBAs/BIPs, SATs, intervention support, or health and wellness issues.
- Aligning APS practices with the state administrative code definitions of the scope of school psychologist practice and national professional practice models for school psychology.
- Allow school psychologists to provide enhanced supports through an MTSS framework to teachers and educators who work with students with challenging behavior to increase their time engaged in teaching and learning.

APS/ATF Task Forces will be made up of no fewer than three (3) and no more than six (6) administrators selected by the district and an equal number of educators selected by the union.

J.16 Staffing Schools for the Needs of Students Task Force

Memorandum of Understanding Staffing Schools for the Needs of Students Task Force

Support staff can have profound effects on student learning and are vital to properly addressing everyday student issues such as physical and mental health problems, homelessness, and other adverse childhood experiences.

Working conditions—which also define learning conditions for students—are a strong predictor of educators' decisions about where to teach and whether to stay. Appropriate staffing for the needs of students is an essential aspect of teaching and learning conditions.

Supporting student mental health in APS is a critical step to addressing the predictability of disparities by race, socioeconomic status, and disability, and will accelerate learning and achievement for all students.

Student mental health needs are best served when the school community is supported by a team of trained professionals and support staff including Licensed School Social Workers, Licensed School Counselors, Licensed School Psychologists, Licensed School Nurses, and Behavioral Support Specialists or equivalent educational support professional staff.

Each public school servicing students in Grades PK—12 should have a Mental Health Team comprised of staff in these positions. These individual positions will each play a distinct and important role in providing complementary mental and physical health supports to students.

Students identified as requiring special education services deserve the very best service as provided by Speech and Language Pathologists, Occupational Therapists, Physical Therapists as well as Diagnosticians and School Psychologist Evaluators.

We must begin the work to staff schools based on the needs of students. To that end, APS and ATF agree to form a task force to investigate caseload limits and staffing levels for Essential and Related Service Educators.

Furthermore, the Task Force should make recommendations on how to attract the appropriate workforce into these categories and into employment with APS.

J.17 Essential and Related Educator Staffing Levels and Use of Contract/Tele-practitioners Task Force

Memorandum of Understanding Essential and Related Educator Staffing Levels and Use of Contract/Tele-Practitioners Task Force

During the 2021-2022 school year, ATF and APS agree to establish a joint Task Force for the purpose of making recommendations for the attraction and retention of APS practitioners in all essential and related service role groups represented by ATF and establishing procedures for the use of outside contract and/or tele-practitioners. The task force will:

Research ways to promote the hiring of APS employees and posting of all individual vacancies available instead of "pool" style postings.

Seek that all current openings be posted online, with interviews scheduled for all applicants until existing openings are filled.

Create a system for existing employees in all shortage areas to be offered the opportunity for extended contracts before contractors and/or tele-practitioners are hired.

Research what could be offered to current and future APS employees that would entice them to work for APS rather than as private contractors.

Research the true costs associated with APS's use of outside contract and tele-practitioners, including a salary analysis of outside practitioners compared to current APS practitioners, their use of APS resources such as offices, printing, and educational and evaluation materials, and any possible liability issues.

Discuss the benefits to students of having a dedicated and consistent APS practitioner working with them and research possible limits on the use of outside practitioners.

Research ways reduce and eliminate poaching by contractors and/or tele-practitioners of current APS employees and their agencies' use of district resources.

Finally, research and establish caseloads for each role group that would constitute a full-time caseload within APS.

APS/ATF Task Forces will be made up of no fewer than three (3) and no more than six (6) administrators selected by the district and an equal number of educators selected by the union.

J.18 Review of the Role and Responsibilities of Testing Coordinators

Memorandum of Understanding Review of the Role and Responsibilities of Testing Coordinators

ATF and APS agree to establish a Task Force to review the role and responsibilities of Site Testing Coordinators.

The members of this task force will make recommendations for possible changes in current contract language and differentials based on the current required testing at each level of schooling.

APS/ATF Task Forces will be made up of no fewer than three (3) and no more than six (6) administrators selected by the district and an equal number of educators selected by the union.

J.19 Student Loan Repayment Assistance Program

Memorandum of Understanding Student Loan Repayment Assistance Program

- 1. The Albuquerque Public Schools shall establish a tax-exempt Section 127 Educational Assistance Program ("the Plan") to reimburse eligible employees for education loans as authorized by the Consolidated Appropriations Act (CAA). Benefits will become effective on April 4, 2022.
- 2. The Albuquerque Public Schools shall reimburse employees no more than \$5,250 for qualified student loan payments in a calendar year under the terms of the Section 127 Plan Document. Should lawmakers enact an increase or decrease to the \$5,250 ceiling, the Albuquerque Public Schools may adopt the new ceiling on the effective date.
- 3. The cost of administering the plan shall be borne fully by the employer.
- 4. Expenses eligible for reimbursement by the Employer under the Plan include the payment by an employee toward the principal or interest on any qualified education loan incurred by the employee for the education of the employee. Under Section 127, the Plan cannot be used to reimburse education loans for the education of a spouse or dependent.
- 5. The program will be administered and conform to all IRS requirements governing Educational Assistance Programs.
- 6. The District and the Federation shall establish a committee, which shall be composed of an equal number of Employer and Union representatives. The committee shall establish procedures and forms to gather the appropriate information from employees in order to administer the Plan, including proof of student loan debt and repayment eligible for reimbursement.
- 7. The Federation and the district will advertise the availability of limited student loan repayments and create a sign-up system.
 - a. Eligibility is contingent on employees attending a Student Debt Clinic offered jointly by the Federation and the District, which educates employees on potential public student loan forgiveness programs.
 - b. As of March 31, 2022, all those who signed up and are proven to be eligible shall attend the Student Debt Clinic.
 - c. Upon completion of the Student Debt Clinic all qualified participants will then be eligible for an equal share of the \$1million allocated for the program.
- 8. The CAA authorized this tax-exempt employer-paid student loan repayment benefit to run through December 31, 2025, but the APS Board must approve any extension beyond the end of the 2021-2022 school year and has sole authority to determine whether the program will be extended and, if it is, the extent to which benefits will be funded. Upon expiration or modification of the law governing Section 127 Educational Assistance Programs or upon decision of the APS Board not to extend the Program, whichever comes sooner, the Program will terminate.
- 9. This MOU is based on availability of ARPA funds and the parties agree that if those funds are unavailable in any future year, the program will terminate.

J.20 Discharge and Termination

Memorandum of Understanding Regarding the Appeal of Discharge and Termination Recommendations

Albuquerque Teachers Federation ("ATF"), and Albuquerque Public Schools Human Resources Department ("APS"), have come to the following agreement regarding the procedure for appealing discharge and termination recommendations by APS:

- After receiving discharge or termination letter from the Superintendent the subject employee may file a level 3 grievance pursuant to the Negotiated Agreement and appeal the recommendation to a three-member panel of hearing officers, which shall be the members of the APS Labor Board (hereinafter "the Panel").
- The Panel will serve as the role of hearing officers and hear arguments from APS and the employee regarding the conduct at issue.
- Both the employee and APS may be accompanied by a person of the party's choice to represent them at the hearing, whether an attorney or an ATF representative.
- The Panel will determine the date and time of the hearing.
- The employee and APS shall exchange witness lists and exhibits lists five (5) days prior to the hearing.
- Unless otherwise agreed by the parties or determined by the Panel, the hearing will be a maximum of 4 hours. Each party is allowed 2 hours to present. The presentations may consist of opening statements, examination of witnesses, the production of documents, and closing arguments. An official record shall be made of the hearing.
- The Panel may affirm, reject or modify the proposed discipline from the school district.
- A hearing completed pursuant to this MOU shall satisfy the Level III Grievance procedure and requirements set forth in the Negotiated Agreement.
- The Panel's decision will be provided to the APS School Board within five (5) days.
- If the employee wishes to appeal the Panel's decision to the Board of Education, the issue will proceed pursuant to the School Personnel Act, NMSA 22-10A-27 for discharges or pursuant to NMSA 22-10A-24 for terminations.
- However, the parties hereby agree and stipulate that in lieu of a second hearing as outlined in NMSA 22-10A-27 for discharges or NMSA 22-10A-24 for terminations, the parties will provide the APS Board of Education with the record presented to the Panel, the Panel's decision, and additional oral or written arguments from each party, which will be limited to thirty (30) minutes per party, unless otherwise ordered by the APS Board of Education.

The following parties agree to proceed with the procedure regarding the appeal of discharge and termination recommendations described above and are authorized to make this agreement.

J.21 Mountain School Closure

Memorandum of Understanding Mountain Schools Closure

• All A-Schedule employees (including teachers, counselors, and nurses) are contracted by Albuquerque Public Schools to work 6.5 hours per day for 184 days per school year. When

- schools are closed for snow days (or other unforeseen reasons), days are traditionally added to the end of the school year.
- This is not the case for APS mountain schools. These schools are A. Montoya Elementary School, San Antonito Elementary School, and Roosevelt Middle School. Mountain schools have additional instructional hours for students embedded in their school day so that when they are closed when the rest of the district is open, the instructional days do not have to be made up at the end of the school year. These additional instructional minutes are not equal to additional contract days.
- The additional instructional minutes are not equal to additional contract days. As such, Aschedule employees at mountain schools are expected to work on non-districtwide snow (closure) days. Working on mountain snow days does not include instructional work with students. Mountain snow day work may include, but is not limited to, virtual work such as grade level meetings, staff meetings, IC meetings, IEP meetings, SAT meetings, or individual planning. This work may be required as possible depending on access to technology and working internet.
- A-Schedule employees are not required to report to campus on closure days.

J. 22 Restorative Practices

Memorandum of Understanding APS and ATF: A Mutual Interest in Moving Toward Restorative Practices

The District and the Federation share the belief that providing a high-quality education for the children of Albuquerque is the paramount objective our district. An essential element of this goal is helping students develop pro-social behavior and fundamental life skills, including:

- Recognizing and managing emotions
- Developing caring and concern for others
- Establishing positive relationships
- Making responsible decisions
- Handling challenging situations constructively and ethically

As the result of joint research and collaborative work, APS and ATF have developed a mutual interest in moving toward restorative practices in all schools. Restorative practices have proven to be a strong strategy in the development of pro-social behavior and fundamental life skills which can support students' connections to both staff and other students.

Restorative values and principles include dignity, respect, accountability, and fairness. Evidence is clear that restorative practices contribute to a positive school climate which in turn has been proven to prevent bullying, reduce disciplinary incidents and violence, increase attendance rates and academic achievement, promote student mental and physical wellbeing, and aid in educator retention.

We believe that restorative practices implemented with SEL programming is an opportunity to acquire and apply the knowledge, skills, and attitudes to develop healthy identities, manage emotions, achieve personal and collective goals, feel and show empathy for others, establish and maintain supportive relationships, and make responsible and caring decisions. By integrating these approaches together, restorative practices become a vehicle to develop students' SEL skills, which includes communication skills, kindness, empathy, and caring.

Social and Emotional Learning (SEL) Social and emotional learning is an integral part of child development and education.

Change requires intensive, carefully planned, and skillfully executed implementation. We acknowledge that strong, consistent leadership, trusting collaboration, system-wide communication, quality teaching, and high educator morale promote positive learning environments for students. We have agreed on the following implementation strategies for the 2022-2024 school years:

ONE: The Restorative practices/SEL Implementation Coordination Committee

The RP/SEL Coordination Committee role is to reduce or eliminate siloed efforts in the system. The committee will consist of representatives with experience and expertise in restorative practices and/or SEL from:

- The Office of Equity and Engagement
- The Office of Curriculum and Instruction
- The Office of Special Education
- The Office of Student, Family, and Community Support
- The Albuquerque Teachers Federation

The RP/SEL Coordination Committee will meet no less than monthly starting in August 2022 to communicate, coordinate, collaborate, analyze, plan, innovate, implement, and align efforts.

TWO: Shift School-Based Practices in 2022-23 and 2023-24

With the help and support of the counseling department and in coordination with middle and high school counselors, secondary schools will transition from In School Suspension (ISS) programs to Student Success Centers utilizing restorative practices.

The Office of Equity and Engagement, in collaboration with the Coordination Committee, will help to develop a prevention and intervention restorative practices guide for classrooms and schools.

A Conflict Mediation program will be implemented in elementary schools so that students learn how to resolve conflicts early in life, and with words.

The Counseling department, in collaboration with the Coordination Committee, will develop materials to distribute to every elementary school describing Conflict Mediation programs during the 2022-2023 school year. The program description will incorporate restorative concepts.

It is recommended that elementary schools create a student council with the intent of student ownership of the conflict mediation program.

Conflict mediation programs will be established through each school's instructional council by school year 2023-2024.

THREE: Modify Contract Language

Restorative and SEL practices should encompass not only student behaviors, but also staff behaviors, policies and procedures, pedagogical choices, curricular decisions, and schoolwide decision-making processes. As such APS and ATF agree to the following changes in Article 21: Student Discipline as a good faith effort in the transition from traditional consequence -based practice to restorative ones.

Article 21, STUDENT DISCIPLINE

- A. The District shall provide reasonable support and assistance to educators as described in the Student Behavior Handbook APS Handbook for Student Success so they can maintain control and discipline while engaged in their duties and responsibilities. It is essential for the school staff to establish means for obtaining the cooperation of parents of students involved in discipline problems.
 - 1. APS and ATF acknowledge the vital role of an effective discipline plan and culturally responsive restorative practices (see Appendix...) at the district level and for each school site.
 - 2. It is the goal of the parties to have a comprehensive district restorative practices policy in place and implemented by the 2025/2026 school year.
- B. A Positive disciplinary program practices and strategies shall be continued in each school. Each teacher educator shall be given a copy of the school's disciplinary discipline policy as developed and/or modified by the principal, Instructional Council and/or faculty.
 - 1. During the 2022/2023 and 2023/2024 school years, the IC, in conjunction with the TLF's, will:
 - a. schedule appropriate training for all staff in topics such as, but not limited to, socialemotional learning, restorative practices, culturally responsive practices, anti-racist education, de-escalation strategies, trauma informed education practices and LGBTQ+ inclusivity;
 - b. schedule time to hold and facilitate connection circles with staff and students in an ongoing effort to build relationships in the school community;
 - c. develop a restorative discipline plan that transitions from current discipline policy to a fully restorative plan by the 2025/2026 school year.
- C. The principal has the primary responsibility for administering the school's disciplinary discipline policy. In accordance with the school's disciplinary discipline policy, the teacher educator is responsible for maintaining a good social environment among those students under the teacher's educator's responsibility at any given time and for sharing with other staff members the responsibility for school-wide behavior.
- D. The teacher educator shall receive assistance from the principal when a disciplinary discipline problem is beyond the control of the teacher educator or when the teaches educator believes it is necessary.
 - 1. In the event an educator is struggling to implement restorative practices, the principal shall provide additional supports.
 - 2. Additional supports may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. release time for additional PD
 - b. release time to observe colleagues
 - c. modeling in struggling educator's classroom
- E. The teacher educator may temporarily dismiss a student from class to the principal when the student's behavior is disruptive to the point of impeding learning by the other students or if the behavior is a safety concern and after efforts have been made to correct the problem in accordance with the school's disciplinary discipline practice policy.
 - 1. The teacher educator shall furnish the principal in writing full particulars of the incident including the efforts that have been made to correct the problem and whether or not the student may be returned to class prior to a conference between the teacher educator and principal.
 - 2. Before the principal (or designee) returns the student to the classroom, the principal shall inform the teacher educator of the measures or actions taken to address the behavior.
 - 3. In cases of extreme or chronic student disruption to a classroom, the teacher educator may call a case conference with the principal, parents, and others as necessary for the purposes of discussing the problem and determining and initiating corrective measures. If requested the student will not be returned to the classroom until such corrective measures have been initiated or until the due process rights of the student would be violated.
 - 4. Efforts to increasingly include restorative practices, as determined by the transition plan created through the IC, must be included.

- F. Notification shall be provided to educators of suspended students by the end of the school day that follows the day of suspension.
 - 1. As schools transition to restorative practices, suspension will only be used as a last resort and when there are immediate safety concerns.
- G. Whenever it appears that a student needs professional attention beyond the scope of the individual school, the teacher educator shall inform the principal in writing so that reasonable steps can be taken.
- H. The parties agree that a teacher educator may use reasonable force to repel a personal assault or one upon any other person. Any case of assault shall be promptly reported to the principal and by the principal to the Superintendent. The District shall provide the necessary support to a teacher educator who is subjected to or charged with an assault during the course of one's duties, providing the teacher educator was acting in a reasonable manner and the actions were justifiable under the law, the Code of Ethics of the Education Profession, the terms and provisions of this Agreement, and regulations of the District.
- I. Corporal punishment, which is defined as any disciplinary action taken by school personnel with the intention of producing physical pain, shall not be used as a disciplinary measure in the Albuquerque Public Schools. Disciplinary consequences of unacceptable student behavior will be aimed toward assisting students in the development of constructive personal and social behavior. Consistent with the Code of Ethics of the Education Profession, school staff members will "deal justly and considerately with each student."
- J. Whenever possible reasonable, an officer of the District shall initiate a complaint arising from criminal acts occurring on school property. It shall be the responsibility of any teacher educator witnessing such acts to provide all information to the principal.
- K. A teachers Educators shall be informed of any complaint to the principal by a parent concerning the disciplinary action taken by the teacher in regard to a child.
- L. All schools shall fully develop and implement a plan for restorative practices aligned with the APS Handbook for Student Success by the 2025/2026 school year.

FOUR: Dedicated time for Adult Learning

APS and ATF believe that professional development (PD) is most effective when it is site-based, embedded in everyday work, and offered "just in time." To that end, we are dedicated to a PD structure that includes Teacher Leader Facilitators (TLF).

In addition to regular classroom duties, the TLF is an instructional leader who collaborates with the Instructional Council and administration to provide support for the professional development needs at the school level in conjunction with school goals and individual adult learning needs.

During the 2022-2023 school year TLFs will be supported by the district to gain expertise in:

- Social Emotional Learning (SEL) techniques interwoven into daily practice and school structures.
- The understanding and beginning implementation of classroom-based and school-wide restorative practices.

The TLF in collaboration with the Instructional Council at each site can either use one hour of the principal's discretionary 2 for 20 for PD focused on SEL/RP or the site can choose to utilize one hour in addition to the 2 for 20 for dedicated PD time focused on SEL/RP.

Throughout the 2022-23 and 2023-24 school years the RP/SEL Coordination Committee will support the shared goal of shifting to restorative practices district-wide by disseminating research and information about practical applications as well as provide ongoing learning opportunities for educators interested in developing expertise in restorative practices.

J.23 School Psychologists Pilot Program

Memorandum of Understanding School Psychologists Pilot Program

The District and the Federation share an interest in:

- Providing effective social-emotional learning and supports to students and educators.
- Recruiting highly talented and diverse school psychologists.
- Expanding the school psychologist job role to possibly include participation in school-based Multi-layered System of Supports (MLSS) leadership, SAT, or Health and Wellness Teams.
- Utilizing school psychologists to facilitate consultation, training and professional development in social-emotional and behavioral interventions to school staff in collaboration with other role groups such as school counselors and school social workers.
- A transition plan for supporting the expansion of school psychologist job responsibilities while APS recruits and hires additional staff.

The 2022-2023 School Psychologist Consultation Pilot Program is a first step toward those mutual interests.

In 2022-2023 a pilot program will be started to expand the school psychologist's job role to include school-based consultation with teachers and other educators and school staff on social-emotional and/or behavioral interventions and supports for students.

Initial Framework for Consultation Pilot Model

- Have stakeholders develop an operational definition of "school-based consultation," Including what such a process would look like, and what responsibilities it would entail.
- Identity psychologists' interest in participating in a pilot program (max 1 per diagnostic center).
- Stakeholders Identify schools to be involved (e.g., 2-3 elementary, 1 middle, 1 high school within a cluster).
- Allocate .2 FTE per psychologist initially to complete pilot responsibilities and adjust as needed
- Stakeholders identify potential student population to provide school-based consultation support (e.g., Students in Layer 3 MLSS/SAT process with social-emotional/behavioral concerns).
- Stakeholders collaborate to develop and form and/or protocol for requesting psychologist consultation. This protocol could potentially include a general set of recommendations to implement (similar to the current BSS process).
- Psychologist would attend Health & Wellness Meetings on as needed basis (determined by Health & Wellness team leader).

In pursuit of a possible future expansion of the scope of school psychologists' role, a framework/model should be considered for managing existing evaluation caseloads.

School Psychologist/Social Work Evaluator Collaborative Evaluation Model

A collaborative evaluation model may include Social Work Evaluators and School Psychologists working together on social-emotional/behavioral evaluations, with the goal of managing caseloads to allow for additional school-based work.

Proposed Job role/duties

- Psychologist and/or social work evaluator complete parent interview and write up data.
- Psychologist and/or social work evaluator administer parent rating scales and return completed scales to psychologist for interpretation.
- Psychologist and/or social work evaluator complete teacher interview with write up of interview and interventions including FBA/BIP.
- Psychologist and/or social work evaluator gather teacher rating scales and return completed scales to psychologist for interpretation.
- Psychologist and social work evaluator complete observations of the student in multiple settings and write up data.
- Psychologist completes write-ups for normative assessment measure (including behavioral rating scales) data.
- Psychologist completes student interview and write up data.
- Psychologist administers and interprets student rating scales and writes up data.
- Psychologist compiles all evaluation data and consults with social work evaluator and educational diagnostician as appropriate.
- Psychologist makes determination regarding eligibility and attends MET.

A psychologist and social work evaluator should be involved in the interview process for hiring of new staff.

1 SW per cluster of schools (ex. 4 at SEDC - AHS, AHA, RGHS, HHS)

Process for collaboration

- Referral marked for behavior
- Psychologist and social worker review referral, gather some initial data, and consult with evaluators (educational diagnostician, etc.) and determine if consultation or full evaluation is needed.
- Psychologist and social worker determine evaluation plan (who does what).

J.24 Pre-K and Developmental Preschool Programs Task Force

Memorandum of Understanding Pre-K and Developmental Preschool Programs Task Force

ATF and APS agree to establish a Task Force to research, discuss and develop joint recommendations about the following:

- Issues related to the Pre-K and Developmental Preschool Programs and the possible development of contractual language that relates specifically to the employees in these programs.
- The APS/ATF Pre-K and Developmental Preschool Programs Task Force will be made up of no fewer than three (3) and no more than six (6) administrators selected by the district and an equal number of educators selected by the union and will convene no later than October 14, 2022.

The members of this task force will present recommendations to the Superintendent and Union President no later than March 17, 2023.

J.25 NVCI Training

Memorandum of Understanding NVCI Training

The District and the Federation share the belief that providing a high-quality education for the children of Albuquerque is the paramount objective of our district. An essential element of this goal is helping students develop pro-social behavior and fundamental life skills, including:

- Recognizing and managing emotions
- Developing caring and concern for others
- Establishing positive relationships
- Making responsible decisions
- Handling challenging situations constructively and ethically

We believe that restorative practices implemented with SEL programming is an opportunity to acquire and apply the knowledge, skills, and attitudes to develop healthy identities, manage emotions, achieve personal and collective goals, feel and show empathy for others, establish and maintain supportive relationships, and make responsible and caring decisions.

As such APS and ATF agree to co-develop a system for district wide training on NVCI that includes:

- CPI Verbal Intervention Training provides staff with an effective framework for preventing, deescalating, and safely responding to crisis behavior. This training is ideal for organizations with hands-off policies or those that do not encounter high-risk or complex behaviors.
- The Classroom Culture program with foundational content and activities to help educators reduce the presence of escalating behaviors in their classrooms centered around the 5 Principles of Classroom Culture.
 - Consistent, Calm Behavior
 - Sustainable Routines
 - First Attention to Best Conduct
 - Scripted Interventions
 - Restorative Practices

NVCI training will occur during PD days for Elementary, K-8 and Middle Schools on dates to be determined.

J.26 Standards Based Teaching

Memorandum of Understanding Standards Based Teaching

As stated in the preamble of the APS/ATF Negotiated Agreement:

The District and the Federation share the belief that providing a high-quality education for the children of Albuquerque is the paramount objective of the District.

Both parties affirm that all educational programs must be sensitive to the needs and aspirations of students. We believe that all students can learn, and we have a responsibility to educate all of them well. Student success must not be predictable by a student's circumstances, background, race, or socioeconomic status.

To put this joint belief into practice, and in the pursuance of the four goals developed by the APS Board of Education, (1) Early Literacy. (2) Math Proficiency, (3) Post-Secondary Readiness, (4) Skills, Habit, and Mindsets for Life Success, APS and ATF agree to work collaboratively in Supporting Quality Teachers (SQT) for the 2023-2024 school year to:

- Create resources to support equitable access to grade level standards
- Review and revise the APS Common Core Standards Units of Study for K-12, ELA and Math
- Ensure high-quality curriculum and instructional resources that are standards-aligned, challenging, culturally and linguistically responsive, and differentiated to meet the academic needs of all students (Guardrail 3).

The SQT team will further ensure that programs and procedures in schools will include staff voice, high-quality professional development, and essential material and human resources (Guardrail 5).

APPENDIX K - APS PRINCIPAL SURVEY

This instrument was designed not to "evaluate" or attempt to capture everything a principal or assistant principal does in their job. Rather, the intent is to give a principal or assistant principal feedback concerning how the staff feels about their school as a place to work. This instrument is not to be used in a principal or assistant principal's evaluation. It is informational for the principal or assistant principal to consider for their own growth. Please refer only to your own personal experiences with the administrator when responding to the statements.

| This survey pertains to my:principalassistant principal | | |
|---|------|----------------|
| This is the administrator who evaluates me: Yes No | | |
| | Key: | 1-never |
| | | 2-occasionally |
| | | 3-frequently |
| | | 4-away |

| | | away | | | |
|---------------------------------------|---|------------------|---|---|---|
| Leadership | | | | | |
| In my personal experience, this admi | nistrator: | | | | |
| 1. provides effective instructional l | | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 2. provides opportunities for meani | ngful involvement in school decisions. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 3. demonstrates sensitivity to diver | sity. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 4. models/promotes collaboration. | | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 5. monitors and evaluates the effec | tiveness of curriculum, instruction, and assessment in my | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| classroom. | | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 6. is easily accessible and approach | able. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 7. is highly visible. | | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 8. is highly engaged. | | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 9. designs useful structures for make | ing decisions. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 10. promotes consensus-building wh | en appropriate. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |

| 11. maintains high standards of conduct for staff. | | | | |
|--|-----|----------------------------|--------------------------------------|--------|
| Communication | | | | |
| In my personal experience, this administrator: | | | | |
| 1. articulates a school vision that is shared by me. | 1 | 2 | 2 | 4 |
| 2. effectively communicates the school's instructional goals. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 3. effectively communicates progress toward those goals. | 1 | 2 | 3 3 3 | 4 |
| 4. acknowledges me. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 5. values me. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 6. welcomes constructive criticism and responds appropriately. | 1 | 2 | 3 3 3 | 4 |
| 7. communicates decisions directly to me when I am affected. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 8. engages in honest interactions with me. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 4 |
| | 1 | | 3 | 4 |
| Climate and Culture | | | | |
| In my personal experience, this administrator: | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 1. motivates me. | 1 | | | 4 |
| 2. works to shape and maintain a positive school culture. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 3. treats me with dignity. | 1 | 2 | 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 | 4 |
| 4. treats me as a professional. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 5. exercises authority in a fair and consistent manner. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 6. evaluates me fairly. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 7. assigns tasks fairly and equitably. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 8. respects and adheres to negotiated agreements. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 9. respects and adheres to district policies and procedures that affect me. | | 2 | 2 | 4 |
| 10. fosters a school climate that enhances learning. | 1 | 2 | 2 | |
| 11. advocates for and supports me. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 12. fosters a positive attitude by example. | 1 | 2 | 3 3 3 3 3 | 4 |
| 13. demonstrates ethical and professional behavior. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 14. has a positive, professional relationship with me. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 15. adapts their leadership style to fit the needs of the current situation. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 16. is respectful of divergent opinions. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| Student Discipline | | | | |
| In my personal experience, this administrator: | . | _ | _ | 4 |
| 1. maintains high standards of conduct for my students. | 1 | 2 | 3 3 3 | 4 |
| has established clear expectations for my students' behavior and conduct. | 1 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 3. clearly communicates to my students the consequences of violating expectations. | | | | |
| 4. enforces discipline policies with my students. | 1 | 2 | | 4 |
| 5. supports my decisions in disciplining students. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 6. communicates discipline decisions directly to me and those affected. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | 1 | | | |
| Management | 1 | | | |
| In my personal experience, this administrator: | | | | |
| 1. helps maintain an orderly school and classroom environment. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 2. utilizes available financial resources according to agreed upon priorities. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 3. helps to maintain a safe environment for my students and me. | 1 | 2 2 2 2 2 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 4. endeavors to lessen paperwork and non-teaching duties whenever possible for me. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 5. addresses my problems promptly. | 1 | 2 | 3 3 3 | 4 |
| 6. effectively prioritizes tasks to help me meet deadlines. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 7. attempts to reduce interruptions when I am teaching. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 8. establishes reasonable procedures for solving problems. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 9. makes decisions that affect me within an acceptable amount of time. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 10. evaluates me and provides me with ongoing feedback so I can improve. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 11. uses available time and resources to provide me with professional development opportunities. | | | | |

| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
|---|------|---------------|---|---|
| Culture of Learning | | | | |
| In my personal experience, this administrator: | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 1. encourages me to show initiative. | 1 | $\frac{1}{2}$ | 3 | 4 |
| 2. encourages me to show creativity. | - | _ | | • |
| 3. provides me with leadership for assessing, developing, and improving school environment and culture. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 4. provides leadership, encouragement, and opportunities for staff to continually design more effecti | ve 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| teaching and learning experiences for all students. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 5. collaborates with me to improve my teaching and learning. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 6. supports me in fostering student learning. | 1 | 2 | _ | 4 |
| 7. models values, beliefs, and attitudes that inspire me to higher levels of performance. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 8. works with staff to create an environment that builds a collaborative culture of learning. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 9. exhibits their own knowledge base about teaching and learning. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 10. works collaboratively to develop common understanding of new initiatives. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 11. seeks and shares new research in the field. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |

APPENDIX L – PROCESS FOR OBTAINING A WAIVER TO THE NEGOTIATED AGREEMENT

A provision of the Negotiated Agreement may be waived or altered only with the written consent of both the District and the Federation (Article 31 C.). A request for a waiver of a provision of the Agreement shall be granted or denied using the following procedure:

- Waiver Request Specific to an Employee
 Request for a waiver limited to the individual requesting the waiver must be made, in writing to the President of the Federation and the Director of Labor Relations for the District. The request shall specify the provision to be waived and the reason(s) for the request.
- Waiver Request Affecting More than One Employee
 Request for a waiver which affects two or more employees must be made in writing to the
 President of the Federation and the Director of Labor Relations for the District. The request shall
 include the provision to be waived and the reason(s) for the request.
- Process for Federation Approval of Waiver Request Affecting More than One Employee The Federation has established, by action of its policy making body, the ATF Federation Representation Council, its own internal procedure for granting approval of a waiver request from a school or worksite or employees at a school or worksite. This procedure has not been approved by the District and the District did not participate in formulating this procedure. The procedure is an internal union matter and is governed by the Federation's regulations and bylaws.
- For the union to approve a waiver request, 75 percent of the Federation membership at the school or site must agree with the request (not 75 percent of those actually voting). The Federation representative at the affected school or site shall conduct a vote of the membership. Requests for a waiver, with verification that 75 percent of the site membership has approved the request, shall be sent to the President of the Federation. The Federation will review the waiver request and then advise the District, in writing, of its decision.
- Process for APS Approval of a Waiver
 Waiver requests are reviewed by District administration, the site(s), or department(s) affected by the request. The guiding criteria are the "best interests" of students and staff. This procedure is an internal District process. This procedure has not been approved by the Federation and the

Federation did not participate in formulating this procedure. The procedure is an internal District matter and is governed by the District's policies and procedures.

To request a waiver form, contact the ATF Office at act@atfunion.org.

APPENDIX M - ALBUQUERQUE TEACHERS FEDERATION MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION

To join ATF, complete the membership application form and return it through interschool mail to the ATF office. You may also join on the ATF website or download a membership application form at: www.atfunion.org.

ALBUQUERQUE TEACHERS FEDERATION

| | MEMBERSHIP APP | LICATION 2022-2023 | 3 |
|---|---|---|---|
| | | | |
| LAST NAME | FIRST NAM | ME | MIDDLE INITIAL |
| | | | |
| ADDRESS | | | TELEPHONE |
| | | | |
| CITY | STATE | ZIP CODE | PERSONAL EMAIL |
| | | | |
| CURRENT SCHOOL/SITE AS | SSIGNMENT | | APS EMPLOYEE ID# |
| JOB DESCRIPTION (TEACH | HER, LIBRARIAN, COUNSELOR, E | ETC.) | DATE OF BIRTH |
| ARE Y | OU REGISTERED TO VOTE? | YESNO_ | |
| I hereby authorize APS to deduct fror representing Federation membership of Albuquerque Teachers Federation and this authorized deduction except to ac | dues in the amount certified to the Al remit to the ATF. APS Board assume | PS Board, in writing, by the nes no responsibility in connection with | Dues: Salary Step 1 or a |
| SIGN TO JOIN AND AUTHORIZE P | 'AYROLL DEDUCTION OF DUES | DATE | contract less than .5 |
| Such revocation may be requested of employment. b. Within ten days of the | during the ten days following the ar he receipt of notice of revocation of notice to the District. c. The revocat | of authorization for the payroll deducti ation for the payroll deduction of due: | Dues: Salary Step 2 or on |
| | | | \$32.16 Full Dues: Salary Step 3 & above for full-time employees |
| NOTE: By vote of the 2015 AFT NM Convention, a Fund which can be used for political purposes. This is a AFT NM Organizing Fund. Neither designation incr | voluntary designation, and you may opt-out at any tir | onth or \$.50 per pay period) is now allocated to the AF time by notifying ATF in writing. In opting out, your \$1 | AFT NM COPE (Committee on Political Education) \$1.00 per month will be allocated to the non-political |
| ATF COMMIT | ITEE ON POLITICAL EDUCATION (| (ATF-COPE) | VOLUNTARY COPE CONTRIBUTION |
| | , | um prepay period and forward that | |

| ATF COMMITTEE ON POLITICAL EDUCATION (ATF-COPE) | VOLUNTARY COPE CONTRIBUTION |
|---|--------------------------------|
| I hereby authorize APS to deduct from my salary the designated sum prepay period and forward that | |

| amount to the Albuquerque Teachers Federation Committee on Political Education (COPE). | Contribute the following amount each pay period, in |
|---|---|
| This authorization is signed freely and voluntarily and without fear of reprisal, and I will not be | addition to membership dues: |
| favored or disadvantaged because I exercise this right. I understand this money will be used by ATF- COPE to make political contributions. | \$3.00 |
| | \$5.00 |
| This voluntary authorization may be revoked at any time by notifying the Albuquerque Teachers | |
| Federation Committee on Political Education (COPE) in writing of my desire to do so. Contributions or gifts to ATF-COPE are not deductible as charitable contributions for Federal Income Tax purposes. | \$10.00 |
| | Other: \$ |
| SIGN TO JOIN AND AUTHORIZE PAYROLL DEDUCTION FOR COPE DATE | |
| | |
| | |

ATF 530 Jefferson Street NE 87108 | 505-262-2657 | Email: <u>act@atfunion.org</u> | Website: atfunion.org | 2022 - 2023